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 What we do     
 Workspace provides 
business premises tailored to  
the needs of new and growing 
companies across London. 

 How we do it      
 Workspace is dynamic, 
understands and adapts to the 
changing needs of these companies 
and aims to be the best in class.  

 Where we do it 
 Workspace owns over 
100 properties in London providing 
5.4 million square feet of space and 
is home to some 4,000 businesses 
employing over 30,000 people.

our business  
modeL



 How we generate value
 Workspace, through its 
market knowledge, operational 
capability and customer 
relationships, can grow. 

Workspace can enhance both  
core operational income and 
capital values by repositioning 
specific property assets.

Workspace provides the right 
properties to attract its customers 
and the right services to retain 
them and help them grow.
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 a growing 
 business 
 our talented  
team and focused approach have 
produced a robust set of results  
clearly showing Workspace to be  
a resilient and relevant business  
in today’s market.
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 a growing 
 business 
 our talented  
team and focused approach have 
produced a robust set of results  
clearly showing Workspace to be  
a resilient and relevant business  
in today’s market.
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This is my first annual review as Chairman of Workspace 
and I am delighted to have joined at a time of such exciting 
opportunities for our Company and for London. I am 
pleased to report that we are delivering a strong 
operational and financial performance.

These results demonstrate the benefits of the Company’s 
focus on driving occupancy and improvement in rental 
values at our properties and at the same time delivering 
value-added opportunities through change of use and 
redevelopment. All the metrics have improved over the  
last year.

We have achieved good revenue growth and trading profit. 
Group net rental income was £45m, an underlying increase 
of 4%, trading profit after interest (adjusted) was £16m, an 
increase of 13% and EPRA NAV per share was £3.08, an 
increase of 8%.

In addition to this, we refinanced £125m of our debt and 
raised £63m (net) through a Rights Issue. This provides 
Workspace with additional financial resources to accelerate 
the refurbishment programme across our existing portfolio 
and to take advantage of attractively priced property 
acquisition opportunities. During the year we completed 
three acquisitions through our joint venture with BlackRock. 

Given the Company’s performance and prospects the 
Board intends to recommend the payment of a final 
dividend of 5.86p (a total of 8.79p for the year) to be paid 
on 3 August 2012, an increase of 10% on the prior year.  
This is consistent with our progressive dividend policy.

In 2011, Harry Platt indicated that he wished to retire from 
his position as Chief Executive and in February 2012 it was 
announced that Jamie Hopkins would assume the role from 
1 April 2012. I would like to take this opportunity, on behalf 
of the Board, to wish Harry an enjoyable retirement and to 
thank him for his excellent leadership of Workspace over 
the last 20 years. 

I would also like to welcome Jamie to his new role where  
he is already having an impact on our operations. Jamie  
has extensive experience and knowledge of the property 
industry and the leadership of various companies. The 
Board and I are confident that his energy and drive will  
be of huge benefit to Workspace stakeholders and staff.

We continue to focus on Board succession planning, 
monitoring its composition and Committees against  
our skills and experience. We expect to appoint new  
non-executive directors over the next year, and in this 
regard I was delighted to announce last month the 
appointment to the Board of Maria Moloney.

London is our market and remains our focus. Workspace 
has a clear strategy and a strong business model which 
enables us to capture the benefits of the London market 
whilst providing operational resilience when market 
conditions are more difficult. 

More broadly, the UK continues to depend on the small 
business sector to promote economic growth and the  
team at Workspace is playing a part in promoting that 
growth whilst delivering good returns to our shareholders. 
Undoubtedly, the economic prospects remain stronger  
in London than for most of the UK and indeed parts of 
Europe and we intend to support and capture that growth. 

I am pleased to report that our Company takes its 
responsibility to the local communities, as well as the 
broader environment, in which it operates very seriously. 
We have a strong focus on health and safety and energy 
sustainability, and our membership of the FTSE4Good 
index is an example of this commitment. We are working 
hard to do the right things for our customers, employees, 
communities and the environment.

Finally, on behalf of the Board I would like to extend our 
gratitude to all Workspace employees for delivering this 
year’s strong financial performance. We have a strong  
team that is committed to driving our business forward.

danieL kitcHen
Chairman

 overview
 London is our 
market and remains our focus.

cHairman’s  
statement
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Despite a tough environment throughout the year, 
Workspace has reported a solid set of results in all of its 
operations, reflecting a strategy that continues to be 
effective in growing core operational income and the 
capital value of our assets.

We benefit naturally from having our business in London, 
focusing all our energies on the new and growing 
companies that are at the heart of the capital’s economy, 
providing them with the investment in relevant buildings, 
improvements and services that they need. Understanding 
what helps them to be successful lies at the core of what 
we do and has led to our own growth.

During the last year new customer enquiries, lettings and 
rent all increased helping to drive up profits and allowing  
us to increase the dividend. But beyond this we saw the 
underlying valuation of our assets improve as the effects of 
our attention to building improvements and developments 
have filtered through.

We also grew our portfolio, making use of our joint venture 
with BlackRock and the proceeds from our recent Rights 
Issue to acquire, reposition and redevelop properties with 
great potential.

All of this paints a picture of a business with a clear 
understanding of its customers and environment and one 
that is investing in a long-term strategy that is producing 
results for all of its stakeholders. This year’s earnings are  
a fundamental endorsement of that approach.

As the recently-appointed Chief Executive I will be focused 
on ensuring that this trajectory is maintained. We are 
absolutely on the right course but we remain fully aware  
of the changeable external environment. Workspace is a 
company with an ability to grow further and faster, with a 
strong management team and a talent pool of expertise 
that can move quickly on the opportunities we see. 

I have already met many of our stakeholders and there  
are a number of recurring questions about how I see the 
Company and what will characterise my leadership.

Q – HoW do You see Workspace’s strateGY  
and WHat cHanGes WiLL You be makinG to it?
Our strategy is the right one – we own properties our 
customers like and we manage them intensively to drive 
value. We reposition and redevelop buildings to improve 
rental streams and asset values. We ensure we keep our 
understanding of customers current, and that we do  

the right thing and limit our environmental impact. So, no 
change to the strategy, just a renewal of our energy and 
focus to drive it.

Q – WHat cHaLLenGes do You see and WHere  
are tHe risks?
Like any business, we face a multitude of challenges  
and risks – operational, environmental, economic and 
reputational. We take time to analyse and understand them 
and put in place processes and plans to mitigate them.  
As long as we stay relevant to our customers and intensely 
focused on our activities, we should be in good shape to 
address every challenge. 

Q – do You HaVe tHe riGHt team to GroW  
tHe business?
We have an immensely experienced group of leaders and 
talented individuals throughout the Company, all of whom 
understand our properties and customers. Everyone is very 
focused: whether it is bringing our core competencies in 
customer service and letting into play, tightly controlling 
costs or visualising a new project, the team’s capabilities  
are unmatched.

Q – HoW do You VieW Your Wider sociaL  
and enVironmentaL responsibiLities?
Improving the social and environmental impact of the 
Company are core responsibilities and part of what we  
do every day. Having safe and sustainable operations  
makes sense for us, our customers and our local 
communities. We are all proud of what we already do  
to limit carbon emissions and waste and as we grow our 
footprint we will always act responsibly, doing the right 
thing by any measure possible.

Q – WHat are Your priorities for 2012/13?
We have the right strategy and the right team, so from  
my perspective I will be making sure that we align our 
resources not only with today’s business but also with the 
many opportunities and new initiatives that we and our 
customers will generate. I want to keep us energised and 
alive to potential areas of growth; acting quickly and with 
purpose to exploit them. By doing that we will ensure that 
operating income continues to grow and that our assets 
grow in value. Already we are working on some very 
exciting new initiatives.  

Jamie Hopkins 
Chief Executive Officer

 Q&a
 a strategy to  
grow further and faster.

cHief executiVe’s  
statement
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oWninG tHe riGHt properties 
tHat are taiLored to our 
customers’ needs and 
intensiVeLY manaGinG  
tHese properties to driVe 
occupancY and rents.

–  Like-for-like properties have seen 
both occupancy and rents improve 
over the year.

–   Occupancy growth has been 
particularly strong in the first half  
of the year.

–  The majority of our properties are 
now at or above 90% occupancy, 
the level at which we can effectively 
increase pricing.  

–   A number of our business centres 
have achieved their highest rents 
ever this year.

 –  enquiries up 5% on the prior year.
 
–   Like-for-like occupancy improved 

in the year by 1.7% to 87.8%.
 
–   Like-for-like rent roll up 5% and  

rent per sq. ft. up 3% in the year.

owning properties that are tailored 
to our customers’ needs
–  Complete refurbishment of 

Canalot Studios.
–  Commence a further six 

refurbishment schemes.

Demand for our accommodation 
declining as a result of social, 
economic or competitive factors. 

Value of our properties declining  
as a result of macroeconomic 
environment, external market, or 
internal management factors. 

Failure to meet customer space  
and service expectations.

maximisinG tHe VaLue of  
our London based propertY 
portfoLio and its Wider 
opportunities for 
repositioninG and 
redeVeLopment. 

–  Two refurbishment schemes 
underway in the year, Canalot 
Studios in Kensington and 
Whitechapel Technology Centre.

–   Chester House refurbishment at 
Kennington Park completed and is 
now 70% occupied.

–    Six schemes have been progressing 
through detailed design and are 
due to commence on site in  
mid-2012.

–    Planning consents granted for 
refurbishment at 14 properties. 

–   Mixed use redevelopment schemes 
underway at Wandsworth and 
Highbury Grove.

–   Two mixed used schemes with 
planning consent being marketed 
to redevelopment partners.

–    Four mixed use redevelopment 
schemes being progressed  
through planning. 

–   property valuation up 5% in  
the year. 

–  total property return 13.4% 
compared to 6.4% for the  
ipd universe. 

repositioning and redevelopment
–  Appoint developers for the mixed 

use redevelopment schemes at 
Grand Union in Kensington  
and Bow.

–  Progress planning consent for 
mixed use schemes at a further 
four sites.

–  Drive value from continued 
occupancy and rent roll growth.

Adverse planning rulings.

Construction cost and timing overrun.

Downturn in demand for residential 
development land.

understandinG our 
customers and enHancinG 
our brand bY respondinG  
to tHeir needs. 

–   Club Workspace business lounges 
launched at two locations. 

–   Collaboration agreement signed 
with Excell Communications to 
provide IT and comms services  
to customers. 

–  Inspiresme.co.uk entrepreneur 
website launched with support 
events held at various properties. 

–  250 club Workspace subscribers 
with 2 sites opened in year.

–  46 social networking events 
attended by over 2,000 
entrepreneurs.

enhancing our brand (responding  
to customers’ needs)
–  Roll out the Club Workspace 

format at four additional centres.
–  Continue the roll out of our ‘Digital 

Programme’ meeting the needs of 
our digital business customers.

–  Develop Inspiresme as a valued 
platform for advice and support 
to new and growing businesses. 

Changes in the political, infrastructure 
and environmental dynamics of 
London.

Failure to meet customer service 
expectations.

WorkinG sustainabiLitY as 
part of eVerYdaY business 
for us, our customers and 
our partners. 

–   Refurbishment completed at 
Chester House originally built  
in 1916. 

–   Refurbishment of Canalot Studios  
in Kensington underway. 

–  Progress made on a number of 
schemes that will result in 
intensification of use and increased 
employment. 

–  £300,000 of Landfill costs 
avoided. 

–  annual customer satisfaction  
score 84%.

 

sustainable Working
–  Continue support of charities 

which promote entrepreneurship.
–  Working with customers to lower 

our carbon footprint.
–  Ensure that our development 

activities conform with the highest 
environmental and sustainability 
regulations and best practice.

Failure to meet regulatory 
environmental requirements.  

Introduction of new requirements 
that inhibit our activities.

strateGic  
priorities

proGress 
in 2011/12

our  
strateGY driving  

performance.
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performance  
in 2011/12

priorities  
for 2012/13

keY  
risks
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income

– underlying

Net rental 
income

– disposals

BlackRock
joint venture

income

Administrative
expenses

Net 
finance 

costs

Trading profit
after interest
(adjusted)

0.000000

45.299999
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GeneratinG  
VaLue

 understanding  
 work space
the following case studies 
demonstrate how we are 
able to enhance both core 
operational income and 
capital values as well as 
provide our customers 
with properties and 
services that help their 
businesses grow.
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redeVeLopment
HIGHBURY GROVE,
ISLINGTON, N5
paGe 20 

 
corporate  
sociaL responsibiLitY
CHESTER HOUSE, 
KENNINGTON PARK, SW9 
paGe 18 
 

understandinG  
our customers 
CLUB WORKSPACE, 
THE LEATHERMARKET, SE1 
paGe 14 
 

GatWick 
airport

HeatHroW 
airport citY  

airport

stansted 
airport

oLYmpic  
park

repositioninG 
ExMOUTH HOUSE, 
CLERKENWELL, EC1 
paGe 16 

pLanninG Gain 
GREENHEATH 
BUSINESS CENTRE, 
BETHNAL GREEN, E2 
paGe 22 

acQuisition  
CHANDELIER BUILDING, 
WILLESDEN, NW10 
paGe 24 
 

driVinG rentaL GroWtH
PARKHALL BUSINESS CENTRE, 
DULWICH, SE21 
paGe 12

11

Review of opeRations 01-38 
Governance 39-69
Financial statements 70-103
shareholder inFormation 104



GeneratinG  
VaLue 
continued
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WHat We did
Our market knowledge allows us to 
adapt and refurbish our buildings  
in response to demand. Combining  
this with our marketing, letting and 
asset management skills, we are 
repositioning the Parkhall Trading 
Estate in Dulwich into a modern 
business centre.

HoW it created VaLue
By creating community space, 
upgrading our on site facilities 
including a cafe, and subdividing in 
response to the strong demand for 
small units we have grown rents  
from £7.50 per square feet to over 
£20 over the last year. 

Our in-house lettings team negotiate 
in the full knowledge of occupancy, 
enquiries and viewings, and use this 
to drive our pricing. 

parkHaLL business centre, 
duLWicH, se21

driVinG rentaL 
GroWtH 

Rental income  
increase 

Capital value  
increase
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GeneratinG  
VaLue 
continued
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WHat We did
Listening to our customers helps  
us provide the services we know  
they need: from high capacity, 
dependable secure internet 
connections and business 
information resources, to drop-in 
space and social interaction with 
other entrepreneurs.

In response, we provide superior  
and resilient telecoms services  
across our portfolio and have 
introduced Club Workspace 
‘touchdown lounges’ for those  
not requiring permanent space.  
We have also launched  
Inspiresme.co.uk as a business 
information resource providing  
a competitive advantage for 
customers. Our regular social 
networking events in our centres  
are providing opportunities for  
ideas generation and business 
referrals.

HoW it created VaLue
Building closer links to customers 
through enhanced services and 
platforms such as these has helped 
to improve our revenue streams  
while attracting new fast-growing 
companies in the creative and  
TMT sectors. Our social networking 
activities have helped to connect 
people, resulting in a high level of 
inter-trading between our customers. 
We are truly helping them to grow 
faster, with a beneficial impact on  
the growth of our pricing.

Revenue increase

Brand enhanced

cLub Workspace, 
tHe LeatHermarket, se1

understandinG  
our customers
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GeneratinG  
VaLue 
continued
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WHat We did
To ensure that Exmouth House is  
fully aligned with the future needs  
of our growing customer base, we 
have obtained planning consent  
for an additional floor. As part of  
the consent, we will create a new 
entrance atrium and refurbish the 
whole property.

HoW it created VaLue
By repositioning the building in this 
manner we anticipate a significant 
increase in rental income.

exmoutH House,
cLerkenWeLL, ec1

repositioninG

Rental income 
increase 
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GeneratinG  
VaLue 
continued

18

Workspace Group PLC  
Annual Report and Accounts 2012



WHat We did
In refurbishing Chester House  
from an existing light industrial 
building into a new business centre, 
we put energy conservation as a top 
priority. As a result, the building 
features strong carbon management 
and enables us to work closely  
with our customers to improve 
recycling rates.

HoW it created VaLue
We have reduced both our energy 
costs and carbon dioxide emissions, 
while reducing the amount of waste 
sent to landfill to zero. For this we 
have been awarded a BREEAM  
‘very good’ rating and expect to 
perform well against the CRC  
energy efficiency targets.

An independent study on the 
lifecycle carbon emissions of  
this “recycled” building  
demonstrated that our strategy  
of reusing the existing fabric is 
producing a significantly smaller 
carbon “footprint” than a new  
construction would.

cHester House,
kenninGton park, sW9

corporate 
sociaL 
responsibiLitY

energy savings

Brand enhanced
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GeneratinG  
VaLue 
continued

Main image: 
Artist impression

WHat We did
Having obtained planning consent  
for 72 apartments and a new 
business centre on a tired studio  
and light industrial site in Islington, 
we partnered with Taylor Wimpey 
who will develop the scheme. 
Workspace will retain full ownership 
of the newly developed fully-fitted 
business centre which has been 
designed to meet the demands of 
our customers.

HoW it created VaLue
For no capital outlay, we will have  
a new state-of-the-art facility, 
generating far higher rental streams 
than the existing buildings together 
with cash and an overage on sale  
of the apartments. 

This is the second in a series of  
similar schemes we have planned 
over the next three years.

Rental income
increase

Capital value  
increase

HiGHburY GroVe 
isLinGton, n5

redeVeLopment
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GeneratinG  
VaLue 
continued
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WHat We did
This commercial building had a large 
and underutilised car park. Working 
with the local authority we received 
consent to build 73 apartments.  
We then sold the site to Peabody.

HoW it created VaLue
We realised significant cash with 
marginal loss of income.

We have realised £13m from this  
and similar sales during the year. 

Capital value 
increase

GreenHeatH business 
centre, betHnaL Green, e2 

pLanninG Gain
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GeneratinG  
VaLue 
continued

WHat We did
Through our partnership with 
BlackRock, we acquired this high 
potential building in north-west 
London. At the time, the property 
was 78% occupied. By dividing up 
vacant space into accommodation 
that is now more suitable, and 
actively marketing this to a broader 
range of customers, we have driven 
occupancy up to 90%.

HoW it created VaLue
Growing the occupancy has 
increased rent roll and increased  
the asset value. Further minor 
refurbishment is planned.

The BlackRock Workspace Property 
Trust was set up to acquire £100m  
of property, of which £60m has  
been invested. We continue to seek 
properties where we can significantly 
improve occupancy and income.

Rental income 
increase

Capital value  
increase

cHandeLier buiLdinG,
WiLLesden, nW10

acQuisition
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 2012 review
 Our aim is to 
be the preferred choice 
for new and growing 
businesses looking for 
space in London. 
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Our aim is to be the preferred choice for new and growing 
businesses looking for space in London. We have continued 
to attract strong levels of demand with enquiry levels up  
5% on the prior year to an average of 1,009 per month,  
and new lettings running at an average of 82 per month.

Quarter Ended 
Average number
per month

March 
2012

Dec 
2011

Sept 
2011

June 
2011

Enquiries 1,231 892 1,000 911
Lettings 84 78 88 77

Good levels of enquiries and lettings have continued during 
the first two months of the current financial year to the end 
of May 2012.

The like-for-like property portfolio, which excludes 
properties impacted by refurbishment or redevelopment, 
has seen both occupancy and rents improve over the year.

Like-for-Like
properties

31 March  
2012

30 September 
2011

31 March  
2011

Occupancy 87.8% 87.7% 86.1%
Rent roll £44.5m £43.8m £42.5m
Rent per sq. ft. £12.61 £12.38 £12.20

Like-for-like occupancy growth was stronger in the first  
half of the year while pricing increases were more dominant 
in the second half. This reflects the increasing number of 
properties that are now at or above 90% occupancy, the 
level at which we can typically push pricing on both new 
lettings and lease renewals. At March 2012, 42 of the 77 
properties in the like-for-like category were at or above  
this 90% occupancy level (March 2011: 37 properties).

Overall occupancy improved to 85.3% at March 2012 (March 
2011: 83.6%) and cash rent roll increased to £50.2m (March 
2011: £48.9m). The contracted rent roll is £2.5m higher than 
the cash rent roll at £52.7m at March 2012. This relates 
primarily to stepped rent increases and rent free periods. 

The improving levels of occupancy and rent roll have 
translated into a good growth in income and trading profit 
in the year.

£m
31 March

2012 
31 March

2011

Net rental income - underlying 44.6 42.9
Net rental income - disposals 0.2 3.0
BlackRock joint venture income 0.5 0.1
Administrative expenses (10.2) (9.7)
Net finance costs (19.1) (22.1)
Trading Profit after Interest 
(adjusted) 16.0 14.2

Trading perfOrmance

enquiries and LeTTings
Average number per month

EnquiriesLettings

0.00000

83.99998

Quarter to
June
2011

Quarter to
September

2011

Quarter to
December

2011

Quarter to
March 
2012

0

1231
1,000

892

1,231

77

911

84
78

88

Trading prOfiT afTer inTeresT
£m

Like-fOr-Like Occupancy & renT rOLL

Net rental 
income –

underlying

Net rental 
income –
disposals

BlackRock
joint venture

income

Administrative
expenses

Net 
finance 
costs

Trading profit 
after interest 

(adjusted)

0.000000

45.299999

(19.1)

16.0

44.6 0.2 0.5 (10.2)

Occupancy (%)Rent Roll (£m)

35

47

70

90

42.5
43.3 43.8 43.9 44.5

Mar
2011

Jun
2011

Sep
2011

Dec
2011

Mar
2012

86.1 86.8 87.7 87.6 87.8
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business review
continued

Underlying net rental income is up 4% (£1.7m) in the year. 
The growth in income at like-for-like properties of 5% 
(£1.9m) and new income from completed refurbishments 
has been offset by the income attrition at properties 
currently being refurbished and redeveloped, as 
summarised below:

£m
Like-for-like income growth 1.9
Income uplift at completed refurbishments 0.2
Income lost at sites being refurbished (0.1)
Income lost at sites being redeveloped (0.3)
Net rental income increase – underlying 1.7

BlackRock joint venture (JV) income represents our 20.1% 
share of income from the 8 properties we sold to the  
JV in February 2011, together with the income from the  
3 properties acquired by the JV during the second half  
of the financial year.

Administrative expenses are up 5% (£0.5m) primarily  
due to inflationary cost and salary increases and higher 
bonus levels.

Net finance costs fell by £3.0m with net bank debt reducing 
over the year from £367m to £314m as a result of the 
Rights Issue in July 2011, together with a reduction in the 
average interest cost to 5.1% from 5.3% in the previous year.

Trading profit after interest (adjusted to include the rental 
income from our BlackRock JV) is up 13% to £16.0m in the 
year, benefiting from the growth in rental income and 
reduced interest cost. Based on this trading performance, 
we are proposing a 10% increase in the dividend for the 
year. The total cash cost of the dividend is £12.6m up 33% 
on the prior year due to the 25% increase in issued share 
capital following the Rights Issue. This total dividend is 
covered 1.3 times by trading profit after interest (adjusted).

£m
31 March

2012 
31 March

2011

Trading Profit after Interest 
(adjusted) 16.0 14.2
Property Valuation Gain 35.6 30.8
Mark to Market – Interest Hedging (4.6) 5.3
Other Items 1.5 2.5
Profit before Tax 48.5 52.8

Reported profit before tax has fallen by £4.3m in the year 
to £48.5m. The growth in trading profit and an increase of 
£4.8m in the property valuation surplus has been offset by 
an adverse movement of £9.9m in the mark to market value 
of our interest rate hedges. These hedges are structured to 
give stability to the interest cost over the medium-term to 
June 2015. The mark to market valuation represents the 
potential cost to the Company if these hedging contracts 
were cancelled, we intend however to hold these to 
maturity with the cost expensed as part of our reported 
interest cost over the period to June 2015.  

vaLuaTiOn
At 31 March 2012 the wholly owned portfolio was 
independently valued by CBRE at £760m. The underlying 
valuation of our property portfolio increased by 3.0% 
(£21m) in the second half and 5.1% (£37m) over the year, 
excluding the impact of capital expenditure and disposals. 
The valuation movements are set out in detail below:

£m
Valuation at 31 March 2011 719
Property Disposals (13)
Capital expenditure 18
Revaluation surpluses:
6 Months to September 2011 16
6 Months to March 2012 21
Other (1)
Valuation at 31 March 2012 760
 

The Group delivered a total property return over the year  
of 13.4% compared to 6.4% for the IPD Universe benchmark. 
This outperformance was driven by our efforts in driving 
rental income growth and capturing the redevelopment 
and alternative use potential at a number of our properties. 
There was no benefit from movement in valuation yields.

The valuation includes £94m (2011: £79m) of added value  
in relation to redevelopment potential for additional 
commercial space or other uses such as residential or 
student housing. The status of the properties where our 
valuers have included this added value are detailed below:

vaLuaTiOn aT 31 march 2012
£m

31 March
2011

Property
disposals

Capital
expenditure/

Other

Revaluation
surplus 

6m to Sep 11

Revaluation
surplus 

6m to Mar 12

31 March
2012

500

760
21 760

719 (13) 17
16

Planning application in progress  (No of properties)

7

15

3

added vaLue

Planning application  
in progress 
 
Planning consent  
obtained

Redevelopment  
in progress
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TabLe 1: 
prOperTy vaLuaTiOn

At 31 March 2012
No. of  

Properties
Existing  

Value
Added  

Value
Total 

Value
Valuation  

Surplus

Net  
Initial  
Yield

Equivalent 
Yield

Like-for-like Properties 77 £569m £15m £584m 3.5% 7.2% 8.3%
Refurbishments 7 £64m £14m £78m 2.9% 4.8% 8.1%
Redevelopments 8 £33m £65m £98m 15.7% 10.0% 10.4%
Total 92 £666m £94m £760m 5.2% 7.1% 8.4%

No. of  
Properties

Added  
Value

Planning application in 
progress 7 £17m
Planning consent obtained 15 £37m
Redevelopment in progress 3 £40m
Total Added Value  £94m

A more detailed analysis of the property valuation is set out 
in Table 1.

The total net initial yield of the portfolio as reported by  
our valuers CBRE is 7.1% compared to 6.8% at March 2011 
with no movement in the reported equivalent yield over  
the year, steady at 8.4%.

Total Estimated Rental Value (ERV) of the portfolio at 
March 2012 is £65.4m compared to cash rent roll £50.2m. 
ERV of the like-for-like portfolio is up 3.5% over the year  
to £52.9m (cash rent roll £44.5m). Capital value per sq. ft.  
is £152, up from £137 at March 2011.

During the year we realised £13m from the disposal of 
various low income producing (£0.3m) tracts of land, 
comprising:

–  car park at Ewer Street on the Southbank for  
student housing for £3.9m;

–  small industrial estate near London Bridge for a  
26 unit residential development for £1.7m;

–  the Group’s former head office and adjacent car park  
at Whitechapel for student housing for £3.9m; and

–  car park at Greenheath Business Centre for a 76 unit 
residential development for £3.5m.

In April 2012 we established a 50:50 joint venture 
partnership with Polar Group for the potential 
redevelopment of Enterprise House, Hayes. This is a 
130,000 sq. ft. Grade II listed office building, formerly part 
of the EMI head office complex, well located adjacent to  
the proposed Hayes and Harlington Crossrail station. We 
sold this property into the joint venture at a valuation of 
£3.2m (a £0.9m valuation uplift from its value at March 
2011). We will act as property manager while our partner 
will progress the planning for a mixed use redevelopment.

neT asseTs
EPRA net asset value per share at 31 March 2012 was  
£3.08 (2011: £2.86), an increase of 8% in the year with  
the main movements in net asset value per share 
highlighted below: 

EPRA NAV per share £
At 31 March 2011 (restated) 2.86
Property valuation surplus 0.25
Dividends paid in year (0.07)
Other 0.04
At 31 March 2012 3.08

The increase in net asset value was driven by the increase  
in the property valuation offset by dividends paid to 
shareholders in the year. 

epra neT asseT vaLue per share
£

31 March
2011

OtherDividends
paid in year

Property
valuation
surplus

31 March
2012

0.00

3.210.04 3.08
2.86

0.25
(0.07)
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business review
continued

refurbishmenT acTiviTy 
In line with the plans set out at the time of our Rights  
Issue last year we are now accelerating our refurbishment 
programme. In June 2011, we completed the first phase 
refurbishment of 28,000 sq. ft. at Chester House, 
Kennington (£4m) and we are on schedule to complete  
by September 2012 the:

–  50,000 sq. ft. refurbishment and two storey roof 
extension at Canalot Studios (£5m); and

–  9,000 sq. ft. extension to Whitechapel Technology 
Centre (£2m).

We intend to commence on site at a further six properties 
over the next three months as detailed in Table 2. Given  
the current environment we will closely monitor our 
commitments at every stage of these projects.

We have a further nine schemes, which includes the  
second phases at Leyton and Westminster, representing 
374,000 sq. ft. of space with planning consent that we  
can progress during 2014 and 2015.

redeveLOpmenT acTiviTy
Our properties are in areas across London where there  
is strong demand for mixed use redevelopment. These 
schemes generally require demolition of an existing  
building to deliver new residential and commercial space. 

Our business model on these schemes is to obtain the 
mixed use planning consent and then partner a residential 
developer to undertake the construction of both the 
residential and commercial buildings at no cost to 
Workspace. We receive back a new upgraded commercial 
building together with a combination of cash and overage 
on the residential component. 

We have obtained planning consent on four of these mixed 
use schemes for 983 residential units and 219,000 sq. ft. of 
commercial space with redevelopment underway on two 
and the remaining two in solicitors’ hands with potential 
redevelopment partners. Summary details are set out  
in Table 3.

A further four schemes are being progressed through 
planning. The most significant is at Tower Bridge where 
seven acres of the site has been re-designated for 
residential use and we hope to submit a planning 
application for 800 residential units shortly. 

financing
The Group continues to generate strong operating cash 
flow in line with trading profits. We are not seeing any 
noticeable signs of distress across our customer base with 
bad debts in the year at £0.4m (2011: £0.2m) and cash 
collection statistics strong.

TabLe 2: 
refurbishmenT acTiviTy

Estimated
Cost

Expected  
Completion

Upgraded  
Area (sq. ft.)

New Area  
(sq. ft.)

Estimated 
ERV (psf)

Great Guildford Street, SE1 £14m Q3 2014 82,000 20,000 £28
Greenheath, E2 £10m Q3 2013 44,000 – £22
Exmouth House, EC1R £4m Q3 2013 52,000 5,000 £28
Leyton Industrial Village  
(Phase I), E10 £3m Q3 2013 – 25,000 £12
Chester House (Phase II), SW9 £2m Q2 2013 – 9,000 £30
Westminster (Phase I), SE11 £2m Q2 2013 – 6,000 £30
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Net bank debt has reduced by £53m in the year to £314m 
at March 2012, which includes £24m of cash on deposit.  
A summary of the movements in cash flow are set  
out below.  

£m
Trading
Net cash from operations 17

6Dividends paid (11)
Rights Issue Proceeds (net) 63

Other Property Related
Capital expenditure (19)
BlackRock investment (5) (11)
Disposals 13
Other (5)

Net reduction in bank debt 53
Net bank debt at 31 March 2011 (367)
 
Net bank debt at 31 March 2012 (314)

The Group has £393m of committed bank facilities with  
an average period to maturity of 3.2 years and earliest 
maturity in December 2014. We have a good spread of 
lenders with a total of eight banks providing our facilities 
with no individual bank providing more than £62.5m.  
 
Details of our facilities are set out below:

Committed 
Facilities

Drawn 
Amount Term

Margin Over 
 LIBOR

RBS/HSBC £125m £70m Jun 2015 2.50%/2.75%
Bayern Club £200m £200m Jun 2015 2.25%
Lloyds Club £68m £68m Dec 2014 1.25%

£393m £338m

We have £55m of available facilities and £24m in cash 
deposits. Overall loan to value of our debt is 41% down  
from 50% at March 2011 and we have good headroom on  
all of our bank covenants.

Our interest rate hedging is structured to maintain a stable 
interest rate over the medium term. We currently have 
£260m of fixed rate hedges representing 77% (2011: 74%)  
of our drawn debt facilities at an average rate of 3.5%  
(2011: 3.8%).

bLackrOck wOrkspace prOperTy TrusT 
(bLackrOck Jv)
We have a 20.1% interest in this JV for which we also act as 
property manager receiving management and performance 
fees. It was initially seeded with eight properties that we 
sold to the JV in February 2011 for £35m. Three acquisitions 
have been completed during the year for £21m and 
subsequent to the year-end we have exchanged on a 
property on City Road, EC1 for £7.3m with completion set 
for 20 June 2012. We expect the JV to have fully invested 
the £100m of equity committed by BlackRock and 
Workspace by August 2012. 

dividend
The Board has proposed a final dividend of 5.86 pence  
per share, (2011: 5.33 pence as restated for the Rights Issue 
in July 2011 and the share consolidation in August 2011) 
which will be paid on 3 August 2012 to shareholders on  
the register at 13 July 2012. 50% of this dividend will be  
paid as a Property Income Distribution (PID) in respect  
of the Group’s tax exempt property rental business, with 
the balance as a normal dividend (non-PID). 
 

TabLe 3: 
redeveLOpmenT acTiviTy

Redevelopment  
Partner

Expected  
Completion

Commercial 
Area (sq. ft.)

Estimated 
ERV (psf)

Other 
Proceeds

Wandsworth, SW18 Mount Anvil Q2 2014 53,000 £22 Overage
Highbury Grove, N5 Taylor Wimpey Q1 2014 61,000 £22 Cash/Overage
Grand Union, W10 In negotiation 2014 60,000 £22 –
Bow Enterprise, E3 In negotiation 2017 45,000 £12 –
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business review
continued

principaL business risks 

Risk management is an integral part of our activities and 
day to day running of the business. Risks are assessed, 
discussed and taken into account when deciding upon 
future strategy, approving transactions and monitoring 
performance. The process of identifying risks, assessing 
their impact and monitoring their likelihood is considered  
at two levels:

1.  strategic risks: 
These are identified, assessed and managed by  
the Main Board and Audit Committee.  
 

2.  Operational risks: 
These are identified, assessed and managed by 
Executive Committee Directors.  

This segregation ensures that risks related to our strategy 
and major decisions are considered at Main Board level  
and that our level of risk appetite remains appropriate.  
Day to day operational risks are more closely reviewed and 
managed by the Executive team and senior management, 
with linkage between the two managed as appropriate. 

Risk registers are maintained by the Main Board for 
strategic risks and by the Executive Committee for 
operational risks. The absolute levels of risk, the net levels  
of risk taking into account mitigating controls and the 
appropriate level of risk appetite are reviewed regularly. 
High rated risks identified in the registers are regularly 
reviewed by the Board, Audit and Executive Committees. 

Details of our principal strategic risks and the mitigating 
activities in place to reduce these risks are set out below. 
There have been no significant changes to the risk profile 
over the last year and the Board are satisfied that we 
continue to operate within our risk appetite.

risk area: 
finance risk  
 
deTaiL: 
Reduced availability and cost of bank financing resulting 
in inability to meet business plans or satisfy liabilities.

risk area: 
vaLuaTiOn risk 
 
deTaiL: 
Value of our properties declining as a result of 
macroeconomic environment, external market, or internal 
management factors.

risk area: 
Occupancy risk 
 
deTaiL: 
Demand by businesses for our accommodation declining 
as a result of social, economic or competitive factors.

risk area: 
deveLOpmenT risk 
 
deTaiL: 
Impact to underlying income and capital performance  
due to: 
− Adverse planning rulings.
− Construction cost and timing overrun.
− Lack of demand for developments.

risk area: 
LOndOn 
 
deTaiL: 
Changes in the political, infrastructure and environmental 
dynamics of London lead to reduced demand for space 
from businesses.

sTraTegic risks
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no changeMitigating activities: 
Funding requirements for business plans are reviewed regularly and  
options for alternative sources of funding monitored. 

Range of banking relationships maintained, refinancing strategy  
reviewed regularly.

Interest rate hedging policy in place to minimise exposure to short-term  
rate fluctuations.

Mitigating activities: 
Investment market mood monitoring.

Market yields and pricing of property transactions monitored closely  
across the London market.

Alternative use opportunities pursued across the portfolio and planning  
consent progressed.

Sufficient headroom on Loan to Value banking covenants is maintained  
and reviewed.

Mitigating activities: 
Weekly monitoring of occupancy levels, pricing and reasons for customers 
vacating at each property and exit interviews conducted.

On-site staff maintain regular contact with customers and local monitoring  
of competitors offering space.

Extensive marketing using the ‘Workspace’ brand.
 
Flexibility offered on deals by dedicated in-house marketing and letting teams.

Mitigating activities: 
Understanding of planning environment and use of appropriate advisers.

Detailed development analysis and appraisal undertaken, sensitivity and risk 
scenarios considered. 

Board level discussion and approval prior to project commitment.

Contract structuring to reduce/eliminate build risk.

Construction project teams meet regularly, discuss issues and resolve or  
escalate as appropriate.

Management of development phasing to match demand. Deferral to retain 
properties for existing rental use.

Mitigating activities: 
Regular monitoring of the London economy, research reports and the 
commissioning of research.

Regular meetings with the GLA and London Boroughs.

change frOm 2011/12 

no change

increased

no change

no change

no change
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business review
continued

risk area: 
invesTmenT risk 
 
deTaiL: 
Underperformance due to inappropriate strategy of:
− Timing of disposal decisions.
− Acquisitions timing.
− Non achievement of expected returns.

risk area: 
TransacTiOnaL risk 
 
deTaiL: 
Joint ventures or other ventures with third parties do not 
deliver the expected return.

risk area: 
reguLaTOry risk
 
deTaiL: 
Failure to meet regulatory requirements leading to fines  
or penalties or the introduction of new requirements that 
inhibit activity.

risk area: 
business inTerrupTiOn risk 
 
deTaiL: 
Major external events result in Workspace being unable  
to carry out its business for a sustained period.

risk area: 
repuTaTiOnaL risk 
 
deTaiL: 
Failure to meet customer and external stakeholder 
expectations.

sTraTegic risksprincipaL business risks
continued
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no change

change frOm 2011/12 

no change

no change

no change

no change

no change

Mitigating activities: 
Regular monitoring of asset performance and positioning of portfolio.

Acquisition due diligence appraisal and business plans analysis.

Regular monitoring of acquisition performance against target returns.

Mitigating activities: 
Review and monitoring of potential joint ventures before agreed. 

Requirements for business plans are reviewed regularly. 

Regular review of performance of joint ventures throughout term.

Mitigating activities: 
REIT conditions monitored and tested on a regular basis and reported 
to the Board.

Close working relationship maintained with appropriate authorities  
and all relevant issues openly disclosed.

Advisers engaged to support best practice operation.

Mitigating activities: 
Monitor security threat/target information.

Business Continuity plans and procedures in place and regularly tested. 

Mitigating activities: 
Customer survey undertaken and results acted upon.

Training and mystery shopper initiatives undertaken.

Regular communication with stakeholders.
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business review
continued

cOrpOraTe sOciaL respOnsibiLiTy

cOrpOraTe sOciaL respOnsibiLiTy is creaTing 
vaLue fOr wOrkspace grOup 
Corporate Social Responsibility is fully integrated into  
our business activities. We believe our Corporate Social 
Responsibility strategy drives occupancy by delivering cost 
savings for our properties and rents by helping to create a 
more attractive business environment for our customers.

Each year, we set targets, focused on increasing occupation 
and strengthening key stakeholder relationships. In 2011/12, 
we fully achieved eight targets and partially achieved two, 
highlights are shown below. Looking ahead, we will 
continue to focus on improving performance in our four 
priority areas (carbon management, waste management, 
customer satisfaction and community investment). We will 
seek to effectively communicate our strategy and actions in 
order to: 

−  Engage our customers in delivering energy and  
waste efficiencies.

−  Strengthen relationships with customers, investors  
and employees.

−  Enhance our brand as a responsible landlord for  
small and medium enterprises.

Jones Lang LaSalle has assessed our targets and key 
performance indicators and has carried out a review  
of our performance over the year. 

key priOriTy perfOrmance in 2011/12 kpis  2012/13 iniTiaTives

cOmmuniTy invesTmenT
we engage with customers and local communities 
enabling employment, education and entrepreneurship.

Our E3 community strategy is bringing together 
entrepreneurship, education and employment, working  
with a range of charities and businesses. The strategy is  
in full flow, having achieved good successes alongside our 
community partners, The Greater London Authority, 
London South Bank University and the Cricket Foundation.

 Total value of community investment, £138,650.

  Fifty young people provided with Work Inspirations  
during Global Entrepreneurial Week.

Fully achieved 12 of 17 community performance targets  
with three in progress for delivery in 2012/13.

continue delivery of workspace’s e3  
community strategy.

continue club workspace start up and  
entrepreneurial events.

knowledge transfer partnership with London  
south bank university.

20 work inspiration placements.

workspace urban 20 cricket sponsorship, a  
vocational skills outreach for 200 school children. 

carbOn managemenT
we understand our energy use and identify 
improvements, so that we reduce costs and carbon  
dioxide emissions, and perform well in the crc  
energy efficiency scheme. 
 

We installed real-time energy monitoring at 12 high 
consumption sites, audited energy efficiency opportunities 
at six sites and have a full-time energy management 
executive. We completed a whole life carbon analysis of the 
Workspace Group ‘recycling buildings’ model.

  Real time energy consumption live at 12 sites, representing 
CO2 emissions of 9,000, approximately half of Workspace 
Group’s total CO2 emissions.

 7% of properties have had an energy audit.

reduce carbon emissions (cO2) by 10% compared  
to 2011, across the 12 assets with digital energy 
monitoring (adjusted for occupancy). 

reduce carbon emissions (cO2) by 5% compared  
to 2011, across the whole portfolio (adjusted  
for occupancy). 

wasTe managemenT
we work to improve our recycling rates and send  
zero waste to landfill, so that we cut landfill tax costs. 

We have negotiated a new waste management contract 
including customer education and recycling targets. 
Recycling bins and waste management strategy is now 
provided to customers at all centres. 

 
 Landfill cost avoided – £300,000.

Waste diverted from landfill through recycling/waste  
to energy – 5,600 tonnes.

 41% recycling rate, plus 43% waste to energy,  
84% diverted from landfill.

achieve a recycling rate average across all centres  
of 55%, and achieve zero waste to landfill by  
October 2013.

cusTOmer saTisfacTiOn
we aim to meet our customers’ needs and help them 
improve their corporate social responsibility, so that  
we retain our customers and maximise rental income.

Customer satisfaction and loyalty are key to the 
sustainability of our income stream; we target a customer 
experience score of 80% on our annual survey. 

 Average customer experience score in annual  
customer survey 84%.

 Zero Health & Safety RIDDORs for customers. 

actively integrate corporate social responsibility  
into workspace’s communication strategy. 
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indusTry iniTiaTives 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

recycLing buiLdings saves carbOn emissiOns
Workspace commissioned the whole lifecycle carbon 
analysis by Jones Lang LaSalle to determine whether our 
business model of recycling older buildings is inherently 
more carbon efficient than continually demolishing and 
rebuilding office space in London: 
 
Over a 60-year lifespan, Workspace Group’s recent 
refurbishment of Chester House delivers:

–  25% lower emissions than a new build central  
London benchmark building.

–  Saving over 9,500 tonnes of CO2.
–   12% lower emissions than a new build regional  

benchmark building.
–  Saving more than 4,000 tonnes of CO2.
 

key priOriTy perfOrmance in 2011/12 kpis  2012/13 iniTiaTives

cOmmuniTy invesTmenT
we engage with customers and local communities 
enabling employment, education and entrepreneurship.

Our E3 community strategy is bringing together 
entrepreneurship, education and employment, working  
with a range of charities and businesses. The strategy is  
in full flow, having achieved good successes alongside our 
community partners, The Greater London Authority, 
London South Bank University and the Cricket Foundation.

 Total value of community investment, £138,650.

  Fifty young people provided with Work Inspirations  
during Global Entrepreneurial Week.

Fully achieved 12 of 17 community performance targets  
with three in progress for delivery in 2012/13.

continue delivery of workspace’s e3  
community strategy.

continue club workspace start up and  
entrepreneurial events.

knowledge transfer partnership with London  
south bank university.

20 work inspiration placements.

workspace urban 20 cricket sponsorship, a  
vocational skills outreach for 200 school children. 

carbOn managemenT
we understand our energy use and identify 
improvements, so that we reduce costs and carbon  
dioxide emissions, and perform well in the crc  
energy efficiency scheme. 
 

We installed real-time energy monitoring at 12 high 
consumption sites, audited energy efficiency opportunities 
at six sites and have a full-time energy management 
executive. We completed a whole life carbon analysis of the 
Workspace Group ‘recycling buildings’ model.

  Real time energy consumption live at 12 sites, representing 
CO2 emissions of 9,000, approximately half of Workspace 
Group’s total CO2 emissions.

 7% of properties have had an energy audit.

reduce carbon emissions (cO2) by 10% compared  
to 2011, across the 12 assets with digital energy 
monitoring (adjusted for occupancy). 

reduce carbon emissions (cO2) by 5% compared  
to 2011, across the whole portfolio (adjusted  
for occupancy). 

wasTe managemenT
we work to improve our recycling rates and send  
zero waste to landfill, so that we cut landfill tax costs. 

We have negotiated a new waste management contract 
including customer education and recycling targets. 
Recycling bins and waste management strategy is now 
provided to customers at all centres. 

 
 Landfill cost avoided – £300,000.

Waste diverted from landfill through recycling/waste  
to energy – 5,600 tonnes.

 41% recycling rate, plus 43% waste to energy,  
84% diverted from landfill.

achieve a recycling rate average across all centres  
of 55%, and achieve zero waste to landfill by  
October 2013.

cusTOmer saTisfacTiOn
we aim to meet our customers’ needs and help them 
improve their corporate social responsibility, so that  
we retain our customers and maximise rental income.

Customer satisfaction and loyalty are key to the 
sustainability of our income stream; we target a customer 
experience score of 80% on our annual survey. 

 Average customer experience score in annual  
customer survey 84%.

 Zero Health & Safety RIDDORs for customers. 

actively integrate corporate social responsibility  
into workspace’s communication strategy. 
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     Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter 
     ending ending ending ending ending
     31 March  31 December  30 September 30 June  31 March 
      2012 2011 2011 2011 2011

Workspace Group Portfolio
Property valuation    £760m £750m £733m £727m £719m
Number of estates     92 94 94 95 96
Lettable floorspace (million sq. ft.)†   5.0 5.0 5.1 5.1 5.1
Number of lettable units    4,668 4,781 4,899 4,885 4,856
ERV    £65.4m £64.9m £65.2m £62.8m £61.4m
Cash rent roll of occupied units     £50.2m £49.8m £50.0m £49.6m £48.9m
Average rent per sq. ft.    £11.79 £11.58 £11.52 £11.63 £11.47
Overall occupancy     85.3% 85.6% 85.2% 84.0% 83.6%
Like-for-like lettable floor space (million sq. ft.)  4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Like-for-like cash rent roll    £44.5m £43.9m £43.8m £43.3m £42.5m
Like-for-like average rent per sq. ft.   £12.61 £12.48 £12.38 £12.41 £12.20
Like-for-like occupancy    87.8% 87.6% 87.7% 86.8% 86.1%
     

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust     
Property Valuation    £62m £47m £36m £36m £35m
Number of estates     11 10 8 8 8
Lettable floorspace (million sq. ft.)†   0.4 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3
ERV    £5.5m £4.7m £3.6m £3.5m £3.4m
Cash rent roll of occupied units    £4.7m £3.8m £2.9m £3.0m £3.1m
Average rent per sq. ft.    £11.82 £10.66 £10.20 £10.58 £10.57
Overall occupancy     89.8% 88.7% 87.3% 87.9% 92.1%

† Excludes storage space

key prOperTy sTaTisTics
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5.

The Board &  
execuTive commiTTee

The Board

1. daniel KiTchen
Appointment: Non-Executive 
Chairman

commiTTee memBerships: 
Chairman of the Nominations 
Committee and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee.

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Daniel Kitchen was appointed to  
the Board on 6 June 2011 and 
subsequently took on the role as 
Chairman at the Annual General 
Meeting on 28 July 2011. He was 
previously Deputy Chief Executive at 
Heron International plc and prior to 
that was Finance Director at Green 
Property for eight years. He retired  
as Non-Executive Chairman of Irish 
Nationwide Building Society in  
July 2011 and as Non-Executive 
Director of Kingspan Group PLC  
in May 2012.

currenT exTernal 
appoinTmenTs: 
He is currently Non-Executive 
Chairman of Key Capital Real Estate 
Ltd and a Non-Executive Director of 
LXB Retail Properties PLC and Irish 
Takeover Panel Limited.

2. Jamie hopKins
Appointment: Chief Executive  

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Jamie Hopkins was appointed to the 
Board as a Non-Executive Director  
in June 2010 then subsequently took 
on the role as Chief Executive on 
1 April 2012. He was previously Chief 
Executive and a Non-Executive 
Director of Mapeley PLC and a Director 
of Chester Properties. Prior to that, 
Jamie was a Director of Delancey 
Estates and Savills. 

currenT exTernal 
appoinTmenTs: 
Jamie is a Member of the Corporate 
Board of Great Ormond Street 
Hospital Children’s Charity.

3. graham clemeTT Bsc aca
Appointment: Group Finance Director

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Graham Clemett joined the Board  
as Finance Director in July 2007. 
Previously he was Finance Director for 
UK Corporate Banking at RBS Group 
PLC where he worked for a period of 
five years. Prior to that, Graham spent 
eight years at Reuters Group PLC, 
latterly as Group Financial Controller. 

4. maria moloney phd,  
B.leg.sci,  d.univ, m.phil (law)
Appointment: Non-Executive Director 

commiTTee memBerships: 
Member of the Audit, Remuneration 
and Nominations Committees

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Maria Maloney was appointed to the 
Board in May 2012. She was previously 
on the Board of the Belfast Harbour 
Commissioners, the Industrial 
Development Board and Northern 
Ireland Transport Holdings. She also 
served on the UK’s Independent 
Television Commission in London  
and on the Board of the University  
of Ulster Foundation.

currenT exTernal 
appoinTmenTs: 
Maria, a lawyer, is currently a 
Non-Executive Director of the 
Broadcasting Authority of Ireland  
in Dublin and a Trustee of the  
N. Ireland Cancer Centre in Belfast.

1. 2. 4.3.
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6. Bernard cragg Bsc aca
Appointment: Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director

commiTTee memBerships: 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committees. 

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Bernard Cragg was appointed to the 
Board in June 2003. He was previously 
Chairman of Datamonitor PLC and 
i-mate PLC, and a non-executive 
director of Bristol & West PLC. He  
was formerly Group Finance Director 
and Chief Financial Officer of  
Carlton Communications PLC and a 
non-executive director of Arcadia PLC. 

currenT exTernal 
appoinTmenTs: 
He is a non-executive director of  
Astro Overseas Limited and Astro 
Malaysia Holdings SDN BHD and  
the Senior Independent Director of 
Mothercare PLC and Progressive 
Digital Media PLC. 

7. carmelina carfora fcis
Appointment: Company Secretary

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Carmelina Carfora was appointed 
Company Secretary in March 2010.  
She was previously Group Company 
Secretary of Electrocomponents Plc. 
She has also worked in the 
construction industry and for a 
consultancy firm offering company 
secretarial services.

5. John BywaTer frics
Appointment: Non-Executive Director

commiTTee memBerships: 
Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the  
Audit and Nominations Committees. 

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
John Bywater was appointed to the 
Board in June 2004. He was previously 
an Executive Director of Hammerson 
PLC and retired in March 2007. 

currenT exTernal 
appoinTmenTs: 
He is Managing Director of Caddick 
Developments Ltd, a Non-Executive 
Director of British Waterways and 
Realis Estates, a private property 
company; a Non-Executive of  
Low Carbon Workspace Limited  
and a Trustee of Opera North. 

execuTive commiTTee

8. angus Boag msc ceng mice
Appointment: Development Director

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Angus Boag joined the Group in  
June 2007 as Development Director. 
Prior to joining the Group he was  
at Manhattan Loft Corporation for 
12 years joining as Development 
Director and then being appointed  
as Managing Director in 2001. 

9. chris pieroni Ba (hons)  
msc (econ) phd (canTaB) acsi
Appointment: Operations Director

BacKground and relevanT 
experience:
Chris Pieroni joined the Group as 
Operations Director in October  
2007. Chris is responsible for asset 
management, marketing, lettings,  
and professional services. Prior to 
joining Workspace, he worked at 
KPMG specialising in real estate  
and infrastructure finance. He began 
his professional career teaching 
economics at Cambridge University. 
Chris was a Non-Executive Director  
of the Group from 2000 until his 
retirement from the Board in  
August 2006.

7. 8.6. 9.
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reporT of The  
direcTors

The Directors present their report on the affairs of the 
Group together with the audited financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2012. The Business Review and  
all other sections of the annual report, to which cross 
reference is made, are incorporated into the Report of  
the Directors by reference.

principal acTiviTy and Business review
The Group is engaged in property investment in the form  
of letting of business accommodation to small and medium 
sized enterprises located in and around London. At  
31 March 2012 the Company had 11 active subsidiaries, six  
of which are property investment companies owning 
properties in Greater London. The other five companies 
include: Workspace Management Limited which acts as 
manager for all the Group’s property investment companies 
and the BlackRock Workspace Property Trust; LI Property 
Services Limited which procures insurance on behalf of the 
Group; and Anyspacedirect.co.uk Limited which operates a 
web-based service for businesses in search of commercial 
space to rent in the UK. Workspace Holdings Limited and 
Workspace Glebe Limited are intermediate holding 
companies. A full list of the Company’s trading subsidiaries 
appears on page 98.

Significant events which occurred during the year are 
detailed in the Chairman’s Statement on page 4, the Chief 
Executive’s Statement on page 6 and the Business Review 
on pages 26 to 31.

Business review and fuTure developmenTs
The Business Review requires a detailed review of the 
business of the Group, the development and performance 
of the Company during the year and at the year end and of 
its strategy and prospects, including an analysis using key 
performance indicators.

This information, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company,  
details of the Company’s health and safety policies and  
its environmental and corporate responsibility activities  
can be found on pages 1 to 38 and page 44.

carmelina carfora
Company Secretary

corporaTe governance
The Company and the Group are committed to high 
standards of corporate governance, details of which are 
given in the Chairman’s Governance Statement and 
Corporate Governance Report on pages 45 to 56 and in  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 68.

profiT and dividends
The Group’s profit after tax for the year attributable to 
shareholders amounted to £49.0m (2011: £53.5m). 

The interim dividend of 2.93p (2011: 2.66p restated for  
the Rights Issue and share consolidation) was paid in 
February 2012 and the Board is proposing to recommend 
the payment of the final dividend of 5.86p (2011: 5.33p 
restated) per share to be paid on 3 August 2012 to 
shareholders whose names are on the Register of Members 
at the close of business on 13 July 2012. This makes a  
total dividend of 8.79p (2011: 7.99p restated) for the year.

going concern
The Group’s activities, strategy and performance are 
explained in the Chief Executive’s Statement and Our 
Strategy on pages 6 to 9 and the Business Review on 
pages 26 to 31.

Further detail on the financial performance and financial 
position of the Group is provided in the financial statements 
on pages 71 to 98.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company 
have adequate resources and sufficient headroom on the 
Group’s bank loan facilities to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the 
Directors believe that it is appropriate to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s accounts.

land and Buildings
The Group’s fixed assets include investment properties of 
£759.3m (2011: £713.4m) and owner occupied property of 
£nil (2011: £3.9m). The Group’s investment properties have 
been independently valued by CBRE Limited, Chartered 
Surveyors, at 31 March 2012 at open market value.

direcTors
With the exception of Mr Kitchen and Dr Moloney who 
were appointed as Directors on 6 June 2011 and 22 May 
2012 respectively and Mr Hales who retired as Chairman on 
28 July 2011, the Directors of the Company all held office 
throughout the year. The current Directors are shown on 
pages 40 and 41.

Mr Platt retired from the Board on 31 March 2012 and Mr 
Hopkins was appointed as Chief Executive on 1 April 2012.

All the Directors will retire at the Annual General Meeting 
and, being eligible, will offer themselves up for re-election. 
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direcTors’ indemniTies
As permitted under the Companies Act 2006 and the 
Company’s Articles of Association, the Company has 
executed a Deed Poll under which it will indemnify its 
Directors, subject to certain limitations and as permitted  
by law, for liabilities incurred in connection with their 
appointment as a Director and in certain circumstances 
fund a Director’s expenditure on defending criminal or civil 
proceedings brought against the Director in connection 
with his position as a Director of the Company or of any 
Group Company.

The indemnity provision was in force during the year and  
at the date of approval of the financial statements.

direcTors’ conflicT of inTeresT
No Director had, during the year, any beneficial interest in 
any contract significant to the Company’s business, other 
than a contract of employment.

Details of the Directors’ shareholdings and options over 
shares are provided on pages 66 to 68.

The Company has procedures in place for managing 
conflicts of interest. Should a Director become aware that 
they, or their connected parties, have an interest in an 
existing or proposed transaction with Workspace Group 
PLC, they are required to notify the Board in writing or at 
the next Board Meeting.

employmenT policies
The Group values highly the commitment of its employees 
and has maintained its practice of communicating business 
developments to them in a variety of formats. The 
Company has a Group intranet, which contains stories of 
interest and success around the Group. Furthermore, the 
Group has implemented a series of Director-led staff 
briefings designed to keep employees well informed of the 
performance and objectives of the Group. These briefings 
are held quarterly and serve as an informal forum for 
employees to ask questions about the Company. 

Employees are appraised regularly. The appraisal process 
has been designed to link closely with the business 
planning process and provides employees with a clear  
set of business and personal objectives.

Share Schemes are a long-established and successful part 
of our total reward package, encouraging and supporting 
employee share ownership. In particular, all employees are 
invited to participate in the Company’s Savings Related 
Share Option Scheme (SAYE).

The Group is committed to an active Equal Opportunities 
Policy from recruitment and selection, through training and 
development, performance reviews and promotion. All 
decisions relating to employment practices are objective, 
free from bias and based solely upon work criteria and 
individual merit. The Company is responsive to the needs  
of its employees, customers and the community at large. 
We are an organisation which uses everyone’s talents and 
abilities, where diversity is valued.

The Group remains supportive of the employment and 
advancement of disabled persons and ensures its 
promotion and recruitment practices are fair and objective. 

share capiTal and conTrol
Full details of share options and awards under the terms  
of the Company’s share incentive plans can be found on 
pages 93 to 96.

Other relevant requirements from the takeover directive  
are included elsewhere in the Report of the Directors, the 
Corporate Governance Report, the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report and the notes to the Group and Company financial 
statements. There are no agreements in place between  
the Group and its employees or Directors for compensation 
for loss of office or employment that occur because of  
a takeover bid.

As at 31 March 2012, the Company’s issued share capital 
comprised of a single class of 144,091,418 ordinary shares  
of £1.00 each. Details of the Company’s issued share capital 
are set out on page 92. 

suBsTanTial shareholdings in The company
As at 31 May 2012, the Company has been notified, in 
accordance with the FSA Disclosure and Transparency 
Rules of the following interests in the voting rights of the 
Company:

Fund Manager
  Number  

of Shares
Percentage  

Held

Mr S N Roditi 38,872,927 26.98%
BlackRock Inc 13,683,995 9.50%
F&C Asset Management Plc 10,177,867 7.06%
Legal & General 
Investment Management 7,681,731 5.33%
Aberforth Partners 6,926,283 4.81%
Columbia Wanger Asset 
Management 6,086,112 4.22%
Invesco Perpetual 5,765,305 4.00%

*  Mr Roditi’s shareholding is held via a number of different trusts and  
legal entities.
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reporT of The  
direcTors
continued

poliTical and chariTaBle conTriBuTions
The Group made no political contributions during the 
year (2011: £nil). Charitable contributions within the UK 
amounted to £43,824 (2011: £85,604) principally 
through rental concessions.

healTh and safeTy
We are committed to health and safety best practice as 
an integral part of our business activities and our drive 
for high performance. The Group’s policy is to provide 
and maintain safe and healthy working conditions, 
equipment and systems of work for all its employees 
and to provide such information, training and 
supervision as they need for this purpose.

Whilst all employees of the Group have a responsibility 
in relation to health and safety matters, certain staff 
have been designated ‘workplace’ responsibilities or 
other co-ordinating responsibilities throughout the 
Group, and ultimately, at Board level, the Chief Executive 
has overall responsibility.

purchasing policies and paymenTs
The Group tries, wherever possible, to procure from 
within its own customer base providing customers are 
competitive on price and quality. The Group’s policy  
is that, unless agreed otherwise at the time of the 
transaction, its own payments to others for goods and 
services received are made on average within a month 
of the date of invoice.

During the year to 31 March 2012 the Group’s average 
payment term from the date of invoice was 33 days 
(2011: 34 days). The Parent Company has made no  
trade purchases.

financial risK managemenT
The financial risk management objectives and policies  
of the Company are set out in note 18 to the financial 
statements and in the Corporate Governance section  
of this report on pages 55 and 56.

disclosure of informaTion To audiTors
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of 
this Report of the Directors confirm that, so far as they 
are each aware there is no relevant information of which 
the Group’s auditors are unaware; and each Director has 
taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as 
Directors to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Group’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

independenT audiTors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’), 
have indicated their willingness to continue in office  
and a resolution that they will be reappointed will be 
included as ordinary business at the Annual General 
Meeting.

annual general meeTing
The 26th Annual General Meeting of the Company will 
be held at Chester House, Kennington Park, 1-3 Brixton 
Road, London SW9 6DE on Thursday 26 July 2012 at 
11.00am. Accompanying this report is the Notice of the 
Annual General Meeting, which sets out the resolutions 
to be considered and approved at the meeting.

By order of the Board

carmelina carfora
Company Secretary
11 June 2012
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chairman’s  
governance sTaTemenT 

The Board of Workspace is committed to maintaining  
a high standard of corporate governance in respect of 
leadership, remuneration matters, accountability, and in  
our relationship with our shareholders as identified by  
the UK Corporate Governance Code. 

We are committed to reporting on our corporate 
governance framework in an open and transparent way.

Board composiTion and succession planning
In order to implement our strategy, the Board will monitor 
and review the succession planning and development 
requirements for key executives and senior managers 
across the Company.

During the year, the Board had the important job of 
identifying and appointing a new Chief Executive to 
succeed Harry Platt, who, after successfully leading the 
Company for 20 years, confirmed his intention to retire in 
2012. This resulted in the appointment of Jamie Hopkins. 
The succession process, which was led by me with the  
full involvement of the Nominations Committee, was critical 
in ensuring that we have the right leadership in place to 
deliver our strategy. 

Following our AGM this year, Bernard Cragg will have 
served as a Board Director for nine years. The Board 
recognises that his tenure will have reached a threshold  
at which, his independence could be called into question.

Considering the radical changes to the Board which  
have occurred over the past year, the Board is mindful  
of ensuring that a certain level of continuity is maintained. 
Indeed, if Bernard were to retire we would have only  
one Non-Executive Director with more than one year’s 
experience of the Company. With this in mind and given  
the importance of the experience and skills required to 
perform the role of Chair of the Audit Committee and 
Senior Independent Director, Bernard will remain as a  
Board Director until the Annual General Meeting in 2014.
 
We continue to review and monitor Board and Board 
Committee composition against our skills and experience 
requirements and so we will be considering potential 
candidates, as Non-Executive Directors to join our Board 
over the next 12 months. 

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code,  
for the first time in 2011, all of the Directors submitted 
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting. 
This practice will continue at the Annual General Meeting  
in 2012.

daniel KiTchen
Chairman

Board and commiTTee performance
The Board agreed last year that we should appoint 
independent consultants to facilitate an external Board 
effectiveness review so that we could consider the way in 
which we carry out our role and conduct ourselves, as well 
as our structure and processes. The process covered the 
Board, its Committees and personal performance and the 
output was reviewed at the April 2012 Board Meeting.

I am pleased to report that the thorough exercise 
conducted by Wickland Westcott, who provide no  
other services to the Group, concluded that the Board 
operated in an efficient and effective manner. Discussion 
within the Board is open, positive and all feel able to 
contribute and that there is an appropriate level of 
challenge in the boardroom. 

As would be expected, a small number of themes arose 
from the evaluation where more focus was recommended 
and these will form the basis of an action plan for 2012. 
Details of the key themes can be found on page 53 of  
the Corporate Governance Report.

diversiTy
The Board recognises the benefits of diversity of skills, 
knowledge and independence, as well as gender diversity. 
As part of the recruitment process, the composition of the 
Board has been kept under review to ensure that the best 
balance of skills and experience is maintained. This was also 
reviewed as part of the external Board evaluation process. 
We will continue to review candidates from a wide range  
of backgrounds to ensure that the best candidates are 
selected, with our foremost priority being to ensure that  
we appoint the most appropriate candidates and maintain 
our merit-based approach to recruitment. At Workspace, 
we have a good record of promoting and appointing 
women to senior positions within the Company. 

Further details of our policy on diversity can be found  
on page 55 of the Corporate Governance Report.

communicaTion wiTh shareholders
Communication with shareholders is given a high priority 
by the Board. 

When the Company announces its annual and half year 
results, the Chief Executive and Executive Directors make 
presentations to institutional investors and analysts and 
hold one to one briefings with key shareholders. The Board 
also receives regular reports from its corporate advisers on 
shareholder meetings. As Chairman, I have also met with a 
number of shareholders since my appointment in July 2011 
in order to encourage an open dialogue on any matters of 
concern to them.

daniel KiTchen
Chairman
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corporaTe governance 
reporT

corporaTe governance principles and 
compliance sTaTemenT
The Board is committed to maintaining high standards  
of corporate governance and we support and apply the 
principles of good governance advocated by the UK 
Corporate Governance Code (the Code). The Board works 
with honesty and integrity which it considers is vital to 
building a sustainable business for all of our stakeholders. 

The Board believes that implementing a robust governance 
and corporate social responsibility framework in which 
appropriate management structures, processes and 
safeguards are adopted and are transparently 
communicated to shareholders is essential in aiding 
sustainable long-term economic performance. 

During the year the Board considered a number of best 
practice provisions which would benefit the Group and as  
a result adopted and implemented certain provisions of the 
Code intended for larger companies such as the annual 

re-election of its Directors and the undertaking of an externally 
facilitated evaluation of the Board and its Committees. 

compliance wiTh The uK corporaTe  
governance code
It is the Board’s view that the Group has been fully 
compliant with the Code throughout the year ended  
31 March 2012. The application of the principles contained in 
the Code is described below. Detailed reports on Directors’ 
remuneration and the Audit Committee can be found on 
pages 57 to 68 and pages 51 and 52.
 
corporaTe governance sTrucTure
The Board is responsible to shareholders for the strategic 
direction of the Group and the stewardship of its activities.

The Board has a number of standing committees to which 
specific responsibilities have been delegated and for which 
written terms of reference have been agreed. 

The Board
–  Establish the core values and standards which are implemented by Workspace’s governance framework and operational activities.

–  Set Workspace’s business strategy and business objectives in order to create long-term value for shareholders.

–  Ensure that the necessary resources are available to fulfil Workspace’s strategic objectives.

–  Review and monitor performance against its business objectives and consider any associated risk factors which may adversely impact the business at large.

senior  
managemenT
-  Assist the Executive 

Committee in the 
running of day-to-day 
operations in line with 
Group strategy.

-  Review and track  
major initiatives.

-  Attend regular  
meetings with the 
Executive Committee  
to review performance 
and operational activity.

corporaTe governance sTrucTure

execuTive  
commiTTee
–  Address Group-wide issues and initiatives. 

–  Review and approve capital expenditure, disposals 
and certain acquisitions within established levels  
of authority.

–  Monitor the operating and financial results against 
plans and budgets.

–  Review the effectiveness of risk management and 
control procedures.

ciTy  
commiTTee
-  Review the quarterly, 

interim and annual  
reports and associated 
announcements prior  
to their review by the 
Audit Committee and 
the Board.

nominaTions  
commiTTee
-  Assess what new  

skills, knowledge  
and experience are 
required on the Board.

-  Recommend to the 
Board candidates for 
appointment as 
Executive and 
Non-Executive  
Directors (‘NEDs’)  
of the Group.

-  Considers succession 
policies and talent 
management.

remuneraTion 
commiTTee
-  Oversee all aspects  

of remuneration for 
Executive Directors.

-  Recommend 
Chairman’s 
remuneration.

-  Consider remuneration 
policy and practices of 
the workforce.

audiT  
commiTTee
-  Ensure the integrity  

of financial reporting 
and audit processes.

-  Ensure maintenance  
of a sound internal 
control and risk 
management system.

-  Review and monitor  
the external auditors 
independence, 
objectivity and 
effectiveness of  
audit process.

-  Establish and 
implement policy on 
non-audit services.

invesTmenT 
commiTTee
-  Approve any  

acquisition or disposal 
of investment property 
assets.

-  Review and monitor 
integration plans for 
acquisitions.

-  Approve and monitor 
development contracts.

-  Approve and monitor 
asset management 
property improvements. 

-  Make recommendations 
to the Board for its 
approval of any 
business initiative  
with a value of more 
than £2m.

finance 

-  Produce the interim  
and annual financial 
reports and associated 
announcements.

-  Establish and monitor 
financial processes of 
control and cash 
management.

exTernal 
recruiTmenT
-  Advise and assist the 

Committee in the 
search for appropriate 
candidates. 

-  Advise and assist  
the Nominations 
Committee in  
increasing the 
effectiveness of the 
Board and ensure that 
diversity continues to 
be a major factor in 
profiling candidates.

advisors 

-  Advise on all 
aspects of executive 
remuneration and 
aspects associated  
with the LTIP.

-  Advise on 
administration and the 
tax treatment of share 
option schemes and 
deferred share awards.

exTernal  
audiTor
-  Audit and express  

an opinion on the 
financial statements  
in accordance with 
applicable law  
and International 
Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland).
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The Board
The Board has collective responsibility to the Group’s 
shareholders and is accountable to them for creating 
long-term value and safeguarding their interests by 
establishing a robust governance framework which  
is applied to all aspects of its business.

The Board is collectively responsible for the performance  
of the Group. The Board discusses and agrees strategic 
plans and reviews budgets, business plans and business 
performance.

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved  
for its approval. The Board has ultimate responsibility for 
the Group’s: 

–  overall business and financial strategy;
–  overall management of its operations;
–  risk management;
–  major investment proposals;
–  significant capital projects; and 
–  disposals and acquisitions of more than £2m. 

Other day-to-day operational decisions are delegated  
by the Board to the Executive Committee.

The Chairman promotes open discussion among the Board 
members and encourages the NEDs to constructively 
challenge strategic and other business related debate in 
order to ensure that the decisions adopted by the Board 
have been vigorously tested.

To assist the Board in effectively discharging its duties, 
Directors receive relevant supporting information, which 
include but is not limited to the Group’s financial results, 
performance reports and risk assessment reports. The 
governance framework implemented by the Group ensures 

that open communication channels exist between the Board, 
its principal committees and from within the organisation. 
Copies of committee minutes are distributed to all Directors. 
Furthermore, the Board routinely considers environmental, 
ethical and reputational issues in order to ensure that  
they are fully reflected in the risk management process.

Key acTiviTies during The year
During the past financial year, the Board has met for 
scheduled Board meetings 11 times. Key matters reserved 
for the Board include:

–  reviewing performance and implementation of the 
strategy by the Executive Committee;

–  setting and monitoring of strategy, including the 
dividend policy;

–  reviewing the Group’s property valuation;
–  considering additional financial resources for the 

purpose of accelerating the redevelopment programme 
across the Group’s property portfolio;

–  approval of redevelopment activity;
–  quarterly, half year and annual reporting to shareholders;
–  review of the Group’s risk and related controls;
–  Board appointments; and
–  corporate governance matters and external Board 

evaluation.

BacKground and experience of The Board 
The Board currently has six Directors that bring 
considerable and diverse experience which enables  
them to make a valuable contribution to the Group. 

The following table illustrates the collective business 
experience held by Board Directors, outside that acquired 
at Workspace Group PLC: 

Industry
Experience

Number of Directors2012 AGM

31 March 2012

Other

Media

Retail

Finance

Property, 
Real Estate and 
Infrastructure

0 1 2 3 4

indusTry experience of The Board
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The Board is actively considering diversity and believes this 
to be an important factor when considering appointments 
to the Board. As part of the recruitment process, the 
composition of the Board will be kept under review to ensure 
the best balance of skills and experience is maintained. Further 
details on our diversity policy can be found on page 55.

Biographical details of the Directors at the date of this 
report are set out on pages 40 and 41.

Board sTrucTure and composiTion
The Board has undergone a number of changes in its 
membership during the year. At our 2011 AGM, Tony Hales 
retired from the Board and was replaced by Daniel Kitchen 
who was appointed to the Board to assume the role of 
Non-Executive Chairman. 

As was announced in 2011, Harry Platt had indicated his 
desire to retire in 2012. At that time, the Board delegated  
its authority to the Nominations Committee to prepare for 
an orderly succession and undertake a formal process to 
indentify a suitable successor. Further details of the process 
are provided in the Nominations Committee section.

After considering a number of internal and external 
candidates, the Board unanimously agreed that Jamie 
Hopkins had the required skills and experience to lead the 
Group going forward. Harry Platt retired as CEO and 
stepped down from the Board on 31 March 2012 and Jamie 
Hopkins was appointed his successor on 1 April 2012. 

Harry Platt has been retained by the Group in an advisory 
capacity for a three month period ending 30 June 2012 to 
ensure an orderly and effective handover to Jamie Hopkins.

Dr Maria Moloney was appointed as a Non-Executive 
Director on 22 May 2012 and she brings extensive 
knowledge and experience within marketing, business 
development and law.

During the year, the Board of Directors comprised:

Position
Directors  

(1 April 2011)
Directors  

(1 April 2012)
Directors  

(2012 AGM)

Non-Executive 
Chairman

Tony  
Hales

Daniel 
Kitchen

Daniel 
Kitchen

 
Chief 
Executive

Harry  
Platt

Jamie 
Hopkins

Jamie 
Hopkins

 
Finance 
Director

Graham 
Clemett

Graham 
Clemett

Graham 
Clemett

 
Senior 
Independent 
Non-Executive 
Director

Bernard 
Cragg

Bernard 
Cragg

Bernard 
Cragg

 
Independent 
Non-Executive 
Director

John 
Bywater

John 
Bywater

John 
Bywater

 
Independent 
Non-Executive 

Jamie 
Hopkins –

 Maria 
Moloney

Notes:
–  Tony Hales (former Non-Executive Chairman) retired from the Board on  

28 July 2011.
–  Harry Platt retired from the Board on 31 March 2012.
–  Jamie Hopkins assumed the role of CEO on 1 April 2012.
–  Daniel Kitchen joined the Board on 6 June 2011 and was appointed 

Chairman on 28 July 2011.
–  Maria Moloney was appointed a Non-Executive Director on 22 May 2012.

The Nominations Committee is considering the 
appointment of additional Non-Executive Directors and 
details of this can be found in the Nominations Committee 
section. 

Board aTTendance
The Board normally meets at regular intervals during the 
year. Supplementary meetings are also held as and when 
necessary. 

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the attendance of 
Directors at board meetings was as follows: 

Scheduled 
Board Meetings

Director 
Attendance

Daniel Kitchen3 11 6
Tony Hales1 11 7
Harry Platt2 11 11
Graham Clemett  11 11
Bernard Cragg 11 11
John Bywater 11 11
Jamie Hopkins 11 10
Notes:
1.  Tony Hales (former Non-Executive Chairman) retired from the Board  

on 28 July 2011. His attendance is based on the number of meetings held 
in which he was eligible to attend prior to his retirement.

2.  Harry Platt retired from the Board on 31 March 2012. 
3.  Daniel Kitchen was appointed to the Board on 6 June 2011. Since his 

appointment Mr Kitchen has attended all Board meetings that he was 
eligible to attend.

During the year, the Board held an annual strategy meeting 
at which it considered the future strategy of the Group. 

Balance of The Board
The Board considers there to be an appropriate balance 
between Executive and Non-Executive Directors required 
to lead the business and safeguarding the interest of 
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Board comprised 
of six directors including a Non-Executive Chairman, two 
Executive Directors and three independent Non-Executive 
Directors. The Non-Executive Chairman was considered by 
the Board to be independent upon his appointment. Jamie 
Hopkins became an Executive Director on 12 March 2012.

Due to Jamie Hopkins succeeding Harry Platt as CEO, the 
Board temporarily comprised five members, three of which, 
including the Chairman, are considered independent.

corporaTe governance 
reporT
continued
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For the purpose of compliance with the Code during the 
2011/12 reporting year, the Board comprised a majority  
of independent Non-Executive Directors, excluding the 
Chairman. Despite the temporary decrease in the number 
of Non-Executive Directors following Jamie Hopkins’ 
appointment as CEO, the Board continues to fulfil the 
Code’s requirement for companies of Workspace’s size. 

On 22 May 2012 Maria Moloney was appointed to the Board 
to re-establish a majority of Non-Executive Directors on  
the Board.

The following illustrates the balance of Non-Executive 
Directors to Executive Directors, excluding the Chairman, 
on the Board during past year:

independence of non-execuTive direcTors
Following the 2012 AGM, Bernard Cragg will have served  
as a Board Director for nine years. The Board recognises  
that his tenure will have reached a threshold at which  
his independence could be called into question by some 
shareholders under the criteria set by the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.

The Board has considered the independence of all of  
the Non-Executive Directors, and in particular that of 
Bernard Cragg during the board effectiveness review 
conducted during the year. The review concluded that  
the Non-Executive Directors, including Bernard Cragg, act  
in a robustly independent manner and bring constructive 
challenge to board discussions and independent 
decision-making to their Board and Committee duties.

The Board believes that no long-standing relationship 
which may be deemed to compromise independence  
has been formed with any of the Executive Directors or 
senior executives at Workspace. Furthermore following  
the retirement of Harry Platt earlier in the year, the 
longest-standing professional relationship between  
Bernard Cragg and any existing Executive Directors is  
no more than five years.

The Board accepts that some shareholders take a robust 
view of independence, in particular the tenure of 
Non-Executive Directors. The Board is committed to 
actively refresh its membership and that of its committees 
in line with its succession planning process which has been 
evident in recent years by the retirement of Mr Hales as 
Non-Executive Chairman and Mr Platt as Chief Executive 

and the appointment of Mr Kitchen as Non-Executive 
Chairman, Dr Moloney as a Non-Executive Director and  
Mr Hopkins as Chief Executive.

Considering the changes to the Board which have occurred 
over the past year, the Board is mindful of ensuring that a 
certain level of continuity is maintained. 

With this in mind and given the importance of the 
experience and skills required to perform the role of Chair 
of the Audit Committee and Senior Independent Director, 
Bernard Cragg will remain as a Board Director until the 
Annual General Meeting in 2014. 

We continue to review and monitor Board and Board 
Committee composition against our skills and experience 
requirements and so we will be considering potential 
candidates, as Non-Executive Directors to join our Board 
over the next 12 months. 

role and responsiBiliTies of direcTors 
chairman, chief execuTive and senior 
independenT direcTor
The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive are separate and the division of responsibilities 
has been clearly established. 

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board, 
ensuring its effectiveness and that it operates in the 
interests of shareholders. The Chairman facilitates the 
effective contribution of the Non-Executive Directors and 
ensures all Directors receive accurate, timely and clear 
information. The Chairman is not involved in an executive 
capacity in any of the Group’s activities. He is also 
responsible for effective communication between the 
Board and shareholders.

During the year the Chairman held a number of meetings 
with the Non-Executive Directors, without the Executive 
Directors. The discussions largely revolved around 
succession planning.

The Chief Executive has direct charge of the Group on a 
day-to-day basis and is accountable to the Board for the 
financial and operational performance of the Group and the 
determination of the strategy and achievement of its 
objectives.

Bernard Cragg, as the Senior Independent Director, is 
responsible for chairing the meeting of the Non-Executive 
Directors for the purpose of evaluating the Chairman’s 
performance and to provide an alternative communication 
channel for shareholders if required.

company secreTary
Carmelina Carfora is the Company Secretary to the Board 
of Workspace. Her biography can be found on page 41. 
Carmelina is responsible for ensuring good information 
flows within the Board and its committees and between 
senior management and Non-Executive Directors. She is 
also responsible for advising the Board, through the 
Chairman on all governance matters.

100

2012 AGM

31 March
2012

0
%

10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Non-Executive Directors Executive Directors

Balance of non-execuTive and execuTive 
direcTors
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Board commiTTees
The Board has a number of standing committees, namely 
the Remuneration, Audit, Nominations, City and Executive 
Committees, to which specific responsibilities have been 
delegated and for which written terms of reference have 
been agreed. The terms of reference for the Remuneration, 
Audit and Nominations Committee are available for 
inspection on the Group’s website. Board members receive 
minutes of meetings of all the Board’s committees and can 
request presentations or reports on areas of interest.

corporaTe governance 
reporT
continued

Number of meetings during the year Scheduled Attended

Daniel Kitchen (Chairman)1 5 4
John Bywater  5 5
Bernard Cragg  5 5
Jamie Hopkins2  5 3
Tony Hales (former Chairman)3 5 1

Notes:
1.  Daniel Kitchen, who was independent upon appointment, was appointed 

as Chairman of the Committee on 28 July 2011. His attendance is based on 
the number of meetings held in which he was eligible to attend following 
him becoming a formal member. 

2.  Jamie Hopkins attended all meetings which he was eligble to attend prior 
to stepping down from the Committee. 

3.  Tony Hales retired from the Board on 28 July 2011. His attendance is based 
on the number of meetings held in which he was eligible to attend prior to 
him retiring from the Board.

daniel KiTchen
Chairman

nominaTions commiTTee

During the year, the Nominations Committee was chaired 
by Daniel Kitchen and comprised all of the Non-Executive 
Directors. The names of the members of the Committee are 
shown in the table above, together with attendance at 
meetings. Jamie Hopkins stepped down as a member of 
the Nominations Committee in November 2011 once he had 
expressed an interest in the role of CEO. 

Maria Moloney has been appointed to the Committee 
increasing the membership to four.

The Committee meets as required and makes proposals on 
the size, structure, composition and appointments to the 
Board. It periodically assesses what new skills, knowledge 
and experience are required and then recommends a 
candidate profile. It carries out the selection process  
and an external search agency is ordinarily used to assist  
in the identification of suitable candidates for Board 
appointments. The Nominations Committee then meets 
and decides which candidates, if any, will be recommended 
to join the Board. 

In the 2011 Annual Report, the Committee reported on the 
process of succession undertaken for the appointment of 
the Chairman.  

During the year, the main task of the Committee was the 
recruitment of a new CEO, as in early 2011, Harry Platt 
announced his desire to retire in 2012. Subsequently, the 
Committee was asked by the Board to prepare for an 
orderly succession and undertake a formal process to 
indentify a suitable successor. 

The Committee appointed Spencer Stuart, an external 
search consultancy, to assist it in identifying a diverse list  
of internal and external candidates qualified for the role. 

The Committee met with a number of candidates and 
following several meetings and discussions, the 
Nominations Committee duly recommended to the Board 
that Jamie Hopkins be appointed as CEO. The Board 
unanimously agreed that Jamie Hopkins had the required 
skills and experience to lead the Group going forward  
and he was formally appointed as CEO with effect from 
1 April 2012. 

As would be expected, the Executive Directors took no  
part in the recruitment process of the new CEO.

In addition, following the vacancy of an NED role due to the 
appointment of Jamie Hopkins as CEO, the Nominations 
Committee duly recommended to the Board that Dr Maria 
Moloney be appointed as a Non-Executive Director.
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Number of meetings during the year Scheduled Attended

John Bywater (Chairman) 9 9
Bernard Cragg 9 9
Daniel Kitchen1 9 1
Jamie Hopkins2 9 7
Tony Hales3 9 3

Notes:
1.  Daniel Kitchen was appointed as a member of the Committee on 

1 February 2012. His attendance is based on the number of meetings  
held in which he was eligible to attend following him becoming a  
formal member. 

2.  Jamie Hopkins stepped down as a member of the Committee in  
March 2012.

3.  Tony Hales retired from the Board on 28 July 2011. His attendance is based 
on the number of meetings held in which he was eligble to attend prior to 
his retirement from the Board. 

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Remuneration 
Committee was chaired by John Bywater and comprises all 
of the Non-Executive Directors. The names of the members 
of the Committee are shown in the table above, together 
with attendance at meetings. Daniel Kitchen, the Group 
Chairman was appointed as a Committee member on  
1 February 2012. Jamie Hopkins stepped down as a formal 
member of the Committee on 1 March 2012. The Committee 
comprises two independent Non-Executive Directors and 
the Board Chairman, who was independent upon 
appointment. 

Maria Moloney has been appointed to the Committee 
increasing the membership to four.

The Chief Executive is, other than discussions in respect  
of his own position, invited to attend and contribute 
towards meetings.

Under its terms of reference the Committee meets at least 
twice a year. During the year under review the Committee 
met nine times. It is responsible for all aspects of the 
remuneration of the Executive Directors. The Committee  
is also responsible for recommending the Chairman’s 
remuneration to the Board in compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code.

Further details of the Remuneration Committee, 
remuneration policy and of the remuneration of each 
Director are set out in the Remuneration Report.

John BywaTer frics
Non-Executive Director

remuneraTion commiTTee

Number of meetings during the year Scheduled Attended

Bernard Cragg (Chairman) 3 3
John Bywater 3 3
Jamie Hopkins1 3 3

Notes:
1.  Jamie Hopkins stepped down as a member of the Committee in  

March 2012. 

The Audit Committee ensures the integrity of financial 
reporting and audit processes and the maintenance of  
a sound internal control and risk management systems, 
details of which are described below.

The Committee comprises all the Non-Executive Directors, 
except the Chairman, and is chaired by Bernard Cragg. 
Jamie Hopkins stepped down as a formal member of the 
Committee on 1 March 2012. The Committee then 
comprised two independent Non-Executive Directors.  
Maria Moloney, who was appointed to the Board on 22 May 
2012, has also joined the Committee thereby maintaining its 
membership to three independent Non-Executive Directors.

In addition the Company intends to recruit an additional 
Non-Executive Director who will be appointed to the 
Committee and will bring the necessary skills and 
experience required. 

Bernard Cragg, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, is  
a Chartered Accountant and the Board is satisfied that  
he has the required and relevant financial experience. The 
Audit Committee collectively has the skills and experience 
required to fully discharge its duties, and it has access to 
independent advice at the Group’s expense.

The Group Chairman, the Chief Executive, the Group 
Finance Director, and other senior finance personnel and, 
when necessary, operational management together with 
senior representatives of the external auditors may attend 
meetings by invitation.

Meetings of the Audit Committee coincide with key dates  
in the financial reporting and audit cycle. The Committee 
Chairman reports the outcome of meetings to the Board. 
During the year under review the Committee met  
three times. 

Bernard cragg Bsc aca
Senior Independent  
Non-Executive Director

audiT commiTTee
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corporaTe governance 
reporT
continued

During the year, the Committee met in private sessions with 
its external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’), 
in the absence of management at least twice.

During the year the Committee was responsible for 
reviewing, and reporting to the Board, on a range of 
matters including:

–  the interim and annual financial statements;
–  the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies 

and practices;
–  the valuations of the Group’s property portfolio;
–  the review of the Group’s internal control and risk 

management systems;
–  the external auditor’s management letter;
–  the Group’s compliance with REIT legislation;
–  the need and use for an internal audit function; and 
–  the review of fraud risk.

Due to its size and structure, the Group does not have an 
internal audit function, a matter which is kept under review 
by the Committee. However, the Group does undertake a 
programme of financial, operational and health and safety 
audits at its estates. These are carried out by qualified 
senior Head Office personnel on a rotational basis. 

The Committee has a rolling agenda that ensures that the 
Committee receives appropriate information far enough in 
advance to enable it to fulfil its responsibilities. This includes 
not only information from management but also detailed 
reports from the external auditor.

exTernal audiTors
The Audit Committee recognises that the independence of 
the Group’s external auditor is of paramount importance to 
shareholders and the Audit Committee terms of reference 
establish a process for monitoring and approving the nature 
and the level of related fees for non-audit services (e.g. 
accounting, tax or due diligence work) paid to the Group 
external auditors.

The Group uses the external auditor for relevant financial 
work for a variety of reasons, including their knowledge of 
the Group, the audit-related nature of the work and the 
need to maintain confidentiality.

At each meeting, the Committee will be advised of any 
significant non-audit work awarded to the external auditor 
since the previous meeting and the related fees. At the 
annual May meeting, the Committee receive a report of 
fees, both audit and non-audit from PwC for the past 
financial year. The Committee has considered in detail the 
nature and level of non-audit services provided by PwC and 
the related fees. The Committee may challenge and in some 
instances refuse proposals in respect of non-audit work to 
be performed by the external auditor.

In addition, the Committee will assess the threats of self 
review by the external auditors, self interest, advocacy and 
familiarity – these are set out below and considered in 
relation to PwC’s services:

1. A self review threat – this is where, in providing a 
service, the PwC audit team could potentially evaluate  
the results of a previous PwC service.

 The Committee specifically will not allow the auditors to:

–  Do anything that is a management responsibility (e.g. 
such as setting performance targets or determining 
employees’ actual compensation).

–  Provide accounting or book-keeping services.
–  Prepare financial statement disclosure items.

2. A self interest threat – where a financial or other interest 
(of an individual or PwC) will inappropriately influence an 
individual’s judgement or behaviour.

 The Committee will specifically perform the following:

–  If the external auditor is to be considered for the 
provision of non-audit services, their scope of work and 
fees must be approved in advance by the CFO and the 
Committee Secretary and, in the case of fees in excess of 
£50,000 for a single project, by the Committee (or if 
approval is required before the next meeting, by the 
Committee Chairman). For larger assignments in excess 
of £100,000 this would involve a competitive tender 
process unless there are compelling commercial or 
timescale reasons to use the external auditor or another 
specific accountancy firm.

–  It does not accept significant contingent fee 
arrangements with the external auditors.

3. An advocacy threat – this is where PwC or PwC 
personnel promote an audit client’s position to the extent 
where PwC’s objectivity as auditor is compromised.

– The Group will not use PwC in an advocacy role.

4. A familiarity threat – this is where, because of a too 
long or too close a relationship, the external auditor’s 
independence is affected.

–  The Committee will prohibit the hiring of former 
employees of the external auditor associated with the 
Group’s audit into management roles with significant 
influence within the Group within two years following 
their association with the audit, unless the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee gives prior consent. Annually, the 
Committee will be advised of any new hires caught by 
this policy. However, there have been no instances of this 
occurring. In addition, PwC will rotate their audit partner 
every five years.

–  The Committee will monitor on an ongoing basis the 
relationship with the external auditor to ensure its 
continuing independence, objectivity and effectiveness. 
By reference to the external auditor’s litigation record, 
financial assets, structure of the firm and the level of its 
professional indemnity insurance cover, the Committee 
will determine the external auditor’s financial stability 
and assess the likelihood of its being able to meet any 
liabilities arising from the audit engagement.

Further details of the Audit Committee and its activities are 
set out in the Audit Committee Report.

Fees paid to PwC can be found in note 3 on page 79.
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exTernal evaluaTion
During the past year the Board engaged an external party, 
Wickland Westcott to undertake formal evaluation of its 
performance, and that of the committees and the Directors. 
The evaluation process took the form of questionnaires 
completed by Directors and key executives, followed  
by structured interviews with representatives from 
Wickland Westcott.

The review focused on a number of areas in which several 
specific matters were considered and a number of actions 
were determined. 

The key themes arising from the evaluation and which will 
form the basis of the action plan for 2012 are: 

Board performance – 2012 oBJecTives

Board effecTiveness and succession planning 
Board effecTiveness review 
Each year the Board carries out a formal internal evaluation 
of its own performance. The process comprises the 
Company Secretary issuing a detailed questionnaire 
covering the Board and its Committees to Board members.

process
The responses to the questionnaire are collated by the 
Company Secretary, who then prepares reports for each  
of the chairmen of the Board and relevant committees.  
The responses are discussed at the Board and the  
relevant committees taking follow up actions where 
considered necessary. 

The quesTionnaire covers a varieTy of issues 
such as The effecTiveness of:

acTion poinTs 
–  Develop further the process by which the Board 

engages in the development of strategy.
–  Continuing to develop an appropriate process for 

succession planning for Board and senior executive 
positions.

–  Ensuring that the Board continues to have an 
appropriate range and balance of skills, experience and 
diversity.

–  The Board will continue to enhance their interaction with 
Executive Committee members to gain an enhanced 
understanding of the challenges and opportunities they 
face in the business environment.

succession 
planning and 

implemenTaTion
sTraTegy and  

risK managemenT

sKills, experience 
and performancecommunicaTion

risK  
managemenT 

conTrols

Board and
commiTTee

performance

informaTion- 
sharing and 

communicaTion

Board  
composiTion  

and succession 
planning  

(inc. diversiTy)

TesTing and
developmenT
of sTraTegy

The review includes the assessment of individual Directors’ 
performance, which in the case of the Executive Directors  
is undertaken as part of the wider performance appraisal 
process applied to staff across the Group. 

The review of the Chairman’s performance is undertaken  
by the Non-Executive Directors, led by Bernard Cragg in  
his capacity as the Senior Independent Director, taking into 

account the views of the Executive Directors. Following the 
review, Bernard Cragg meets with the Chairman to discuss 
his performance.

During the year an internal review was not undertaken as  
an external evaluation of the Board was conducted by 
Wickland Westcott. 
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corporaTe governance 
reporT
continued

The ciTy commiTTee 
The City Committee comprises the Chairman, the Chief 
Executive, the Senior Independent Director and the Finance 
Director. The City Committee reviews the quarterly, interim 
and annual reports and associated announcements prior to 
their review by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The execuTive commiTTee
The Executive Committee consists of the Executive 
Directors together with the Operations Director and 
Development Director. It is chaired by the Chief Executive. 
The Committee facilitates and assists the Chief Executive  
in managing the day-to-day activities of the Group and 
addressing group-wide issues and initiatives. The Executive 
Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving 
capital expenditure; disposals and acquisitions at certain 
levels as determined by the Board; the monitoring of the 
operating and financial results against plans and budgets; 
and to ensure the effectiveness of risk management and 
control procedures.

The Committee has met 11 times during the year ended  
31 March 2012.

The Group also operates a Development Board and an 
Operations Board which comprise various members of the 
Executive Committee and the senior management team.

The responsibilities of the Executive Committee members 
include:

Jamie Hopkins, Chief Executive
Strategic management; investor relations; acquisitions and 
disposals; health and safety; staff; equal opportunities; 
remuneration; and training and development. 

Graham Clemett, Group Finance Director
Finance; treasury; company secretarial; investor relations; 
and the Group’s IT strategy. 

Chris Pieroni, Operations Director
Portfolio performance; asset management; lettings and 
marketing; rent reviews; and renewals. 

Angus Boag, Development Director
Planning consents; development of assets; valuations; 
acquisitions and disposals; sustainability; and 
environmental strategy. 

re-elecTion of direcTors
The Articles of Association of the Group require that 
Directors should submit themselves for election at the first 
opportunity after their appointment and thereafter for 
re-election at least every three years. However, at the 2011 
AGM the Group had adopted the requirements of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code (June 2010) in relation to 
Directors’ appointments and in particular the annual 
re-election of all Directors. Therefore, in accordance with 
provision B.7.1 of the UK Corporate Governance Code, all 
the Directors will retire at the AGM and being eligible, offer 
themselves up for re-election.

The Board considers that all of the Directors have the 
necessary skills and experience needed to effectively lead 
the business. In addition, the NEDs are considered to bring 
independent objectivity in order to safeguard and promote 
the interest of shareholders.

The Board has considered the outcome of the external 
board effectiveness review as well as the performance  
of each individual Director, including how they operate  
as a collective in fulfilling their duties on the Board or  
as members of the Board’s Committees. The Board  
has accepted the recommendations provided by the 
Nominations Committee and is of the opinion that the 
directors seeking re-election at the AGM have continued  
to give effective counsel and commitment to the Company 
and accordingly should be reappointed by the Group’s 
shareholders at the upcoming AGM.

Mr Hopkins and Mr Clemett have service contracts and 
details can be found on page 64.

None of the Non-Executive Directors have service 
contracts.

The appointment of Mr Kitchen may be terminated by 
either he or the Group giving six months’ notice in writing.

The appointment of Mr Bywater and Mr Cragg may  
be terminated by any one of them or the Group giving  
six months’ notice in writing.

Dr Moloney was appointed as a Non-Executive Director 
with effect from 22 May 2012. Dr Moloney therefore stands 
for election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  
Dr Moloney’s appointment may be terminated by either the 
Company or by her giving three months’ notice in writing. 
Dr Moloney has been invited to join the Remuneration, Audit 
and Nominations Committees.

Biographies for the Directors can be found on pages 40 
and 41.
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corporaTe governance policies
Training and developmenT
A tailored induction programme is provided for each new 
Director. Overall, the aim of the induction programme is to 
introduce new Directors to the Group’s business and its 
governance arrangements. Such inductions typically 
include meetings with senior management, site visits and 
presentations of key business areas and other relevant 
documentation. In addition, Directors are encouraged to 
update their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group 
by attending external seminars and briefings, through 
participation at meetings and through visits to estates, 
meetings with senior management and advisers. The 
Directors are regularly updated on new legislation and 
corporate governance issues as they arise. Directors are 
given access to independent professional advice at the 
Group’s expense, if they deem it necessary, in order for 
them to carry out their responsibilities. This is in addition  
to the access that every Director has to the Company 
Secretary. The Group has continued to secure appropriate 
insurance cover for its Directors and its Officers.
 
diversiTy
Workspace employs enthusiastic, committed and 
well-trained people, whose diversity reflects that of London 
itself. The Board is fully committed to an active Equal 
Opportunities Policy from recruitment and selection, 
through training and development, performance reviews 
and promotion. All decisions relating to employment 
practices are objective, free from bias and based solely 
upon work criteria and individual merit. At Workspace  
we have had a good record of promoting and appointing 
women to senior positions. Our employee gender profile  
is fairly evenly split with a total of 43% female and 57%  
male employees. 

The Board recognises the benefits of diversity of skills, 
knowledge and independence, as well as gender diversity. 
During the year, the Board formally discussed and reviewed 
its policy regarding diversity, including gender, on the Board 
and within the Group as a whole. As a result the Board 
requested that going forward, diversity becomes a formal 
area for consideration in board effectiveness reviews and  
in its succession planning. Consequently, diversity will form 
part of considerations afforded to the search and selection 
process for Directors and staff. 

The Board does not consider it appropriate at this time  
to set quotas for board representation, but will monitor 
developments in best practice. 

accounTaBiliTy and audiT 
In its financial reporting to shareholders and other 
interested parties, by means of Annual and Half-Yearly 
Financial Reports, Interim Management Statements and 
other periodic statements, the Board aims to present a 
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
position and prospects.

inTernal conTrol and risK managemenT
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s 
system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. The Board has reviewed the Group’s system 
of controls including financial, operational, compliance and 
risk management on a regular basis throughout the year. 
However, any such system can only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance against any material misstatement 
or loss.

The Group has established a risk management framework 
and procedures necessary to enable the Directors to report 
on internal controls in compliance with the Code. The risk 
management procedures involve the analysis, evaluation 
and management of the key risks to the Group.

The other key elements of the Group’s system of internal 
control include:

–  a comprehensive system of financial reporting;
–  an organisational and management Board structure with 

clearly defined levels of authority and division of 
responsibilities;

–  a Risk Committee, which is chaired by the Operations 
Director and attended by representatives from senior 
management. The Risk Committee meets on a regular 
basis and formally reports to the Audit Committee twice 
a year;

–  a programme of site audit visits, covering a significant 
proportion of the sites each year. Although the Group 
does not have a dedicated internal audit function an 
operational, finance and health and safety audit are 
carried out at the estates by qualified Head Office 
personnel. The results of the audits are reported to and 
reviewed by the Risk and Audit Committees and 
appropriate action taken as required.

The Risk Committee reviews and identifies risks facing the 
Group and ensures that appropriate controls are in place to 
review each issue raised. Each identified risk is assigned a 
‘Risk Owner’. PKF are appointed by the Risk Committee to 
undertake specific projects to review particular areas of the 
business. 
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The Group has ‘whistleblowing procedures’ under which 
staff may report any suspicion of fraud, financial irregularity 
or other malpractice. There is also a process in place for 
staff to report operational risks and issues to the Risk 
Committee.

The Group has continued to develop its risk management 
and has reappraised its risks in the light of the changes in 
the external environment during the last year.

The Group has also considered the requirements of the 
Bribery Act 2010 and taken steps to ensure that it has 
adequate procedures as set out by the Act.

The Group continues to strengthen its risk management 
processes to ensure these are embedded as part of the 
Group’s culture. The Turnbull Guidance sets out best 
practice on internal control to assist companies in applying 
the Codes principles with regards to internal control. The 
Board, with advice from the Audit Committee has 
completed its review of the effectiveness of internal control 
with no significant failings or weaknesses identified.

Further information on the Group’s risks is detailed on 
pages 32 to 35.

TaKeover direcTive
Share capital structures are included in the Directors’ 
Report on page 43.

going concern
Going Concern disclosures are included in the Directors’ 
Report on page 42.

relaTions wiTh shareholders
A copy of the Annual Report and Accounts is sent to 
shareholders and is also available on the Group’s website, 
which additionally contains up-to-date information  
on the Group’s activities and published financial results  
and presentations.

Executive Directors have frequent discussions with 
institutional shareholders on a range of issues throughout 
the year affecting the Group’s performance, which include 
meetings following the announcements of the annual and 
interim results. Meetings are also held with analysts and the 
financial press. The Group’s stockbrokers also discuss the 
outcome of meetings with shareholders and report their 
findings to the Board. Other ad hoc meetings, presentations 
and site visits are arranged for shareholders throughout  
the year.

The Group’s Annual General Meeting is used as an 
opportunity to communicate with private investors. 
Shareholders attending the Annual General Meeting are 
invited to ask questions and to meet with the Directors 
informally after the meeting.

By order of the Board

carmelina carfora
Company Secretary
11 June 2012

corporaTe governance 
reporT
continued
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direcTors’ remuneraTion  
reporT

John BywaTer
Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee

“Our commitment remains to  
align pay with performance.”

This Remuneration Report has been prepared on behalf of 
the Board by the Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’). 
The Committee adopts the principles of good governance 
as set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code and 
complies with the UKLA Listing Rules and relevant 
requirements of Section 421 to the Companies Act 2006. 
The Company’s auditors are required to report on the 
‘Audited Information’ in the report and to state that this section 
has been properly prepared in accordance with regulations. 
Therefore, the Remuneration Report has been divided into 
two parts; the first containing information which is unaudited 
and the second containing information which is audited. 

The following report of the Committee provides an 
explanation of the Committee’s work and of the 
remuneration arrangements for Directors. It is divided into 
the following sections:

–  Overview from the Chairman;
–  Membership and role of the Remuneration Committee;
–  Principles of Executive Remuneration Policy;
–  Overview of Executive Remuneration Structure for 2012; 
–  Remuneration Components for Executives;
–  Service Agreements of Executive Directors;
–  Retirement of Harry Platt.

overview from John BywaTer, chairman  
of The remuneraTion commiTTee

During the last financial year Workspace has performed 
well against an uncertain economic background despite  
the ongoing uncertainty in the global economy generally. 
Despite these difficult conditions, the Company has 
delivered good growth in trading profit after interest,  
rental income, dividends and net asset value. Our full 
trading results are discussed in more detail in the Business 
Review on pages 26 to 31.

We continue to identify other value creation opportunities, 
focusing our efforts on increasing rental income and 
investing in our development programme, the Remuneration 
Committee is committed to ensuring that the remuneration 
structures in place remain appropriate to support our 
business strategy and reinforce success.

The Committee believes that remuneration plays an 
important role in fostering the long-term growth and 
success of the business and we aim to do this in a way  
that promotes good corporate governance and effective 
risk management. The Committee aims to ensure its 
decisions on remuneration have regard to pay and 
conditions across the Group, are fair and reasonable  
in light of current market practice and are in the best 
interests of shareholders as a whole.

This report explains the principles and details of the 
Company’s remuneration arrangements and how they  
are aligned with these objectives.

The Committee strives to ensure that shareholders’ 
interests are served by ensuring that a significant part  
of Executive Directors’ remuneration is linked to the 
Company’s success. This is achieved through bonus 
deferral, strong encouragement to voluntarily invest  
in the Company’s shares and setting stretching 
performance targets.

During this year’s review, the Committee concluded that 
the structure of remuneration remained broadly 
appropriate. The Annual Bonus continues to focus on the 
annual business priorities and the LTIP continues to align 
the interests of participants with those of our shareholders. 
Details of these schemes are set out later in this report.

In recognition of his value to the business, the Committee 
decided to increase Mr Clemett’s base salary closer to 
market median. During the year the Committee also  
agreed terms of engagement of the Company’s new CEO, 
Jamie Hopkins (see pages 60 and 61), and retirement 
arrangements for Harry Platt (see page 65). The 
Committee will continue to monitor the remuneration 
policy during the forthcoming year to ensure it continues 
to reinforce the Company’s goals, align executive and 
shareholder interests, and motivate and retain talent.

+13%
Trading Profit after interest 
(adjusted) 
Up 13% to £16.0m

Capital Return vs IPD Comparator 
Index Total Property return of 13.4% 
vs 6.4% for IPD quarterly Universe 

84%
Customer Satisfaction

+8%
Net Asset Value per share 
Up 8% to £3.08

+10%
Dividend per share for full year  
Up 10% to 8.79p

acTual performance of sTraTegic  
and financial measures

summary of remuneraTion for year  
ended 31 march 2012

Harry 
Platt

Graham 
Clemett

Base Salary £337,400 £221,646

Annual Bonus Scheme 1 £303,660 £249,351
(Maximum bonus of  
120% of salary) 90% of salary 112.5% of salary

Performance 
Award

Performance
Award

Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’) 90% of salary 90% of salary
Matching

Award
Matching

Award

Maximum Awards 90% of salary 90% of salary

Other benefits £75,600 £17,800

1  For the financial year ended 31 March 2012, the Remuneration  
Committee set a minimum deferral requirement of 25% of bonus earned.

57

Review of opeRations 01-38 
Governance 39-69
financial statements 70-103
shaReholdeR infoRmation 104



direcTors’ remuneraTion  
reporT
continued

1. unaudiTed informaTion
MEMBERSHIP AND ROlE OF  
THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
The members of the Remuneration Committee
In the reporting year the Committee consisted of the 
following Non-Executive Directors:

John Bywater (Chairman)
Bernard Cragg
Tony Hales (until 28 July 2011)
Jamie Hopkins (until 1 March 2012)
Daniel Kitchen (from 1 February 2012)

purpose and role of The remuneraTion 
commiTTee
The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities are  
set out in its terms of reference, which are available  
in the Investor section of the Company’s website  
www.workspacegroupplc.co.uk.

Workspace operates a number of share schemes available 
to all employees, the details of which are provided on  
pages 93 to 96.

The Committee met nine times during the year under 
review. Attendance by individual Committee members at 
meetings is detailed in the Corporate Governance Report 
on page 51.

At the invitation of the Chairman, the Chief Executive and 
Finance Director have attended parts of meetings to advise 
on specific questions raised by the Committee and on 
matters relating to the performance and remuneration of 
senior managers. The Company Chairman, Chief Executive 
and Finance Director are excluded from discussions 
regarding their own remuneration. The Company Secretary 
attends each meeting as Secretary to the Committee.

advisers
For the year under review, the Committee continued  
to retain the services of Kepler Associates as  
independent external advisers. Kepler Associates provided 
advice on executive remuneration matters and aspects 
associated with the LTIP and provides no other services  
to the Company. Advice was also sought from 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) who provided  
limited advice pertaining to administrative matters and  
the tax treatment of share option schemes and deferred 
share awards. The Company continually assesses ongoing 
advice provided by its advisers on remuneration matters. 

role of The remuneraTion commiTTee
Responsibilities of the Committee include:
–  Recommending the Company policy on remuneration 

for the Executives and senior managers.
–  Setting and reviewing the composition and level of 

remuneration of Executives and senior managers 
including terms and conditions of employment and  
any changes. In doing so, the Committee has regard  
for reward levels and practices across the Group.

–  Reviewing incentive plans annually to ensure they 
remain appropriate to the Company’s current 
circumstances and prospects and that, in particular,  
the policies adopted are aligned and based on the 
creation of value for shareholders and provide 
appropriate incentives for management to achieve  
this objective.

– Reviewing the Chairman’s fees.
–  The Committee also reviews and approves the overall 

remuneration levels of employees beneath senior 
management level (but does not review individual 
remuneration amounts for such employees).

agenda during 2011/12
–  Reviewed executive remuneration arrangements in 

relation to the Company’s needs, market practice and 
best practice. 

–  Agreed terms of engagement of the new CEO.
–   Benchmarked salaries and total remuneration against  

a comparator group of other UK-listed property 
companies and companies of similar market 
capitalisation.

–  Determined annual bonus outcomes and 2009 LTIP 
vesting and set performance conditions for 2011/12 
awards under these plans.

–  Reviewed developments in Corporate Governance  
and the proposals issued by the Business Secretary  
to the UK Government.
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40% 24% 30% 6%

remuneraTion policy
The Company’s remuneration policy reinforces the Company’s goals, providing effective incentives for  
exceptional Company and individual performance.

principles of our execuTive remuneraTion policy
It is intended that the remuneration policy framework as set out below, which has applied throughout the reporting year, 
will continue to apply for FY 2013. 

remuneraTion pacKage design
Remuneration packages are designed to attract, retain and motivate Executives of the highest calibre who have the 
experience, skills and talents to manage and develop the business successfully.

performance linKed
A significant part of executive remuneration is variable and is determined by the Group’s success and directly links 
reward with Group and individual performance. 

purpose
Reflect market value of the role and  
of the individual’s skills, experience  
and individual contribution in order  
to provide a competitive package.

alignmenT wiTh sTraTegy
Provide market competitive level  
of remuneration set with due 
consideration of objective 
benchmarking against a comparator 
group of similar companies within  
the sector.

Drive and reward the annual 
performance of the Company and 
individuals against corporate  
objectives and KPIs.

Provides direct link with 
strategically-aligned operational  
and individual KPIs.

Drive and reward the delivery  
of a sustained long-term sector 
out-performance aligned to the 
interests of shareholders.

Focus on growth in NAV and TSR  
over the medium to long term.

componenT of pacKage

Basic 
salary Benefit Pension Annual Bonus Long-term incentive

shareholders’ inTeresTs
The Committee strives to ensure that shareholders’ interests 
are served by creating an appropriate balance between 
fixed and performance-related pay. A considerable part  
of the reward package is linked to share price performance, 
is delivered in shares that have to be retained until minimum 
shareholding requirements have been met, and requires 
Executives to invest their own funds in Company shares. 
Executives are encouraged to build up a shareholding equal 
to at least one time’s basic salary.

The chart opposite shows the 2012 pay mix for Executives 
on a fair-value basis. The fair value of performance shares 
and matching shares incorporates an estimate of the 
probability that the performance conditions are achieved, 
takes into account that dividends are accrued, and includes 
a discount for the risk of forfeiture.

execuTive direcTor pay mix  
(% OF TOTAl REMUNERATION By FAIR VAlUE)
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direcTors’ remuneraTion  
reporT
continued

wider group remuneraTion policy
The Group’s wider people policies are reported separately 
on page 43. Following probationary periods, all staff  
in the Company are eligible to participate in the Company’s 
bonus scheme, SAYE, pension scheme, life assurance 
arrangements and medical insurance benefits; and some 
senior staff have share option awards. Some senior staff  
are also eligible to participate in the Company’s long-term 
incentive plan together with all members of the  
Executive Committee.

OVERVIEw OF THE TERMS OF ENGAGEMENT  
FOR JAMIE HOPKINS
Mr Hopkins was appointed as an Executive Director on 
12 March 2012 and as Chief Executive with effect from 
1 April 2012. His base salary is £400,000 p.a. which is 
around median and was necessary to attract an individual 
with his previous experience. He is entitled to a maximum 
annual bonus opportunity of 120% of salary (from 
1 April 2012).

overview of execuTive remuneraTion sTrucTure for 2012

elemenT purpose delivery summary deTails daTe of award  
or receipT

Base  
salary

To reflect market value of the  
role and individual’s performance  
and contribution.

Payable in cash.

Pensionable.

Reviewed annually, with  
any increases effective  
from 1 April.

Paid on a four weekly basis.

annual 
Bonus

To encourage and reward the 
achievement of Group financial  
and corporate targets and  
strategic business objectives.

Maximum bonus of 120%  
of salary.

The Remuneration Committee 
may vary the mix of cash and 
deferred bonus from year to 
year.

For 2012, the minimum deferral 
requirement has been set at  
25% of bonus earned.

Non Pensionable.

The performance targets  
are aligned to four distinct 
elements:

Trading profit before tax (50%).

Capital return from the portfolio 
versus a defined comparator 
index compiled by IPD (30%).

Customer satisfaction which  
is based on survey results (10%); 
achievement of personal 
objectives (factor in the range  
of 0.67 to 1.33).

The Committee retains the 
discretion to mandate deferral 
of a percentage of bonus earned 
(which will normally vest after 
two years, subject to continued 
employment) or allow 
Executives to make an 
equivalent investment in  
the LTIP. 

Normally paid in June 
following the reporting  
year end.

lTip To align the interests  
of participants with  
those of shareholders.

Annual award of nominal  
priced options which vest  
after three years, subject  
to performance conditions.

Non pensionable.

Discretionary award whereby 
executives receive (i) annual 
awards of performance shares 
of up to 100% of salary (200% in 
exceptional circumstances) and  
(ii) matching share awards of  
up to 2 for 1 on investments of 
up to 50% of net salary.

Vesting of awards is subject  
to satisfaction of challenging 
targets relating to growth in Net 
Asset Value (1/3 of awards) and  
Total Shareholder Return (2/3  
of awards).

Normally awarded in June 
following the reporting 
financial year end.

oTher  
BenefiTs

To provide market  
competitive benefits.

Benefits in kind or  
cash allowance.

Benefits include a car allowance, 
private health insurance, death  
in service cover and pension 
contribution. Executives may  
also join the SAYE scheme.

Received during  
the year.
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2

3

4

1

1.  Trading profit before tax (50%)

2.  Capital Return from portfolio 
versus a defined comparator  
index compiled by IPD (30%)

3.  Customer satisfaction (10%)

4.  Personal objectives (10%)

In connection with the recruitment of Mr Hopkins, and 
conditional on the purchase by him of Workspace shares 
up to 100% of salary, the Company intends to grant a 
one-off award of 1x the amount invested (up to 100%  
of salary) in restricted shares, vesting subject to the 
achievement of an absolute TSR underpin of 4% p.a. The 
Company also intends to grant under the current LTIP an 
award of up to 125% of salary in performance shares, which 
will vest subject to the same performance conditions  
as for other executives, i.e. 1/3, 1/3, 1/3, on 3-year relative  
NAV, relative TSR and absolute TSR (subject to a relative 
TSR underpin).

The performance period is the three years to 31 March 2015, 
and the awards may vest three years after grant, subject to 
continuous employment, the retention of his acquired 
shares and the performance conditions being satisfied.

These awards were necessary to secure the services of the 
new CEO, and have been structured to require the new 
CEO to make a substantial investment in Workspace shares, 
as well as provide alignment with shareholder interests from 
the outset.

As an Executive Director, Mr Hopkins will be eligible  
going forward to receive annual LTIP awards (subject to 
shareholder approved limits). The proportion of these 
shares released after a three-year performance period 
would depend on the extent to which relative NAV, relative 
TSR and absolute TSR performance conditions are met. 
Further details can be found on pages 62 and 63 of  
this report.

Mr Hopkins will also receive pension and other benefits 
consistent with standard Workspace terms and conditions 
for senior Executives. 

remuneraTion componenTs for execuTives
Base salary and BenefiTs
The Committee reviews base salaries annually with any 
changes normally taking effect from 1 April. Individual pay 
levels are determined by reference to the external economic 
environment, individual performance, experience and rates 
of salary for similar jobs in companies of a similar sector 
and size. Consideration is also given to salary increases 
across the Company.

In April 2012, the Committee reviewed the base salary  
of the Finance Director and it was agreed that the salary  
for Mr Clemett be increased by £28,000 to £250,000 in 
recognition of his strong performance over the year and  
his value to the business. Since 2008 his salary had 
increased by only 2%, and the proposed increase on a 
cumulative basis since 2008 is in line with the year-on-year 
percentage increase provided for the average employee. 
His resultant salary is closer to, although still below  
median relative to other UK-listed property comparators 
and companies of similar size. Given the change in  
Chief Executive Officer, neither Mr Platt’s nor Mr Hopkins’ 
salaries were subject to review. The next salary review date 
for Executives will be 1 April 2013.

All Executive Directors are provided with a Company 
mobile phone, a car allowance, private health insurance, 
death in service cover and an employer’s contribution  
to a defined contribution (money purchase) scheme. 
Executives may also join the SAYE scheme. 

Mr Hopkins and Mr Clemett receive an employer’s pension 
contribution equal to 15% and 16.5% of basic salary 
respectively, which is made to a defined contribution 
(money purchase) scheme. 

ANNUAl BONUS SCHEME
Policy and award levels
The Group operates an annual bonus scheme which 
provides for a capped variable (performance related) 
bonus. The maximum bonus potential for the Executive 
Directors is set at 120% of basic annual salary.

The Committee sets a minimum deferral or investment 
each year into Workspace shares. For 2011/12 the 
Committee set a minimum deferral requirement of 25%  
of the bonus earned.

The preferred mechanism for meeting this requirement is 
participant investment in the LTIP. However, the Committee 
will retain the discretion to mandate deferral of 25% of 
bonus earned (which will vest after two years, subject  
to continued employment) or allow executives to make  
an equivalent investment in the LTIP. For 2011/12 the 
Committee will allow Executives to make an equivalent 
investment in the LTIP.

The Corporate performance measures and their weightings 
for 2011/12 Executive Director annual bonuses are illustrated 
by the following diagram:
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direcTors’ remuneraTion  
reporT
continued

The performance measures applicable for the year ended 31 March 2012 and performance against them are  
detailed below:

Measure Proportion Bonus Performance Targets
Performance Achieved  
(% of bonus earned)
Harry  
Platt 

Graham  
Clemett

Corporate 50% Trading profit before tax 50% 50%

30%
Capital return from the portfolio versus a 
defined comparator index compiled by IPD 30% 30%

10% Customer satisfaction (based on survey results) 10% 10%
Personal Corporate performance bonus may be adjusted by a  

factor in the range of 0.67 to 1.33 (with factors greater  
than 1.0 reflecting superior performance) 1.00 1.25

Maximum Bonus 
(% of salary) 120%

Total Bonus Earned  
(% of salary) 90% 112.5%

Against each measure the bonus starts to be paid on the achievement of a threshold performance, increasing on a 
straight line basis until stretch performance is achieved, at which point the full bonus potential for that measure is earned.

The Committee assessed performance and was pleased to note that during the year the Company outperformed on 
every measure. The results of the quantitative measures were:

financial and corporaTe
–  Trading profit after interest (adjusted) up 13% to £16m.
–  Over the financial year the Company delivered return of 13%, significantly outperforming the relevant IPD benchmark 

which had a capital return of 6.4%.
–  Customer satisfaction survey confirming 84%.

The Committee considered performance during the year against personal and strategic objectives and noted the 
following achievements in particular:
–  Refinancing of the new £125m RBS debt facility in June 2011.
–  Successful execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals. £21m invested (Workspace share £4.2m) in acquisitions  

for the BlackRock Workspace joint venture. £13m generated from cash disposals with minimal income loss. 
–  Good progress made on development projects with £18m invested on capital expenditure projects for significant 

income and capital growth.
–  Good performance against key operational and financial metrics:

 Rental Income growth. Underlying net rental income, excluding disposals, up 4% to £44.6m.

 Underlying property valuation excluding disposals and capital expenditure up 5% to £760m.

 Dividend for year up 10% to 8.79p per share.

 Net asset value per share up 8% to £3.08.

Following consideration of the above, the Committee awarded Mr Platt a bonus of 90% of salary and Mr Clemett a bonus 
of 112.5% of salary.

For 2012/13, the structure of the Annual Bonus will remain as described above. 

long-Term equiTy incenTive plan (‘lTip’)
The Plan provides for annual awards of performance shares of up to 100% of salary (200% in exceptional circumstances) 
and matching share awards of up to 2 for 1 on investments in Workspace of up to 50% of (net) salary. The maximum 
matching share award that may be granted to the Executive Directors is 100% of their annual basic salary. The Company 
awards matching shares in respect of an amount equivalent to two times the grossed up (for income tax and National 
Insurance) amount invested by the participant in Invested Shares.

Vesting of performance shares and matching shares is based 1/3, 1/3, 1/3 on three-year relative NAV growth, relative  
TSR and absolute TSR. Relative performance is measured against the constituents of the FTSE 350 Real Estate Index.  
In addition, for any shares to vest on TSR, the Committee must satisfy itself that the recorded TSR is a genuine  
reflection of the underlying business performance of Workspace. For awards granted since 2010, for any shares to  
vest on absolute TSR, the Company’s TSR must exceed the median TSR of the Comparator group by over +1.5% p.a.  
over the performance period.
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The TSR and NAV performance conditions have been selected to ensure a balanced portfolio of measures which  
are well aligned with shareholder interests. The Committee believes a blend of relative and absolute performance is  
most appropriate for Workspace and that use of absolute TSR underpinned by relative TSR provides transparency  
for executives and shareholder alignment (as this element will only vest if there is outperformance of sector peers).

In the event of a change of control, LTIP awards would normally be pro-rated for time and performance, in line with  
best practice.

Participation in the Plan extends to members of the Executive Committee and the Group’s senior managers. Full details  
of the awards made to the Executive Directors under the Plan are shown on page 67.

One-third One-third One-third
Performance 
condition:

Growth in Net Asset Value 
relative to companies in the 
FTSE 350 Real Estate index

TSR (share price growth plus  
re-invested dividends) relative  
to companies in the FTSE 350  
Real Estate index

Absolute TSR1

level of 
performance

Company’s 
rank

% of award 
vesting

Company’s  
performance

% of award 
vesting

Company’s 
performance

% of award 
vesting

Awards made in June 2009* 1,2

Threshold 51st percentile 20% Median 20% 241.7 pence 20%
Maximum 75th percentile 100% Median + 7.5% p.a 100% 290 pence 100%
Awards made in June 2010* 1,3

Threshold 51st percentile 20% Median 20% 11% p.a. 20%
Maximum 75th percentile 100% Median + 7.5% p.a 100% 20% p.a. 100%
Awards made in June 2011* 1,3

Threshold 51st percentile 20% Median 20% 11% p.a. 20%
Maximum 75th percentile 100% Median + 7.5% p.a 100% 20% p.a. 100%

*1.  There will be a pro-rata vesting of awards between the ‘threshold’ and ‘maximum’ performance levels.
*2  Absolute TSR targets of 241.7p and 290p for Threshold and Maximum respectively. These are TERP (theoretical ex rights price) adjusted for the Rights Issue 

in July 2011 and for the share consolidation in August 2011.
*3.  For the 2010 and 2011 LTIP awards, for any shares to vest on absolute TSR, the Company’s TSR must exceed the median TSR of the comparator group  

by +1.5% p.a. over the performance period.

2012 lTip award 
For the Finance Director, the Committee intends to make the awards following the release of the Company’s preliminary 
results announcement on 12 June 2012 and the anticipated size of awards is detailed below.

Director Performance Award
Maximum potential 

Matching Award

Finance Director 90% 90%
 
In order to participate in the matching element of the plan, the Director must use his own funds to purchase ordinary 
shares, up to a maximum of 45% of net annual basic salary. 

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the performance criteria for the grant of LTIP awards in 2012 and has set 
equivalent conditions as those attached to 2011 LTIP awards. It believes these are appropriately stretching but achievable.

The 2012 LTIP grant will be subject to the following performance conditions:

One-third One-third One-third
Performance 
condition:

Growth in Net Asset Value  
plus dividends relative to 
companies in the FTSE 350  
Real Estate index

Relative TSR (share price  
growth plus reinvested dividends 
relative to companies in the  
FTSE 350 Real Estate index)

Absolute TSR1

level of 
performance

Company’s 
percentile rank

% of award  
vesting

Company’s 
performance

% of award 
vesting

Company’s 
performance

% of award 
vesting

Awards made in June 2012
Threshold 51st percentile 20% Median 20% 11% 20%
Maximum 75th percentile 100% Median +  

7.5% p.a
100% 20% 100%

1.  For any shares to vest on absolute TSR, the Company’s TSR must exceed the median TSR of the comparator group by +1.5% p.a. over the  
performance period. 
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2009 lTip vesTing
The three year performance period of 2009 LTIP awards 
ended on 31 March 2012. Workspace’s three-year NAV 
growth (plus dividends) of 9.7% p.a. was 66.7th percentile 
against the FTSE350 Real Estate which warranted 72.3%  
of this element vesting (equivalent to 24.1% of LTIP shares 
awarded). Over the three years from 1 April 2009 to 
31 March 2012, Workspace’s TSR outperformed the median 
TSR of the FTSE350 Real Estate by 5.25% p.a. which 
warranted 76% of this element vesting (equivalent to 25.3% 
of LTIP shares awarded). Workspace’s average share price 
over the final quartile of the performance period, plus 
dividends reinvested, of 260.6p, warranted 51.3% of the 
absolute TSR element vesting (equivalent to 17.1% of LTIP 
shares awarded).
 
The Committee considered this together with the 
underlying business performance of Workspace, and 
concluded that 66.5% of the LTIP shares awarded to 
Executives would vest. 

JoinTly held lTip awards
In 2009 the Company offered participants the opportunity 
to restructure their 2009 LTIP awards and future awards so 
that they acquired shares jointly with the Company’s 
Employee Share Ownership Trust (‘ESOT’), with the effect 
that the growth in value of the shares creates a capital gain 
(taxed currently at 18%). Individuals were required to pay 
appropriate income tax and National Insurance as part of 
their upfront acquisition. If the awards vest, the participants 
keep their part-interest in the shares and the ESOT also 
transfers its part-interest to the participant at that stage,  
so that they receive the full value of the shares as intended 
under the terms of the Plan. This restructuring has 
generated ongoing savings for the Company and 
participants.

For the 2009 awards Messrs Platt and Clemett accepted 
the joint ownership awards as part of their total awards, 
each taking half of their awards as joint ownership  
awards, with the remainder in the original conditional  
shares structure.

For the 2010 awards Messrs Platt and Clemett accepted the 
joint ownership awards as part of their total awards, each 
taking half of their awards as joint ownership awards, with 
the remainder in the original conditional shares structure.

For the 2011 awards the Executive Directors did not 
participate in joint ownership awards. 

execuTive share opTions
Details of outstanding grants made to the Executive 
Directors under the Executive Share Option Scheme and the 
performance targets that have to be satisfied for the options 
to become exercisable are shown on pages 67 and 68. No 
grants of options were made during the year under the 
Executive Share Option Scheme and no further grants will 
be made.

savings relaTed share opTion scheme
Executive Directors can participate in the Savings Related 
Share Option Scheme. Performance conditions have not 
been imposed, as they are not permissible under UK HM 
Revenue and Customs rules for this type of scheme.

Under the rules of the Savings Related Share Option 
Scheme, a requirement exists to renew the terms of the 
scheme every 10 years. 

Given that it was last tabled to shareholders in 2003, 
shareholders will be asked to renew the Scheme at the 
Annual General Meeting in July 2012 and full details of the 
resolution can be found in the Notice of the 2012 Annual 
General Meeting. 

share-Based awards and diluTion
The Company’s share schemes are funded through a 
combination of shares purchased in the market and 
new-issue shares, as appropriate. Funding of awards 
through new-issue shares is subject to an overall dilution 
limit of 10% of issued share capital in any 10-year period.  
Of this, 5% may be in connection with the Company’s 
executive share schemes.

As of 31 March 2012, around 3.7m (2.6%) and 3.2m (2.2%) 
shares have been, or may be, issued to settle awards  
made in the previous 10 years in connection with all share 
schemes and executive share schemes respectively. Awards 
that are made but then lapse or are forfeited, are excluded 
from the calculations.

service agreemenTs of execuTive direcTors
All current Executive Directors have service agreements that 
are on a 12-month rolling basis. These agreements provide 
for 12 months’ notice by the Company. The agreements 
provide for 12 months’ notice by all the Executive Directors 
with the exception of Mr Platt whose agreement provides 
for 12 months’ notice which was reduced to three months  
if notice was served by him during the period from 
30 December 2011 to 27 April 2012 (inclusive). Mr Platt 
advised the Board of his intention to retire and Mr Hopkins 
was appointed Chief Executive Officer from 1 April 2012.

As with existing Executive Directors, the Service Agreement 
with Mr Hopkins is on a rolling 12-month basis and provides 
for 12 months’ notice by the Company and by Mr Hopkins. 

Termination payments are limited to the Directors’ normal 
compensation, including basic salary, annual incentives and 
benefits for the unexpired portion of the notice period 
subject to performance and Committee discretion. The 
Committee will aim to minimise the level of payments to 
that Director, however, having regard to all circumstances, 
including the Company’s contractual obligations to the 
Director, the reason for the departure, and the Company’s 
policy to apply mitigation in the case of severance.

The Company entered into a service agreement with 
Graham Clemett on 31 July 2007 and an updated service 
agreement was entered into with Mr Platt on 25 May 2010 
and amended on 12 May 2011. The Company entered into a 
service agreement with Mr Hopkins on 3 February 2012.

In the event of termination of any Director, the Company 
reserves the right to make phased payments which are paid 
in monthly instalments and subject to mitigation.

direcTors’ remuneraTion  
reporT
continued
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Name Date of Letter
Unexpired term  
as at June 2012

Date of Appointment/ 
Last reappointment at AGM Notice Period

D Kitchen 6 June 2011 24 months 2011 6 months
B Cragg 22 May 2012 24 months 2011 6 months
J Bywater 27 July 2010 14 months 2011 6 months
M Moloney* 22 May 2012 36 months 2012 3 months

* Maria Moloney was appointed on 22 May 2012.

performance review
Figure 1: Shareholder return on £100 invested on 31/3/2002     
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Figure 2: Shareholder return on £100 invested on 31/3/2009          
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Figure 1 above compares the total shareholder return performance (TSR) of the Group with benchmark indices. Given the 
differing benchmarks used for such performance measurement your Board has decided to undertake this comparison 
against all of the FTSE 250, FTSE All Share, FTSE Small Cap and FTSE 350 Real Estate indices. In the opinion of the 
Directors, these indices are the most appropriate against which the total shareholder return of Workspace Group PLC 
should be measured.

Figure 2 above compares the TSR performance of the Group against benchmark indices over the last three years.

reTiremenT of harry plaTT 
Mr Platt retired from office as Chief Executive on 31 March 
2012 and will remain employed by the Company until the 
end of June 2012 to facilitate an orderly handover. He will 
be paid his salary and other benefits (cash in lieu of 
pension, private health insurance, death in service insurance 
and use of mobile phone) until the end of June. He received 
a bonus in respect of 2011/12 financial, corporate and 
personal performance and 25% of this will be deferred in 
the Company’s shares and will be released two years after 
grant. He will receive 2009 LTIP shares vesting in June 2012 
subject to the achievement of the performance conditions. 
He will also retain an interest in the 2010 and 2011 LTIP 
grants, although awards will be pro-rated for time based  
on the proportion of the vesting period served and  
for performance to the end of the relevant three-year 
performance period.

During the year no further employer pension contributions 
were made to Mr Platt, who instead received a cash 
allowance in lieu of pension at no additional cost to  
the Company.

No termination payments were made to Mr Platt in respect 
of his notice period upon his retirement from the Board.

The chairman and non-execuTive direcTors
Letters of appointment are provided to the Chairman and 
Non-Executive Directors. Dates of the Non-Executive 
Directors’ letters of appointment and the unexpired period 
of their appointments (where appropriate after extension 
by re-election) are set out below:

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are reviewed annually  
and determined by the Board in the light of market practice 
and surveys by Kepler Associates and with reference  
to the time commitment and responsibilities associated 
with the roles. Generally, the time commitment of the 
Chairman is expected to be 50 days a year and for other 
Non-Executives approximately 15 to 20 days a year. 
Non-Executive Directors do not participate in decisions 
about their own remuneration.

The current fees were reviewed, but not increased, in April 
2012 and are currently at an annual base fee of £40,000 
with additional annual fees of £5,000 for the role of 
Chairman of the Audit or Remuneration Committees. 
Non-Executive Directors receive no other pay or benefits 
(other than the reimbursement of expenses incurred in 
respect of their duties as Directors of the Company). 

The fee payable to Mr Kitchen is £125,000.

exTernal appoinTmenTs
Executive Directors are permitted to take up one 
Non-Executive position on the Boards of other companies, 
subject to the prior approval of the Board. Any fee earned 
in relation to outside appointments is retained by the 
Executive Director. No such fees were paid during the 
financial year.
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2. audiTed informaTion 
direcTors’ emolumenTs (audiTed)

Fees
2012

£000

Base
salary

2012
£000

Performance6

bonus
2012

£000

Other
benefits

2012
£000

Total
emoluments

2012
£000

Pension
scheme

contributions
2012

£000

Total 
emoluments

2011
£000

Pension
scheme

contributions
2011

£000

Executive Directors 
H Platt1 – 337.4 303.7 75.6 716.7 – 694.1 54.6
(Chief Executive) 
G Clemett – 221.6 249.4 17.8 488.8 36.6 467.1 35.9
(Finance Director)
J Hopkins – 23.1 – 0.9 24.0 3.4 – –
(Executive Director)2

– 582.1 553.1 94.3 1,229.5 40.0 1,161.2 90.5
Non-Executive 
Directors
D Kitchen3 98.8 – – – 98.8 – – –
(Chairman)
A J Hales4 32.7 – – – 32.7 – 100.0 –
(Chairman)
B Cragg5 45.0 – – – 45.0 – 45.0 –
J Bywater5 45.0 – – – 45.0 – 45.0 –
J Hopkins2 37.7 – – – 37.7 – 32.8 –
R Dickinson – – – – – – 12.9 –

259.2 – – – 259.2 – 235.7 –
259.2 582.1 553.1 94.3 1,488.7 40.0 1,396.9 90.5

Notes:
1.  No employer pension contributions were be made to Mr Platt, but he received, instead, a cash allowance of £55,600 per annum in lieu of pension at no 

additional cost to the Company.
2.  Mr Hopkins was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 12 March 2012. Consequently, he received a fee for services as a Non-Executive Director 

up to 12 March 2012 and then a salary from this date. 
3.  Mr Kitchen was appointed a Director on 6 June 2011.
4.  Mr Hales retired from the Board at the AGM on 28 July 2011.
5. Messrs Cragg and Bywater received a fee of £5,000 for acting as chairman of the Audit and Remuneration Committee respectively.
6.  For 2011/2012 the Committee set a minimum deferral requirement of 25% of the bonus earned. Equivalent to £62,337 for Mr Clemett and £75,915 for  

Mr Platt.

Claims were brought against the Company by Patrick Marples, a former Director, for loss of office. In July 2011, the sum of 
£40,522 was paid to Patrick Marples without admission of liability in settlement of his claims and £119,478 (inclusive of 
VAT) was made towards his legal fees.

direcTors’ inTeresTs in shares
The beneficial interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company are set out below:

31 March 2012 31 March 20115

A J Hales1 975,689 7,805,555
Mr Kitchen2,3 37,500 Nil
H Platt3,4 503,490 4,027,919
G Clemett3 99,464 795,715
J Bywater3 3,899 31,190
B Cragg3 66,590 646,316
J Hopkins3 4,889 39,110

Notes:
1. Interest in shares for Mr Hales as at the date of his retirement on 28 July 2011 and adjusted for the impact of the share consolidation in August 2011.
2.  Mr Kitchen was appointed to the Board on 6 June 2011. He acquired shares on 26 July 2011 as part of the Rights Issue.
3. The shareholdings for each Director as at 31 March 2012 have been adjusted for impact of the Rights Issue and share consolidation in July and August 2011.
4. Mr Platt retired as a Director of the Company on 31 March 2012.
5. Not restated for the Rights Issue and share consolidation.

Directors’ interests in Incentive Plans and Share Options are disclosed on pages 67 and 68.

There have been no changes in the interests in the period between 31 March 2012 and 11 June 2012 although the interest  
in shares for Mr Hales is shown at the date of his retirement on 28 July 2011. 

direcTors’ remuneraTion  
reporT
continued
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supplemenTary informaTion on direcTors’ remuneraTion
long-Term equiTy incenTive plan 2008 (audiTed) 
Details of current awards outstanding to the Executive Directors are as follows:

Interests in shares as at 1 April 20111,9 
(post Rights-Issue adjustment) Lapsed during the year Interests in shares as at 31 March 2012

Date awarded Performance2 Invested3,5 Matching4 Performance Matching Performance Invested Matching

H Platt 13/06/20088 55,251 5,750 26,766 (55,251) (26,766)  – 5,750  –
12/06/20096 213,306 60,982 213,306 – – 213,306 60,982 213,306
06/07/20107 149,252 35,438 149,252 – – 149,252 35,438 149,252
04/08/2011 – – – – – 112,455 26,989 112,455

G Clemett 13/06/20088 35,957 3,778 17,419 (35,957) (17,419) – 3,778 –
12/06/20096 175,175 40,064 140,139 – – 175,175 40,064 140,139
06/07/20107 98,057 23,282 98,057 – – 98,057 23,282 98,057
04/08/2011 – – – – – 73,882 17,732 73,882

Notes:
1.  Awards will vest subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions detailed on page 63 over the three-year performance period.
2.  Performance Awards were made to the Executive Directors: In June 2008 in respect of 200% of their annual salary based on a share price at date of award  

of £1.644. In June 2009 in respect of 100% and 125% of annual salary for Harry Platt and Graham Clemett respectively based on a share price at date of 
award of 16 pence. In July 2010 in respect of 90% of annual salary based on a share price at date of award of 20.58 pence; In July 2011 in respect of 90% of 
annual salary based on a share price at date of award of 27 pence.

3.  The Executive Directors invested an amount equal to 50% of their net annual basic salary to purchase Invested Shares in June 2008. Any shares purchased  
by the Executive Directors during and since the Rights Issue were allowed to count towards investments for the Invested Shares subject to the normal cap 
on individual participation of 50% of net salary. The reference share price for determining this cap was 16 pence being the average share price for the three 
days preceding the date of grant of Matching Awards.

4.  Matching Awards were granted to participants who purchased Invested Shares or who used shares acquired during and since the Rights Issue as Invested 
Shares. The number of shares comprised in a matching award for Harry Platt and Graham Clemett, who pledged the maximum number of shares as 
Invested Shares, was calculated by dividing the participant’s gross salary by 16 pence. In 2010 and 2011, Executive Directors invested an amount equal to 
45% of their net annual basic salary in invested shares. Matching awards were granted to participants who purchased invested shares.

5.  Participants are entitled to dividends payable on the Invested Shares. The Invested Shares which are beneficially owned by participants are included in the 
table detailing Ordinary Shares held by Directors on page 66 of this Report.

6.  2009 awards were initially granted as conditional award of shares. On 8 December 2009 the Executive Directors elected to convert part of the awards into  
a combination of interest in shares beneficially held, and linked options over the same total value.

7.  For the 2010 awards, the Executive Directors elected to convert part of the awards into a combination of interest in shares beneficially held, and linked 
options over the same total value.

8.  The three year performance period of 2008 LTIP awards ended on 31 March 2011. The Remuneration Committee concluded that the performance conditions 
had not been satisfied and that the awards should therefore not vest and the awards therefore lapsed.

9. The number of shares at 1 April 2011 has been adjusted for the effect of the Rights Issue in July 2011 and share consolidation in August 2011.

share opTions (audiTed)
Outstanding Options for the Directors of the Company as at 31 March 2012, granted pursuant to the Company’s 2000 
Share Option Scheme:

Director
At

Granted 
during 

the year

Lapsed
during

the year
At

31/03/2012
Exercise Normal exercise date

Exercise terms
(see table
following)01/04/20116 price4 From To

H Platt 24,0301 – (24,030)  – £7.95 24.07.2004 24.07.2011 A
56,2991 – – 56,299 £8.66 29.07.2005 29.07.2012 B
37,4861 – – 37,486 £8.25 30.06.2006 30.06.2013 C
18,9491 – – 18,949 £13.16 30.06.2007 30.06.2014 C
11,2772 – – 11,277 £17.81 17.06.2008 17.06.2015 E
7,8693 – – 7,869 £1.15 01.09.2012 01.03.2013 D

G Clemett
7,8693 – – 7,869 £1.15 01.09.2012 01.03.2013 D

Total5 163,779 – (24,030) 139,749

Notes:
1. Options which have fully satisfied their performance criteria and vested.
2. Options granted in 2005 did not satisfy the performance condition in full and 25% of options have lapsed in previous years. 
3.  Options obtained under the Rules of the Group’s SAYE Scheme. All other options have been granted under the Rules of the Company’s Executive Share 

Option Schemes.
4. The exercise price has been adjusted for the effect of the Rights Issue in July 2011 and share consolidation in August 2011.
5.  The exercise price of all options that are currently exercisable is greater than the mid-market closing share price of Workspace ordinary shares on  

31 March 2012 and no profit would therefore arise upon exercise of any of these options.
6. The number of shares at 1 April 2011 has been adjusted for the effect of the Rights Issue in July 2011 and share consolidation in August 2011.
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The closing mid-market price of Workspace Group PLC ordinary shares at 31 March 2012 was £2.35. During the year, the 
price of the Company’s shares varied between £2.10 and £2.91 (adjusted for share consolidation).

deTails of The Basis of granT and The performance TesTs for exercise of opTions are:

Basis of grant Terms for exercise

A. 1 times total earnings EPS growth of RPI plus 3% p.a. compound
B. 2 times total earnings 1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 5% p.a. compound plus 1 times earnings 

at EPS growth of RPI plus 12% p.a. compound (pro rata)
C. 1 times salary EPS growth of RPI plus 5% p.a. compound
D. Per Inland Revenue Rules SAYE options with no terms for exercise
E. 2 times salary for Mr Clemett 

1 times salary for Mr Platt
NAV growth over three years in top quartile of listed real estate companies with 
market cap exceeding £300m.

Where the performance test is not fulfilled or is only partly achieved, no retesting in future periods is allowed.

There have been no changes in Directors’ interests over options in the period between the balance sheet date and  
11 June 2012.

deferred Bonus awards
As part of the bonus arrangements, share awards (conditional on continuous employment for a period of two years from 
grant) were made to the Executive Directors on 12 June 2009. Prior to the vesting date, 12 June 2011, these were 
converted into nil cost options. The period in which the option may normally be exercised will start on the vesting date, 
12 June 2011 and end on 12 June 2019, which is 10 years after the date of the original award.

Nil cost options as detailed below were awarded to Mr Platt and Mr Clemett. 

Name
Number of nil cost  

options awarded

Harry Platt 22,877*
Graham Clemett 17,080*

* Adjusted for Rights Issue and share consolidation.

esoT (audiTed)
In implementing its remuneration strategy, the Board established in 1999 an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT).  
The trust is used to purchase shares in the Company to meet its obligations under share plans. In July 2011 the trust took 
up its full rights under the Rights Issue of 2,437,580 shares at a cost of £560,643. Following the 1 for 10 share consolidation 
in August 2011 the trust now holds 1,218,802 shares. The market value of the ESOT holding at 31 March 2012 was £2.9m 
compared with a book cost of £8.7m.

The ESOT also holds 208,442 shares as bare trustee. 

By Order of the Board

John BywaTer
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
11 June 2012

direcTors’ remuneraTion  
reporT
continued
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sTaTemenT of direcTors’ responsiBiliTies
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the  
Group and the Parent Company financial statements  
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have prepared the Group financial statements  
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and 
the Parent Company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under 
company law, the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the 
Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors  
are required to:
–  select suitable accounting policies and then apply  

them consistently;
–  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable  

and prudent;
–  state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 

and applicable UK Accounting Standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements respectively; and

–  prepare financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will 
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as 
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the  
IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection  
of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance  
and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation  
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the current Directors, whose names and functions 
are listed on pages 40 and 41 and 46 to 56 of the Annual 
Report, confirms that, to the best of their knowledge:
–  the Group financial statements, which have been 

prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit of the Group; and

–  the Business Review on pages 26 to 31 includes a fair 
review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group, together with  
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face.

direcTors’ responsiBiliTies
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF WORKSPACE GROUP PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of 
Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2012 
which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
Consolidated Balance Sheet, Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
and the related notes. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union.

RESPECTIvE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS 
AND AUDITORS
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 69, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the group financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true  
and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the group financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us  
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared  
for and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to  
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements  
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether  
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, 
we read all the financial and non-financial information in 
the Annual Report and Accounts to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinion the group financial statements:
–  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s 

affairs as at 31 March 2012 and of its profit and cash 
flows for the year then ended;

–  have been properly prepared in accordance with  
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

–  have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and  
Article 4 of the lAS Regulation.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED By THE 
COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion:
–  the information given in the Report of the Directors  

for the financial year for which the group financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the group 
financial statements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REqUIRED TO REPORT 
By ExCEPTION
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report 
to you if, in our opinion:
–  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 

by law are not made; or
–  we have not received all the information and 

explanations we require for our audit; or
–  a corporate governance statement has not been 

prepared by the parent company.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
–  the directors’ statement, set out on page 42, in relation  

to going concern;
–  the part of the Corporate Governance Statement 

relating to the company’s compliance with the nine 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
specified for our review; and

–  certain elements of the report to shareholders by the 
Board on directors’ remuneration.

OTHER MATTERS
We have reported separately on the parent company 
financial statements of Workspace Group PLC for the  
year ended 31 March 2012 and on the information in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having 
been audited.

Bowker Andrews
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
11 June 2012
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

Notes
2012 

£m
2011 
£m

Revenue 1 67.3 68.8
Direct costs 1 (22.5) (22.9)
Net rental income 1 44.8 45.9
Administrative expenses 3 (10.2) (9.7)

34.6 36.2

Other income 2 – 0.1
Profit on disposal of investment properties 4(a) 0.9 2.8
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4(b) (0.1) –
Change in fair value of investment properties 11 35.6 30.8
Operating profit 3 71.0 69.9

Finance income 5 0.2 0.1
Finance costs 5 (19.3) (22.2)
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments 5 (4.6) 5.3
Gains/(losses) from share in joint venture 13 1.2 (0.3)

Profit before tax 48.5 52.8
Taxation 7 0.5 0.7
Profit for the year after tax and attributable to equity shareholders 49.0 53.5

Basic earnings per share (pence)† 9 36.3p 45.4p
Diluted earnings per share (pence)† 9 35.5p 44.4p
EPRA earnings per share (pence)† 9 11.9p 12.4p

† Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the Rights Issue and share consolidation as described in note 22.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIvE INCOME
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2012
£m

2011
£m

Profit for the financial year 49.0 53.5
Revaluation of owner occupied property – 1.2
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders 49.0 54.7

The notes on pages 75 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH

Notes
2012

£m
2011
£m

Non-current assets
Investment properties 11 759.3 713.4
Intangible assets 0.3 0.4
Property, plant and equipment 12 1.1 4.6
Investment in joint venture 13 12.3 6.7
Trade and other receivables 14 4.6 4.9

777.6 730.0
 
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 14 10.6 8.3
Cash and cash equivalents 15 26.5 2.3
Corporation tax asset 0.6 –

37.7 10.6

Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 17(a) – (3.2)
Derivative financial instruments 17(d) & (e) (14.2) (10.9)
Trade and other payables 16 (27.5) (28.0)

(41.7) (42.1)
Net current liabilities (4.0) (31.5)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17(a) (337.3) (363.8)
Other non-current liabilities 21 (0.9) (0.9)

(338.2) (364.7)
Net assets 435.4 333.8
 
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares 22 144.1 115.3
Share premium 59.2 25.0
Investment in own shares 24 (8.7) (8.0)
Other reserves 23 13.9 15.0
Retained earnings 226.9 186.5
Total shareholders’ equity 435.4 333.8
 
EPRA net asset value per share† 10 £3.08 £2.86

† Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the Rights Issue and share consolidation as described in note 22.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 11 June 2012 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

J Hopkins
G Clemett
Directors

The notes on pages 75 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITy

Attributable to owners of the Parent

Notes

Share
capital

£m

Share
premium

£m

Investment
in own shares

£m

Other
reserves

£m

Retained
earnings

£m
Total

£m

Balance at 1 April 2010 114.9 24.7 (7.2) 13.0 141.9 287.3
Profit for the year – – – – 53.5 53.5
Revaluation of owner 
occupied property 23 – – – 1.2 – 1.2
Total comprehensive income – – – 1.2 53.5 54.7
Transactions with owners:
Share issues 22 0.4 0.3 – – – 0.7
ESOT shares net purchase 24 – – (0.8) – – (0.8)
Dividends paid 8 – – – – (8.9) (8.9)
Share based payments 25 – – – 0.8 – 0.8
Balance at 31 March 2011 115.3 25.0 (8.0) 15.0 186.5 333.8
Profit for the year – – – – 49.0 49.0
Release of revaluation of owner 
occupied property 23 – – – (1.9) 1.9 –
Total comprehensive income – – – (1.9) 50.9 49.0
Transactions with owners:
Share issues 22 28.8 34.2 – – – 63.0
ESOT shares net purchase 24 – – (0.7) – – (0.7)
Dividends paid 8 – – – – (10.5) (10.5)
Share based payments 25 – – – 0.8 – 0.8
Balance at 31 March 2012 144.1 59.2 (8.7) 13.9 226.9 435.4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

Notes
2012

£m
2011
£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 19 35.8 37.9
Interest received 0.1 0.1
Interest paid (18.5) (21.9)
Tax paid (0.1) (2.1)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 17.3 14.0

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure on investment properties (18.3) (9.4)
Net proceeds from disposal of investment properties 8.8 43.9
Purchase of intangible assets (0.1) (0.2)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (0.7) (0.4)
Net proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3.8 –
Investment in and loan to joint venture 13 (4.8) (7.4)
Movement in short-term funding balances with joint venture (0.1) 0.6
Distributions received from joint venture 13 0.4 –
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (11.0) 27.1

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 22 66.3 –
Fees paid on share issue 22 (3.3) –
Finance costs for new/amended borrowing facilities 20 (2.2) (3.8)
Settlement and re-couponing of derivative financial instruments (1.3) (6.5)
Repayment of bank borrowings 20 (25.5) (17.3)
Movement on bank facility rental income accounts (1.7) (5.0)
ESOT shares purchase (0.7) (0.8)
Finance lease principal payments – (0.2)
Dividends paid 8 (10.5) (8.2)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 21.1 (41.8)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27.4 (0.7)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 19 (0.9) (0.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 26.5 (0.9)

The notes on pages 75 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Workspace Group PLC (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries 
(together ‘the Group’) are engaged in property investment 
in the form of letting of business accommodation to new 
and growing enterprises across London.

The Company is a public limited company which is listed 
on the London Stock Exchange and is incorporated and 
domiciled in the UK.

The registered number of the Company is 2041612.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements are presented in Sterling, which 
is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s 
presentational currency and have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations as adopted by 
the European Union and with those parts of the Companies 
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation  
of investment properties, owner occupied property and 
derivative financial instruments.

SIGNIFICANT jUDGEMENTS, KEy ASSUMPTIONS 
AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires the use 
of estimates and judgements that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, 
event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from 
those estimates.

The Group’s significant accounting policies are stated 
below. Not all of these accounting policies require 
management to make subjective or complex judgements. 
The following is intended to provide an understanding of 
the policies that management consider critical because  
of the level of judgement or estimation involved in their 
application and their impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

INvESTMENT PROPERTy vALUATION
The Group uses the valuation performed by its 
independent valuers as the fair value of its investment 
properties. The valuation is based upon assumptions 
including estimated rental values, future rental income, 
anticipated maintenance costs, future development costs 
and the appropriate discount rate. The valuers also make 
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for 
similar properties.

TRADE RECEIvABLES
The Group is required to judge when there is sufficient 
objective evidence to require the impairment of individual 
trade receivables. It does this on the basis of the age of  
the relevant receivables, external evidence of the credit 
status of the receivable entity and the status of any 
disputed amounts.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REAL ESTATE INvESTMENT 
TRUST (REIT) REGIME
The Group is a Real Estate Investment Trust (Group REIT). 
In order to achieve and retain Group REIT status, several 
entrance tests had to be met and certain ongoing criteria 
must be maintained. The main criteria are as follows: 

–  at the start of each accounting period, the assets of  
the tax exempt business must be at least 75% of the 
total value of the Group’s assets

–  at least 75% of the Group’s total profits each year  
must arise from the tax exempt business

–  at least 90% of the taxable profit of the property  
rental business must be distributed

–  the Group must take reasonable steps to avoid  
payment of dividends to an entity controlling  
(directly or indirectly) 10% or more of the voting  
rights of Workspace Group PLC.

The Directors intend that the Group should continue as  
a Group REIT for the foreseeable future, with the result  
that deferred tax is no longer recognised on temporary 
differences and valuations relating to the property rental 
business and relevant property rental income is treated as 
exempt from taxation.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements  
are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all years presented unless stated otherwise:

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the  
financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary 
undertakings up to 31 March 2012. Subsidiaries are entities 
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences to the 
date control ceases.

Inter company transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
from intra group transactions are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

75

Review of opeRations 01-38 
GoveRnance 39-69
Financial statements 70-103
shaReholdeR infoRmation 104



INvESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment properties are those properties owned or 
leased under a finance lease by the Group that are held  
to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both 
and are not occupied by the Company or subsidiaries  
of the Group.

Land or buildings held under operating leases are  
classified and accounted for as investment properties 
where the rest of the definition of investment property is 
met. The operating lease is accounted for as if it were a 
finance lease.

Investment property is measured initially at cost,  
including related transaction costs. After initial  
recognition investment property is held at fair value based 
on a valuation by a professional external valuer at each 
reporting date. Changes in fair value of investment 
property at the reporting date are recorded in the 
income statement.

Properties are treated as acquired at the point the Group 
assumes the significant risks and rewards of ownership and 
are treated as disposed when these are transferred outside 
of the Group’s control.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying 
amount only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the 
Group, and the cost of each item can be reliably measured. 
Certain internal staff costs directly attributable to capital/
redevelopment projects are capitalised. All other repairs 
and maintenance costs are charged to the income 
statement during the period in which they are incurred.

Existing investment property which undergoes 
redevelopment for continued future use as investment 
property remains in investment property. Capitalised 
interest on the redevelopment expenditure is added to the 
asset’s carrying amount. Borrowing costs capitalised are 
calculated by reference to the actual interest rate payable 
on borrowings, or if financed out of general borrowings  
by reference to the average rate payable on funding the 
assets employed by the Group and applied to the direct 
expenditure on the property undergoing redevelopment. 
Interest is capitalised from the date of commencement  
of the redevelopment activity until the date when 
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the 
asset for its intended use are complete.

Investment properties are recognised as ‘assets held for 
sale’ when it is considered highly probable that sale 
completion will take place.

Income for the sale of assets is recognised when the 
significant risks and returns have been transferred to the 
buyer. In the case of sales of properties this is generally 
taken on completion. Where any aspect of consideration 
is conditional then the revenue associated with that 
conditional item is valued and included as 
deferred consideration.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Acquired computer software licences and external costs  
of implementing or developing computer software 
programmes and websites are capitalised. These costs are 
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 5 years on a 
straight line basis. Intangibles are stated at historical cost.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense as they fall due.

PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT
Land and Buildings
Land and buildings within property, plant and equipment 
related to the owner occupied building of Magenta House 
which was sold during the year. The Group had adopted 
the revaluation model to show this asset category at fair 
value less subsequent depreciation for buildings.

Equipment and Fixtures
Equipment and fixtures (including motor vehicles) are 
stated at historical purchase cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Historical cost includes the original purchase 
price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the 
asset to its working condition for its intended use.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with  
the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of  
each item can be reliably measured. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are charged to the income statement 
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided using the straight line method  
to allocate the cost less estimated residual value over the 
asset’s estimated useful lives which range from 4-10 years.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed 
and adjusted, if appropriate, at least at each financial  
year end. An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
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jOINT vENTURES
Joint ventures are those entities over which the Group, 
either directly or indirectly, is in a position to jointly control 
the financial and operating policies of the entity. Joint 
ventures are accounted for under the equity method 
whereby the consolidated financial statements include  
the Group’s investment in and contribution from the 
joint venture.

FINANCE LEASES
Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised 
at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value 
of the leased property and the net present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental 
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in current 
and non current borrowings. Each lease payment is 
allocated between liability and finance charges so as to 
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. 
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the 
income statement. The investment properties acquired 
under finance leases are subsequently carried at fair value.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvABLES
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at cost less provision  
for impairment where it is established there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivable. The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows. The provision is recorded  
in the income statement.

Other receivables include bank facility rental income 
accounts from which interest to lenders is paid.

TRADE AND OTHER PAyABLES
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.

CASH AND CASH EqUIvALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, restricted 
cash in the form of tenants’ deposits, deposits held on call 
with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less. Bank 
overdrafts are included within cash and cash equivalents 
for the purpose of the cash flow statement.

BORROWINGS
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost, with any difference between  
the initial amount (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value being recognised in the income 
statement over the period of the borrowings, using the 
effective interest method, except for interest capitalised  
on redevelopments.

DERIvATIvE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group enters into derivative transactions such as 
interest rate caps and swaps in order to manage its interest 
rate risk. Financial derivatives are recorded at fair value 
calculated by valuation techniques based on market prices, 
estimated future cash flows and forward interest rates. 
Movements in fair value are recognised in the Income 
Statement within total finance costs. Amounts payable or 
receivable under such arrangements are included within 
interest payable or receivable, recognised on an 
accruals basis.

SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown  
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

INvESTMENT IN OWN SHARES
The Group operates an Employee Share Ownership Trust 
(ESOT). When the Group funds the ESOT in order to 
purchase Company shares, the loan is deducted from 
shareholders’ equity as investment in own shares.

OPERATING SEGMENTS
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the 
person or group that allocates resources to and assesses 
the performance of the operating segments of an entity. 
The Group has determined that its chief operating decision 
maker is the Executive Committee of the Company. The 
Group considers that it has only one operating segment 
being a single portfolio of commercial property providing 
business accommodation for rent in London. Discrete 
financial information is provided to the chief operating 
decision maker on a property by property basis, including 
rental income and direct costs and valuation gains 
or losses.
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REvENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue comprises rental income, service charges and 
other sums receivable from the Group’s investment 
properties. Other sums comprise insurance charges, 
supplies of utilities, premia associated with surrender of 
tenancies, commissions, fees and other sundry income.

All the Group’s properties are leased out under operating 
leases and are included in investment property in the 
balance sheet. Rental income from operating leases is 
recognised in the income statement on a straight line basis 
over the lease term. When the Group provides incentives to 
its customers the incentives are recognised over the lease 
term on a straight line basis.

Service charges and other sums receivable from tenants 
are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the relevant service or transactions at the reporting date.

DIRECT COSTS
Direct costs comprise service charge and other costs 
directly recoverable from tenants and non recoverable 
costs directly attributable to investment properties and 
other revenue streams.

SHARE BASED PAyMENT
The Group operates a number of share schemes under 
which the Group receives services from employees as 
consideration for equity instruments (options) of 
the Group.

The fair value of the employee services received  
in exchange for the grant of options is recognised  
as an expense over the vesting period.

Fair value is measured by the use of Black-Scholes and 
Binomial option pricing models. The expected life used in 
the models has been adjusted, based on management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,  
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

PENSIONS
The Group operates a defined contribution pension 
scheme. Contributions are charged to the income 
statement on an accruals basis.

INCOME TAx
Current income tax is tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year and any prior year adjustment, and is 
calculated using tax rates that have been substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

DIvIDEND DISTRIBUTIONS
Final dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders 
are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are 
approved, while interim dividends are recognised 
when paid.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS  
AND GUIDANCE
a)  During the year to 31 March 2012 the Group adopted the 

following accounting standards and guidance. These 
either had no material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements or resulted in changes to presentation and 
disclosure only:

Standard or interpretation Content
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial 

liabilities with equity 
investments

Annual improvements 2010;  
Amendments to:
IFRS 3 Business combinations
IFRS 7 Financial instruments 

disclosure
IAS 1 Presentation of financial 

statements
IAS 24 (revised) Related party disclosures
IAS 27 Separate financial 

statements
IAS 34 Interim financial reporting

b)  The following standards and guidance are relevant  
to the Group but are not yet effective and are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
financial statements once adopted:

Standard or interpretation Content
IFRS 9 Financial instruments: 

classification and 
measurement 

Amendment: IFRS 7 Financial instruments: 
disclosures on transfers of 
financial assets

Amendment: IAS 12 Income taxes on deferred 
tax

Amendment: IAS 1 Financial statement 
presentation regarding 
other comprehensive 
income

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial 
statements

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosures of interest in 

other entities
IFRS 13 Fair value measurement
IAS 27 (revised) Separate financial 

statements
IAS 28 (revised) Associates and joint 

ventures
Amendment: IFRS 7 Financial instruments: 

disclosures, on offsetting 
financial assets and liabilities

Amendment: IAS 32 Financial instruments: 
presentation, on offsetting 
financial assets and liabilities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

1. ANALySIS OF NET RENTAL INCOME AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

2012 2011

Revenue
£m

Direct
costs

£m

Net rental
income

£m
Revenue

£m

Direct
costs 

£m

Net rental
income

£m
Rental income 50.2 (0.1) 50.1 52.0 (0.2) 51.8
Service charges 13.7 (16.2) (2.5) 13.8 (17.2) (3.4)
Empty rates and other non recoverables 0.6 (4.1) (3.5) 0.5 (4.1) (3.6)
Services, fees, commissions and 
sundry income 2.8 (2.1) 0.7 2.5 (1.4) 1.1

67.3 (22.5) 44.8 68.8 (22.9) 45.9

All of the properties within the portfolio are geographically close to each other and have similar economic features and 
risks and all information provided to the Executive Committee is aggregated and reviewed in total as one portfolio.  
As a result management have determined that the Group operates a single operating segment providing business 
accommodation for rent in London, which is continuing.

2. OTHER INCOME
2012

£m
2011
£m

Right of light and other damages compensation – 0.1

3. OPERATING PROFIT
The following items have been charged in arriving at operating profit:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Depreciation1,2 0.4 0.5
Staff costs (including share based costs) 10.7 9.9
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on investment properties 3.2 3.6
Trade receivables impairment1 0.4 0.2
Amortisation of intangibles2 0.1 0.2
Operating lease rentals payable 0.1 0.1
Audit fees payable to the Group’s auditors3 0.2 0.2

1.   Charged to direct costs.
2.  Charged to administrative expenses.
3.  Services provided by the Group’s Auditors – PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Analysis of audit and non-audit services:
2012

£000
2011

£000

Audit services:
Audit of Group and Company financial statements 125 123
Audit of subsidiary financial statements 28 28

153 151
Non-audit services:
Group interim review 32 32
Rights issue 200 –
Taxation and legal services 158 123
Other services 70 4

613 310

Total administrative expenses are analysed below:
2012

£m
2011
£m

Staff costs 5.8 5.4
Cash settled share based costs 0.2 0.3
Equity settled share based costs 0.8 0.8
Other 3.4 3.2

10.2 9.7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
continued

4. PROFIT/LOSS ON DISPOSAL
(A). PROFIT ON DISPOSAL OF INvESTMENT PROPERTIES

2012
£m

2011
£m

Gross proceeds from sale of investment properties 9.0 44.3
Book value at time of sale plus sale costs (7.8) (41.1)

1.2 3.2
Unrealised profit on sale of properties to joint venture – (0.4)
Revaluation of deferred consideration (0.3) –
Pre-tax profit on sale 0.9 2.8

(B). LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT
2012 

£m
2011
£m

Gross proceeds from sale of the Group’s former head office building 3.9 –
Book value at time of sale plus sale costs (4.0) –

(0.1) –

5. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS
2012

£m
2011
£m

Interest income on bank deposits 0.2 –
Interest income on corporation tax refunds – 0.1
Finance income 0.2 0.1
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (18.3) (21.4)
Amortisation of issue costs of bank loans (1.2) (0.8)
Interest payable on finance leases (0.2) (0.2)
Capitalised interest on property refurbishments 0.4 0.2
Finance costs (19.3) (22.2)
Change in fair value of financial instruments through the income statement (4.6) 5.3
Net finance costs (23.7) (16.8)

6. EMPLOyEES AND DIRECTORS

Staff costs for the Group during the year were:
2012

£m
2011
£m

Wages and salaries 8.3 7.5
Social security costs 1.0 0.8
Defined contribution pension plan costs (see note 30) 0.4 0.5
Cash settled share based costs 0.2 0.3
Equity settled share based costs 0.8 0.8

10.7 9.9

The monthly average number of people (including Executive Directors) employed during the 
year was: 

2012
Number

2011
Number

Executive Directors 2 2
Head office staff 66 67
Estates and property management staff 96 102

164 171

The emoluments and pension benefits of the Executive Directors is determined by the Remuneration Committee of  
the Board and are set out in detail in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 68. These form part of the 
financial statements.

7. TAxATION
2012 

£m
2011 
£m

Current tax:
UK corporation tax (0.5) –
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods – (0.7)
Total taxation credit (0.5) (0.7)
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The tax on the Group’s profit for the period differs from the standard applicable corporation tax rate in the UK (26%). The 
differences are explained below:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 48.5 52.8
Adjust (gains)/losses in joint ventures (1.2) 0.3

47.3 53.1
Tax at standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 26% (2011: 28%) 12.3 14.9
Effects of:
REIT exempt income (3.8) (4.5)
Changes in fair value not subject to tax as a REIT (8.0) (11.1)
Chargeable gains adjustments 0.8 –
Share scheme adjustments 0.2 0.2
Contaminated land relief (0.5) –
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods – (0.7)
Losses (brought forward)/carried forward (1.5) 0.5
Total taxation credit (0.5) (0.7)

The Group is a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT). The Group’s UK property rental business (both income and capital 
gains) is exempt from tax. The Group’s other income is subject to corporation tax.

The Group currently has £4.4m (2011: £6.0m) of tax losses carried forward calculated at a corporation tax rate of 24% 
(2011: 26%) which is the rate substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date following the March 2012 UK Budget 
Statement. These have not been recognised as an asset as they are unlikely to be utilised in the foreseeable future.  
Further reductions in the main rate of corporation tax to 22% by 1 April 2014 are expected to be enacted. If this rate  
had been applied to tax losses at the Balance Sheet date it would have reduced losses by £0.4m.

8. DIvIDENDS

Ordinary dividends paid
Payment

date
Per

share
2012

£m
2011
£m

For the year ended 31 March 2010:
Final dividend August 2010 4.85p* – 5.7

For the year ended 31 March 2011:
Interim dividend February 2011 2.66p* – 3.2
Final dividend August 2011 5.33p* 6.3 –

For the year ended 31 March 2012:
Interim dividend February 2012 2.93p 4.2 –
Dividends for the year 10.5 8.9

Less dividends settled in shares – (0.7)
Dividends – cash paid 10.5 8.2

*   The comparative dividends per share figures have been divided by 1.0319 to take account of the bonus element of the Rights Issue and by 0.1 to take 
account of the 1 for 10 share consolidation.

In addition the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2012 of 5.86p per 
ordinary share which will absorb an estimated £8.4m of revenue reserves. If approved by the shareholders at the AGM,  
it will be paid on 3 August 2012 to shareholders who are on the register of members on 13 July 2012. The dividend will  
be paid 50% as a Property Income Distribution (PID) and 50% normal dividend (non PID).
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9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings used for calculation of earnings per share:
2012

£m
2011
£m

Basic and diluted earnings 49.0 53.5
Change in fair value of investment property (35.6) (30.8)
Profit on disposal of investment properties (0.9) (2.8)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.1 –
Movement in fair value of derivative financial instruments 4.6 (5.3)
Group’s share of EPRA adjustments of joint venture (0.7) 0.3
EPRA adjusted earnings 16.5 14.9

Adjustment for non-recurring items – (0.8)
Adjusted underlying earnings 16.5 14.1

Earnings have been adjusted and calculated on a diluted basis to derive an earnings per share measure as defined by the 
European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) and an underlying earnings measure, with additional Company 
adjustments for non-recurring items.

Number of shares used for calculating earnings per share:
2012 

Number

2011 
Number 

restated*

Weighted average number of shares (excluding shares held in 
the ESOT) 134,902,483 117,962,202
Dilution due to share option schemes 3,183,215 2,607,785
Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 138,085,698 120,569,987

In pence: 2012
2011 

restated*

Basic earnings per share 36.3p 45.4p
Diluted earnings per share 35.5p 44.4p
EPRA earnings per share 11.9p 12.4p
Underlying earnings per share 11.9p 11.7p

*   The comparative number of shares and earnings per share figures have been restated to take account of the bonus element of the Rights Issue  
(adjustment factor of 1.0319) and the 1 for 10 share consolidation. See note 22 for further details of the Rights Issue and share consolidation.

10. NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets used for calculating net assets per share:
2012

£m
2011
£m

Net assets at end of year (basic) 435.4 333.8
Derivative financial instruments at fair value 14.2 10.9
EPRA net assets 449.6 344.7

Number of shares used for calculating net assets per share:
2012

Number

2011
Number

restated* 

Shares in issue at year-end 144,091,418 118,946,481
Less ESOT shares at year-end (1,218,802) (1,006,103)
Number of shares for calculating basic net assets per share 142,872,616 117,940,378
Dilution due to share option schemes 3,304,176 2,781,890
Number of shares for calculating diluted adjusted net assets per share 146,176,792 120,722,268

2012
2011

restated*

EPRA net assets per share £3.08 £2.86

*   The comparative number of shares and NAV figures have been restated to take account of the bonus element of the Rights Issue (adjustment factor of 
1.0319) and the 1 for 10 share consolidation. See note 22 for further details of the rights issue and share consolidation.

Net assets have been adjusted and calculated on a diluted basis to derive a net asset per share measure as defined by  
the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) to derive a net asset value (EPRA NAV) measure.
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11. INvESTMENT PROPERTIES
2012
 £m

2011
£m

Balance at 1 April 713.4 713.2
Capital expenditure 17.5 10.0
Capitalised interest on refurbishments 0.4 0.2
Disposals during the year (7.6) (40.7)
Depreciation on finance leases – (0.1)
Change in fair value of investment properties 35.6 30.8
Balance at 31 March 759.3 713.4

Capitalised interest is included at a rate of capitalisation of 5.2% (2011: 5.5%). The total amount of capitalised interest 
included in investment properties is £3.6m (2011: £3.2m).

Investment property includes buildings under finance leases of which the carrying amount is £3.5m (2011: £3.5m). 
Investment property finance lease commitment details are show in note 17(f).

vALUATION
The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March 2012 by the external valuer, CBRE Limited, a firm of 
independent qualified valuers. The valuations were undertaken in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors Valuation Professional Standards (2012).

The reconciliation of the valuation report total to the amount shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as non-current 
assets, investment properties, is as follows:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Total per CBRE valuation report 760.4 718.7
Deferred consideration on sale of property (note 14) (4.6) (4.9)
Owner occupied property – (3.9)
Head leases treated as finance leases under IAS 17 3.5 3.5
Total investment properties per balance sheet 759.3 713.4

12. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT
Owner 

occupied 
land
£m

Owner
occupied
 buildings

£m

Equipment
and fixtures

£m
Total

£m

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 April 2010 1.4 1.3 4.3 7.0
Additions during the year – – 0.4 0.4
Disposals during the year – – (0.2) (0.2)
Gain/(loss) on revaluation 1.5 (0.3) – 1.2
Balance at 31 March 2011 2.9 1.0 4.5 8.4
Additions during the year – – 0.9 0.9
Disposals during the year (2.9) (1.0) (0.1) (4.0)
Balance at 31 March 2012 – – 5.3 5.3

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 April 2010 – – 3.6 3.6
Charge for the year – – 0.4 0.4
Disposals during the year – – (0.2) (0.2)
Balance at 31 March 2011 – – 3.8 3.8
Charge for the year – – 0.4 0.4
Balance at 31 March 2012 – – 4.2 4.2

Net book amount at 31 March 2012 – – 1.1 1.1
Net book amount at 31 March 2011 2.9 1.0 0.7 4.6

As permitted by IAS 16 ‘Property, plant & equipment’ the Group’s owner occupied property (land and buildings) was 
included at valuation at 31 March 2011. The land and buildings were sold during the year (see note 4(b)).
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13. jOINT vENTURES
BLACKROCK WORKSPACE PROPERTy TRUST
On 23 February 2011 the Company entered into an arrangement with the BlackRock UK Property Fund by creating a 
Jersey property unit trust. The Group holds a 20.1% interest in the trust (BlackRock Workspace Property Trust) whose aim 
is to build a £100m fund of office and industrial property in and around London. The Company is the property manager 
with significant delegated powers including responsibility for asset management and recommending acquisitions and 
disposals. Transactions between the Group and the joint venture are on an arm’s length basis. This joint venture has been 
equity accounted for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s investment in the joint venture represents:
31 March 2012

£m
31 March 2011

£m

Balance at 1 April 6.7 –
Cash investment 4.8 7.4
Unrealised surplus on sale of properties to joint venture – (0.4)
Share of gains/(losses) 1.2 (0.3)
Distributions received (0.4) –
Balance at 31 March 12.3 6.7

The Group’s 20.1% share of the joint venture assets and liabilities is shown below:
31 March 2012

£m
31 March 2011

£m

Investment properties 12.4 7.1
Current assets 0.7 0.3
Current liabilities (0.4) (0.3)
Net assets 12.7 7.1
Unrealised surplus on sale of properties to joint venture (0.4) (0.4)
Investment in joint venture 12.3 6.7

The Group’s 20.1% share of the joint venture revenues and expenses is shown below:
Year ended

31 March 2012
£m

Period ended
31 March 2011

£m

Revenue 0.9 0.1
Direct costs (0.3) –
Net rental income 0.6 0.1
Administrative expenses (0.1) –
Change in fair value of investment properties 0.7 (0.3)
Set up costs – (0.1)
Profit/(loss) before tax 1.2 (0.3)
Taxation – –
Profit/(loss) after tax 1.2 (0.3)
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvABLES

Non-current trade and other receivables
2012

£m
2011
£m

Deferred consideration on sale of investment property 4.6 4.9

The non-current receivable relates to deferred consideration arising on the sale of the Thurston Road site in February 
2010. The value of this receivable has been fair valued by CBRE Limited on the basis of market value as at 31 March 2012, 
using appropriate discount rates, and will be revalued on a regular basis. The change in value is charged/credited to the 
income statement.

Current trade and other receivables
2012

£m
2011
£m

Trade receivables 2.5 2.4
Less provision for impairment of receivables (0.6) (0.5)
Trade receivables – net 1.9 1.9
Prepayments and accrued income 2.0 1.4
Bank facility rental income accounts 6.7 5.0

10.6 8.3

There is no material difference between the above amounts and their fair values due to the short-term nature of the 
receivables. Trade receivables are impaired when there is evidence that the amounts may not be collectable under the 
original terms of the receivable. All the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in sterling.

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are shown below:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Balance at 1 April 0.5 0.5
Provision for receivables impairment 0.4 0.2
Receivables written off during the year (0.3) (0.2)
Balance at 31 March 0.6 0.5

As at 31 March 2012, the ageing of trade receivables past due but not impaired was as follows:

Total
2012

£m

Impaired
2012

£m

Not impaired
2012

£m

Total
2011
£m

Impaired
2011
£m

Not impaired
2011
£m

Up to 3 months past due 1.8 (0.2) 1.6 1.6 (0.1) 1.5
3 to 6 months past due 0.3 (0.1) 0.2 0.2 (0.1) 0.1
Over 6 months past due 0.4 (0.3) 0.1 0.6 (0.3) 0.3

2.5 (0.6) 1.9 2.4 (0.5) 1.9

The trade receivables balance is deemed to be all past due as rental payments are due on demand. Trade receivables that 
are not impaired are expected to be fully recovered as there is no recent history of default or indications that debtors will 
not meet their obligations. Impaired receivables are provided against based on expected recoverability.
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15. CASH AND CASH EqUIvALENTS
2012

£m
2011
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 24.5 0.2
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds 2.0 2.1

26.5 2.3

Tenants’ deposit deeds represent returnable cash security deposits received from tenants and are ring-fenced under the 
terms of the individual lease contracts.

Bank overdrafts are included within cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement (see note 19).

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAyABLES
2012

£m
2011
£m

Trade payables 1.9 1.9
Other tax and social security payable 1.5 1.4
Tenants’ deposit deeds (see note 15) 2.0 2.1
Tenants’ deposits 8.0 7.6
Accrued expenses and deferred income 10.4 11.2
Amounts due to related parties 0.5 0.6
Deferred income-rent and service charges 3.2 3.2

27.5 28.0

There is no material difference between the above amounts and their fair values due to the short-term nature of the 
payables.

17. BORROWINGS
(A) BALANCES

2012
£m

2011
£m

Current
Bank loans and overdrafts due within one year or on demand (secured) – 3.2

– 3.2
Non-current
Bank loans (secured) 333.8 360.3
Finance lease obligations (part secured) 3.5 3.5

337.3 363.8
337.3 367.0

The secured loans and overdraft facility are secured on investment properties with balance sheet values totalling £741.1m 
(2011: £692.4m).

(B) MATURITy
2012

£m
2011
£m

Secured (excluding finance leases)
Repayable in less than one year – 3.2
Repayable between one year and two years – 95.5
Repayable between two years and three years 68.0 –
Repayable between three years and four years 270.0 68.0
Repayable between four years and five years – 200.0

338.0 366.7
Less cost of raising finance (4.2) (3.2)

333.8 363.5
Finance leases (part secured)
Repayable in five years or more 3.5 3.5

337.3 367.0
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(C) INTEREST RATE AND REPAyMENT PROFILE
Principal 

£m
Interest

rate
Interest
payable Repayable

Current
Bank overdraft due within one year or on 
demand – Base +2.25% Variable On demand

Non-current
Loan – Bayern LB 200.0 LIBOR +2.25% Quarterly June 2015
Loan – Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS) 70.0 LIBOR +2.5% Quarterly June 2015
Loan – Bank of Scotland (BoS) 68.0 LIBOR +1.25% Quarterly December 2014

(D) DERIvATIvE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following interest rate derivatives are held:

 
Amount
hedged

£m

Rate payable
(or cap strike

rate)
%

Rate
Receivable

% Term/expiry

Interest rate swap 100.0 3.23% 3 month LIBOR to October 2012
Interest rate swap 70.0 4.00% 3 month LIBOR to October 2012
Interest rate swap 50.0 5.16% 3 month LIBOR to June 2013
Interest rate swap* 40.0 1.50% 3 month LIBOR to October 2012

Interest rate swap* 140.0 3.23% 3 month LIBOR
October 2012  
to June 2015

Interest rate swap 40.0 2.46% 3 month LIBOR
November 2012 

 to June 2015

Interest rate swap 30.0 2.03% 3 month LIBOR
November 2012 

 to June 2015
Interest rate cap 100.0 5.43% – to October 2012
Interest rate cap 15.5 5.00% – to October 2012

Interest rate cap 7.0 5.00% –
November 2012  

to June 2015

*  These swaps comprise three derivatives with different providers but with identical rates, payment dates and end dates.

The above instruments are treated as financial instruments at fair value with changes in value dealt with in the income 
statement during each reporting period.

(E) FAIR vALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2012

Book Value
£m

2012
Fair Value

£m

2011
Book Value

£m

2011
Fair Value

£m

Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft – – 3.2 3.2
Bank loans 333.8 333.8 360.3 360.3
Finance lease obligations 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5

337.3 337.3 367.0 367.0
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments:
Liabilities 14.2 14.2 10.9 10.9

The total change in fair value of derivative financial instruments recorded in the income statement was a loss of £4.6m 
(2011: £5.3m gain). This is net of £1.3m (2011: £6.5m) paid in the year to settle/re-coupon some instruments.

87

Review of opeRations 01-38 
GoveRnance 39-69
Financial statements 70-103
shaReholdeR infoRmation 104



17. BORROWINGS continued
The fair values of all the Group’s financial derivatives has been determined by reference to market prices and discounted 
expected cash flows at prevailing interest rates and are Level 2 valuations as defined by IFRS 7.

The different levels of valuation hierarchy as defined by IFRS 7 are set out below:

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date.
Level 2 – Use of a model with inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) that are directly or indirectly observable 
market data.
Level 3 – Use of a model with inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The total fair value calculated equates to 9.7p per share (31 March 2011: 9.0p restated).

(F) FINANCE LEASES
Finance lease liabilities are in respect of leased investment property.

Minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:
2012

£m
2011
£m

Within one year 0.2 0.3
Between two and five years 0.9 0.8
Beyond five years 21.5 21.7

22.6 22.8
Future finance charges on finance leases (19.1) (19.3)
Present value of finance lease liabilities 3.5 3.5

18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBjECTIvES AND POLICy
The Group has identified exposure to the following financial risks:
Market risk
Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Capital risk

The policies for managing each of these risks and the principal effects of these policies on the results for the year are 
summarised below:

(A) MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that changes in market conditions will affect the Group’s interest rates. Borrowings at variable rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and borrowings. The Group borrows at both fixed 
and floating rates of interest and then uses interest rate swaps and caps to generate the desired interest and risk profile. 
At 31 March 2012 77% (2011: 74%) of Group borrowings were fixed through the use of interest rate swaps.

All transactions entered into are approved by the Board and are in accordance with the Group’s treasury policy. The Board 
also monitors variances on interest rates to budget and forecast rates to ensure that the risk relating to interest rates is 
being sufficiently safeguarded against. Based upon year end variable rate loan balances, a reasonably possible interest 
rate movement of +/-0.5% would have increased or decreased net interest payable and equity by £0.4m (2011: £0.5m).
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(B) CREDIT RISK
The Group’s main financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions and trade 
and other receivables.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a tenant or a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Group’s exposure to this risk principally relates to the receivables from tenants and cash and cash 
equivalent balances held with counterparties.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk in relation to receivables from tenants is influenced mainly by the characteristics of 
individual tenants occupying its rental properties. The Group has approximately 4,000 tenants in approximately 100 
properties. The largest 10 single tenants generate only 6% of net rent roll. As such, the credit risk attributable to individual 
tenants is low.

The Group’s credit risk in relation to tenants is further managed by requiring that tenants provide a deposit equivalent to 
three months rent on inception of lease as security against default. Total tenant deposits held are £10.0m (2011: £9.7m). 
The Group also monitors aged debt balances and any potential bad debts every week, the information being reported to 
the Executive Committee every month for part of the performance monitoring process. The Group’s debtor recovery is 
consistently high and as such is deemed a low risk area.

Cash and cash equivalents and financial derivatives are held with major UK clearing banks or building societies in order to 
minimise any risk exposure in this area.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the reporting date was:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Cash and cash equivalents (note 15) 26.5 2.3
Trade receivables – current (note 14) 2.5 2.4
Other receivables – non current (note 14) 4.6 4.9

33.6 9.6

(C) LIqUIDITy RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure it will always have sufficient funds to meet obligations as they  
fall due. This is performed via a variety of methods including daily cash flow review and forecasting, monthly monitoring 
of the maturity profile of debt and the regular revision of borrowing facilities in relation to the Group’s requirements 
and strategy.

To ensure it can effectively manage its liquidity risk; the Group has an overdraft facility of £4m, a revolving loan facility  
of £55m and term loans. At 31 March 2012 headroom excluding overdraft was £55m (31 March 2011: £30m).

Cash flow is monitored formally on a monthly basis as part of internal performance monitoring with regular daily 
monitoring and forecasting undertaken to manage day to day cash flows and any balances which are ring-fenced by 
lenders. The Board reviews compliance with loan covenants which include agreed interest cover and loan to value ratios, 
alongside review of available headroom on loan facilities.
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18. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBjECTIvES AND POLICy continued
The following is an analysis of the contractual undiscounted cash flows payable under financial liabilities, derivative 
financial instruments and trade and other payables existing at the balance sheet date. Contracted cash flows are based 
upon the loan balances and applicable interest rates payable on these at each year end.

31 March 2012

Carrying 
Amount

£m

Due
within
1 year

£m

Due
between 

 1 and 2 years 
£m

Due
between

2 and 3 years
£m

Due
3 years

and beyond
£m

Total
contracted
cash flows

£m
Financial Liabilities
Bank overdraft – – – – – –
Secured bank loans (note 17b) 338.0 – – 68.0 270.0 338.0
Interest payable on secured bank loans – 10.7 10.7 10.7 2.8 34.9
Derivative financial instruments 14.2 7.2 7.1 5.5 3.5 23.3
Finance lease liabilities 3.5 0.2 0.4 0.5 21.5 22.6
Trade and other payables 24.3 24.3 – – – 24.3
Bank priority fee 0.9 – – 0.9 – 0.9

380.9 42.4 18.2 85.6 297.8 444.0

31 March 2011

Carrying 
Amount

£m

Due
within
1 year

£m

Due
between 

 1 and 2 years 
£m

Due
between

2 and 3 years
£m

Due
3 years

and beyond
£m

Total
contracted
cash flows

£m

Financial Liabilities
Bank overdraft 3.2 3.2 – – – 3.2
Secured bank loans (note 17b) 363.5 – 95.5 – 268.0 363.5
Interest payable on secured bank loans – 10.8 9.6 7.4 8.0 35.8
Derivative financial instruments 10.9 8.3 7.3 3.9 3.8 23.3
Finance lease liabilities 3.5 0.3 0.4 0.4 21.7 22.8
Trade and other payables 24.8 24.8 – – – 24.8
Bank priority fee 0.9 – – – 0.9 0.9

406.8 47.4 112.8 11.7 302.4 474.3

(D) CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and 
monitor an appropriate mix of debt and equity financing.

Equity comprises issued share capital and retained earnings and debt comprises drawings against revolving and term 
loan facilities from banks.

Actions taken in the last few years in relation to borrowings and capital raising have enabled the Group to have sufficient 
headroom on financing and to ensure it is comfortably within all applicable loan to value covenants applied on borrowings 
which range between 65% to 85%.
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19. NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Reconciliation of profit for the period to cash generated from operations:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Profit before tax 48.5 52.8
Depreciation 0.4 0.5
Amortisation of intangibles 0.1 0.2
Profit on disposal of investment properties (0.9) (2.8)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.1 –
Net gain from change in fair value of investment property (35.6) (30.8)
Equity settled share based payments 0.8 0.8
Change in fair value of financial instruments 4.6 (5.3)
Interest income (0.2) (0.1)
Interest expense 19.3 22.2
(Gains)/losses from share in joint venture (1.2) 0.3
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (0.7) 1.3
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 0.6 (1.2)
Cash generated from operations 35.8 37.9

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 24.5 0.2
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds 2.0 2.1
Bank overdrafts – (3.2)

26.5 (0.9)

20. ANALySIS OF NET DEBT
At 1 April

2011
£m

Cash flow
£m 

Non-cash
items

£m

At 31 March
2012

£m
Cash at bank and in hand 0.2 24.3 – 24.5
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds 2.1 (0.1) – 2.0
Bank overdrafts (3.2) 3.2 – –

(0.9) 27.4 – 26.5
Bank loans (363.5) 25.5 – (338.0)
Less cost of raising finance 3.2 2.2 (1.2) 4.2
Finance lease obligations (3.5) – – (3.5)

(363.8) 27.7 (1.2) (337.3)
Total (364.7) 55.1 (1.2) (310.8)
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21. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
2012

£m
2011
£m

Bank priority fee 0.9 0.9

This fee is payable to Bank of Scotland before the end of the term of the associated loan in December 2014.

22. SHARE CAPITAL
2012

Number
2011

Number

Issued: Fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each 144,091,418 1,152,731,338

2012
£m

2011
£m

Issued: Fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each 144.1 115.3

Movements in share capital were as follows:
2012

Number
2011

Number

Number of shares at 1 April 1,152,731,338 1,149,459,056
Issue of shares1 288,182,842 3,272,282
Share consolidation2 (1,296,822,762) –
Number of shares at 31 March 144,091,418 1,152,731,338

£m £m

Balance at 1 April 115.3 114.9
Issue of shares 28.8 0.4
Balance at 31 March 144.1 115.3

1.  Rights Issue:
   Under the terms of a fully underwritten Rights Issue, ordinary shareholders of the Company on the register at the close of business on 5 July 2011 were 

offered 288.2m new ordinary shares of 10p each at a price of 23p each on the basis of 1 new ordinary share for each existing 4 ordinary shares held. These 
shares were fully subscribed resulting in net proceeds of £63.0m, being gross proceeds on issue of £66.3m, less expenses of £3.3m. £28.8m is shown in 
share capital (above) with the balance of £34.2m taken to share premium account.

2.   Share consolidation:
   Under the terms of a share consolidation resolution, ordinary shareholders of the Company on the register at the close of business on 7 August 2011 were 

offered 1 share with a nominal value of £1.00 for each 10 shares with a nominal value of 10p.

23. OTHER RESERvES
Owner

occupied 
property

£m

Equity settled
share based

payments
£m

Merger
reserve

 £m
Total

£m

Balance at 1 April 2010 0.7 3.6 8.7 13.0
Revaluation gain 1.2 – – 1.2
Share based payments – 0.8 – 0.8
Balance at 31 March 2011 1.9 4.4 8.7 15.0
Share based payments – 0.8 – 0.8
Recycled to income statement (1.9) – – (1.9)
Balance at 31 March 2012 – 5.2 8.7 13.9

The revaluation gain on owner occupied property relates to the accounting policy to include owner occupied land and 
buildings at valuation rather than historic cost. This property was sold during the year and so the balance on the reserve 
has been recycled to the income statement.

The merger reserve was created in 2009 following the raising of equity through a cashbox share placing structure.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
continued

92

Workspace Group PLC  
Annual Report and Accounts 2012



24. INvESTMENT IN OWN SHARES
The Company has established an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) to purchase shares in the market for 
distribution at a later date in accordance with the terms of the 1993 and 2000 Executive Share Option Schemes, 
Co-Investment Plan and Long Term Equity Incentive Plan. The shares are held by an independent trustee and the rights  
to dividends on the shares have been waived except where the shares are beneficially owned by participants. During the 
year the Trust purchased 2,437,699 shares (before share consolidation) for a cash consideration of £0.7m. At 31 March 
2012 the number of shares held by the Trust totalled 1,218,802 (2011: 9,750,321 – not restated for share consolidation).  
At 31 March 2012 the market value of these shares was £2.9m (2011: £2.7m) compared to a nominal value of £1.2m 
(2011: £1.0m).

2012
£m

2011
£m

Balance at 1 April 8.0 7.2
Acquisition of ordinary shares 0.7 0.8
Balance at 31 March 8.7 8.0

25. SHARE-BASED PAyMENTS
The Group operates a number of share schemes:

I) LONG TERM EqUITy INCENTIvE PLAN (LTIP)
The LTIP scheme is a performance award scheme whereby shares are issued against three Group performance measures 
which are assessed over the three year vesting period. These are:
– Absolute TSR
– Relative TSR
– Relative NAV

Under the 2011 LTIP scheme 953,009 performance and matching shares were awarded in August 2011 to Directors and 
senior management (2010 LTIP scheme: 1,146,644 as restated). The Directors’ shares under these schemes are analysed  
in detail in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 67.

A binomial model was used to determine the fair value of the LTIP grant for the Absolute TSR and Relative TSR elements 
of the LTIP scheme.

Assumptions used in the model were as follows:

2012 2011*

Share price at grant 270p 204p
Exercise price (pence) Nil Nil
Average expected life (years) 3 3
Risk free rate 2% 1%
Expected dividend yield 4% 4%
Average share price volatility 55% 59%
Fair value per option – Absolute TSR element 177p 116p
Fair value per option – Relative TSR element 183p 126p

*  Restated where necessary for the effect of the Rights Issue and share consolidation in the year.

The relative NAV is a non-market based condition and the intrinsic value is therefore the share price at date of grant 
of 270p. At each balance sheet date, the Directors assess the likelihood of meeting the conditions under this element 
of the scheme. The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is recognised in the income statement with  
a corresponding adjustment to equity. The assessment at year end was that up to 50% of the relative NAV element 
will vest.
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25. SHARE-BASED PAyMENTS continued
The expected Workspace share price volatility was determined by taking account of the daily share price movement over 
a three year period. The respective FTSE 250 Real Estate share price volatility and correlations were also determined over 
the same period. The average expected term to exercise used in the models has been adjusted, based on management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural conditions and historical 
experience.

The risk free rate has been determined from market yield curves for government gilts with outstanding terms equal to the 
average expected term to exercise for each relevant grant. The expected dividend yield was determined by calculating 
the present value of expected future dividend payments to expiry.

II) EMPLOyEE SHARE SCHEMES
The Group operates a Save As You Earn (SAYE) share option scheme and an Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS)  
for which there have been no grants since 2008. Grants under ESOS are normally exercisable between three and ten 
years from the date of grant and normally granted at the market price ruling at the date of grant.

Grants of ESOS options made in 2006, 2007 and 2008 did not meet the required performance conditions and 
have lapsed.

Grants under the SAYE scheme are normally exercisable after three or five years saving. In accordance with UK 
practice, the majority of options under the SAYE schemes are granted at a price 20% below the market price ruling  
at the date of grant.

Details of the movements for the SAYE and equity-settled ESOS schemes during the year were as follows:

ESOS SAYE

Options outstanding Number*

Weighted
exercise 

price* Number*

Weighted
exercise 

price*

At 1 April 2010 519,234 £13.24 448,146 £1.18
Options granted – – 35,894 £1.66
Options lapsed (213,062) £17.22 (39,829) £1.39
At 31 March 2011 306,172 £10.46 444,211 £1.20
Options granted – – 39,475 £1.91
Options lapsed (115,001) £9.49 (85) £8.89
At 31 March 2012 191,171 £11.05 483,601 £1.26

*  The number of shares and exercise prices have been adjusted where necessary for the effect of the Rights Issue and share consolidation in the year.

Of the outstanding ESOS options at 31 March 2012 191,171 (2011: 306,172 as restated) were exercisable immediately. None  
of the SAYE options outstanding were available to exercise.
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At 31 March 2012 in total there were 674,772 (2011: 750,383 as restated) SAYE and ESOS share options exercisable on  
the Company’s ordinary share capital. Of these, 139,749 were Directors’ share options and are disclosed in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report. 535,023 options are held by employees who are not Directors and these are analysed below:

Non-Director options 
Date of grant Scheme

Exercise
price*

Ordinary
shares

Number* Exercisable between

29 July 2002 ESOS £8.66 8,925 29.07.2005 29.07.2012
30 June 2003 ESOS £8.25 18,950 30.06.2006 30.06.2013
30 June 2004 ESOS £13.16 14,624 30.06.2007 30.06.2014
17 June 2005 ESOS £17.81 16,401 17.06.2008 17.06.2015
1 September 2005 ESOS £19.37 8,260 01.09.2008 01.09.2015

Exercisable between

22 July 2008 SAYE £8.89 366 01.09.2013 01.03.2014
21 July 2009 SAYE £1.15 304,216 01.09.2012 01.03.2013
21 July 2009 SAYE £1.15 87,913 01.09.2014 01.03.2015
20 July 2010 SAYE £1.66 32,910 01.09.2013 01.03.2014
20 July 2010 SAYE £1.66 2,983 01.09.2015 01.03.2016
14 December 2011 SAYE £1.91 39,475 01.02.2015 01.08.2015
Total 535,023

*  The number of shares and exercise prices have been adjusted where necessary for the effect of the Rights Issue and share consolidation in the year.

The exercise of all options, other than those obtained under the Group’s Save As You Earn scheme, is dependent upon  
the Group achieving specified performance targets as disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 68.

The fair value of the SAYE share options granted during the year have been calculated using the Black-Scholes model. 
Inputs to the model are summarised as follows:

2012
SAYE

3 year

2012
SAYE

5 year

2011*
SAYE
3 year

2011*
SAYE
5 year

Weighted average share price at grant 229p – 204p 204p
Exercise price 191p – 166p 166p
Expected volatility 58% – 59% 54%
Average expected life (years) 3 – 3 5
Risk free rate 2% – 1% 2%
Expected dividend yield 4% – 4% 4%
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting 25% – 25% 25%

*  Restated where necessary for the effect of the Rights Issue and share consolidation in the year.

The expected life is the average expected period to exercise. The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK 
government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life. The expected dividend yield is based on the present 
value of expected future dividend payments to expiry.
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25. SHARE-BASED PAyMENTS continued
Fair values per share of these options were:

2012 2012 2011 2011*

Grant date
Fair value
of award Grant date

Fair value
of award

SAYE – 3 year 14 December 2011 85p 20 July 2010 74p
SAYE – 5 year – – 20 July 2010 79p

*  Restated where necessary for the effect of the Rights Issue and share consolidation in the year.

III) CASH SETTLED SHARE BASED PAyMENTS
National Insurance payments due on the exercise of non-approved ESOS options and shares from the LTIP and the 
Co-Investment Plan are considered cash settled share based payments.

The estimated fair value of the National Insurance cash settled share based payments have been calculated using the 
Black-Scholes model. At each balance sheet date the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement.

Inputs to the model for the grants during the year are summarised as follows:

2012 2011*

Share price at 31 March 235p 262p
Exercise price – –
Expected volatility 58% 59%
Term of option remaining (years) 2.3 2.2
Risk free rate 2% 1%
Expected dividend yield 4% 4%
Possibility of ceasing employment 10% 10%
Fair value of cash based payment per share 209p 233p

*  Restated where necessary for the effect of the Rights Issue and share consolidation in the year.

Iv) SHARE BASED PAyMENT CHARGES
The Group recognised a total charge in relation to share based payments as follows:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Equity settled share based payments 0.8 0.8
Cash settled share based payments 0.2 0.3

1.0 1.1

The total liability at the end of the period in respect of cash-settled share based schemes was £0.6m (2011: £0.4m).
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26. RELATED PARTy TRANSACTIONS
2012

£m
2011
£m

Transactions year ended 31 March:
Net investment into joint venture (note 13) 4.8 7.4
Fee income and recharges to joint venture 0.5 –
Distributions received from joint venture (note 13) 0.4 –
 
Balances with joint venture at 31 March:
Amounts payable to joint venture (note 16) (0.5) (0.6)

Key management for the purposes of related party disclosure under IAS 24 are taken to be the Executive Board 
Directors, the non-Board Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Directors. Key management compensation is 
set out below:

Key management compensation:
2012

£m
2011
£m

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 2.5 2.3
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 0.1 0.2
Share-based payments 0.4 0.5

3.0 3.0

27. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At the year end the estimated amounts of contractual commitments for future capital expenditure not provided for were:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Funding of joint venture 7.9 12.7
Purchases, construction or redevelopment of investment property 5.9 2.0
Repairs, maintenance or enhancement of investment property 0.5 1.5
Property, plant and equipment – 0.4

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITy
Upon restructuring of the former joint venture (Workspace Glebe) the Group entered into a proceeds sharing agreement 
with Workspace Glebe Limited’s lenders allowing the banks to share in any property disposal proceeds remaining after 
the repayment of the £68m debt and priority fee, and repayment to Workspace for the initial consideration of £15m, 
together with any qualifying capital expenditure incurred. All disposals are at the option of Workspace. This gives rise to a 
contingent liability based upon the deemed value liable under this proceeds sharing arrangement if all properties were 
disposed of at current market valuation.

At 31 March 2012 the proceeds sharing contingent liability assuming all properties were sold was calculated at £21.5m 
(2011: £15.8m). This is based on 31 March 2012 valuation of the former joint venture portfolio of £136m (2011: £117m).

The impact of this on EPRA NAV per share if the entire Workpsace Glebe portfolio were sold would be a decrease of 15p 
(2011: 13p). This liability will be reviewed at each six monthly valuation using the same basis to generate a contingent 
liability under this proceeds sharing arrangement.
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29. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARy UNDERTAKINGS
Except where indicated otherwise, the Company (incorporated in the UK) wholly owns the following active subsidiary 
undertakings incorporated in the UK, all of which are consolidated in the Group’s financial statements:

Name Nature of business

Workspace 11 Ltd Property Investment
Workspace 12 Ltd* Property Investment
Workspace 13 Ltd Property Investment
Workspace 14 Ltd* Property Investment
Workspace 15 Ltd Property Investment
Workspace 16 (Jersey) Ltd† Investor in joint venture
Workspace Glebe Ltd Property Investment
Glebe Three Ltd* Property Investment
Workspace Holdings Ltd Holding Company
LI Property Services Ltd Insurance Agents
Workspace Management Ltd Property Management
Anyspacedirect.co.uk Ltd Website Service
*  The share capital of these subsidiaries is held by other Group companies.
†  Company registered in Jersey.

A full list of subsidiary undertakings at 31 March 2012 will be appended to the Company’s next annual return.

30. PENSION COMMITMENTS
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those  
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge for this scheme in the year was £0.4m 
(2011: £0.5m) representing contributions payable by the Group to the fund and is charged through operating profit.

The Group’s commitment with regard to pension contributions range from 6% to 16.5% of an employee’s salary and 
employee contributions range from 3% to 12%. The pension scheme is open to every employee after three months’ 
qualifying service. The number of employees in the scheme at the year end was 98 (2011: 98).

31. OPERATING LEASES
The following future minimum lease payments are due under non-cancellable operating leases:

Motor vehicles and office equipment:
2012

£m
2011
£m

Due within one year 0.1 0.1
Due between two and five years 0.1 0.1

0.2 0.2

The Group has determined that all tenant leases are operating leases within the meaning of IAS 17. The majority of the 
Group’s tenant leases are granted with a rolling three month tenant break clause. The future minimum non-cancellable 
rental receipts under operating leases granted to tenants are as follows:

2012
£m

2011
£m

Within one year 18.0 20.3
Between two and five years 1.1 0.7
Beyond five years 0.9 0.7

20.0 21.7

32. POST BALANCE SHEET EvENTS
In April 2012 the Group sold Enterprise House, Hayes for £3.2m into a joint venture of which the Group holds a 50% share. 
The other 50% is held by Polar Properties Limited and the partners intend to develop the property into residential and 
commercial space.

In May 2012 the BlackRock Workspace Property Trust exchanged contracts for the purchase of a property, of which the 
Group’s share is £1.5m.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF WORKSPACE GROUP PLC 
(PARENT COMPANy)

We have audited the parent company financial statements 
of Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2012 
which comprise the Parent Company Balance Sheet and 
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

RESPECTIvE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND 
AUDITORS
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 69, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the parent company 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the parent company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for 
and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to  
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements  
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether  
the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent 
company’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the directors; 
and the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Group Annual Report and Accounts to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinion the parent company financial statements:
–  give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s 

affairs as at 31 March 2012;
–  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 

Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
–  have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED By THE 
COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion:
–  the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 

audited has been properly prepared in accordance  
with the Companies Act 2006; and

–  the information given in the Report of the Directors 
for the financial year for which the parent company 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
parent company financial statements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REqUIRED TO REPORT 
By ExCEPTION
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:
–  adequate accounting records have not been kept by 

the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 
have not been received from branches not visited by us; 
or

–  the parent company financial statements and the part  
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited  
are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

–  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

–  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

OTHER MATTER
We have reported separately on the group financial 
statements of Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 
31 March 2012.

Bowker Andrews
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
11 June 2012
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Notes
2012 

£m
2011
£m

Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings C 263.3 260.4

263.3 260.4
Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand 23.0 –
Debtors D 142.0 125.6

165.0 125.6
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year E (89.2) (102.2)
Net current assets 75.8 23.4
Total assets less current liabilities 339.1 283.8
Net assets 339.1 283.8

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital F 144.1 115.3
Share premium account F 59.2 25.0
Investment in own shares F (8.7) (8.0)
Merger reserve F 8.7 8.7
Share based payment reserve F 5.2 4.4
Profit and loss account F 130.6 138.4
Total shareholders’ funds 339.1 283.8

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 11 June 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

J Hopkins
G Clemett
Directors

The notes on pages 101 and 102 form part of these financial statements.

Workspace Group PLC
Registered number 2041612

PARENT COMPANy BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANy  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Although the Group consolidated financial statements are 
prepared under IFRS as adopted by the EU, the Workspace 
Group PLC Company financial statements are prepared 
under UK GAAP. The principal accounting policies of the 
Company which have been applied consistently 
throughout the year are set out below:

(A) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements are prepared on a going  
concern basis under the historical cost convention and in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable 
accounting standards in the UK. FRS 29 Financial 
Instruments – Disclosure (the UK GAAP equivalent  
of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosure) has been 
adopted by the Company, but the disclosure requirements 
are met in note 18 of the Group financial statements.

(B) CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption not 
to produce a cash flow statement as one is prepared for 
the Group financial statements.

(C) INvESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARy UNDERTAKINGS
Interests in subsidiary undertakings are carried in the 
Company’s balance sheet at cost less impairment. 
Impairment in subsidiaries is taken to the profit and 
loss account.

(D) SHARE BASED PAyMENT AND INvESTMENT  
IN OWN SHARES
Incentives are provided to employees under share option 
schemes. The Company has established an Employee 
Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) to satisfy part of its 
obligation to provide shares when Group employees 
exercise their options. The Company provides funding  
to the ESOT to purchase these shares.

The Company itself has no employees. When the Company 
grants share options to Group employees as part of their 
remuneration, the expense of the share options is reflected 
in a subsidiary undertaking, Workspace Management 
Limited. The Company recognises this as an investment  
in subsidiary undertakings with a corresponding increase 
to equity.

B. PROFIT FOR THE yEAR
As permitted by the exemption in Section 408 of the 
Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of the 
Company is not presented as part of these financial 
statements. The profit attributable to shareholders, before 
dividend payments, dealt with in the financial statements 
of the Company was £2.7m (2011: £1.1m).

Auditors’ remuneration of £10,000 (2011: £10,000) has 
been borne by a subsidiary undertaking.

Proposed dividends are disclosed in note 8 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

C. INvESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARy UNDERTAKINGS

Cost £m

Balance at 1 April 2011 307.5
Additions in the year 2.9
Balance at 31 March 2012 310.4

Impairment £m

Balance at 31 March 2011 and 2012 47.1

Net book value at 31 March 2012 263.3
Net book value at 31 March 2011 260.4

The Directors believe that the carrying value of the 
investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

Refer to note 29 to the consolidated financial statements 
for the list of subsidiary undertakings.

D. DEBTORS
2012

£m
2011
£m

Amounts owed by subsidiary 
undertakings 141.5 125.6
Prepayments and accrued 
income 0.2 –
Corporation tax payments on 
account 0.3 –

142.0 125.6

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are unsecured 
and repayable on demand. Interest is charged to subsidiary 
undertakings.

E. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN  
ONE yEAR

2012
£m

2011
£m

Amounts owed to subsidiary 
undertakings 88.8 101.8
Other taxation and social 
security payable 0.4 0.4

89.2 102.2

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are 
unsecured and repayable on demand. Interest is paid  
to subsidiary undertakings.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANy  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
continued

F. CAPITAL AND RESERvES
Movements and notes applicable to share capital, share 
premium account, investment in own shares, merger 
reserve and share based payment reserve are shown  
in notes 22, 23, 24 and 25 of the consolidated financial 
statements.

Profit and loss account: £m

Balance at 1 April 2011 138.4
Profit for the year 2.7
Dividends paid (10.5)
Balance at 31 March 2012 130.6

G. RECONCILIATION OF MOvEMENTS IN  
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

2012
£m

2011
£m

Profit for the financial year 2.7 1.1
Dividends paid (10.5) (8.9)
Issue of shares (net of costs) 63.0 0.7
Investment in own shares (0.7) (0.8)
Share based payments 0.8 0.8
Net movement in shareholders’ 
funds 55.3 (7.1)
Opening shareholders’ funds 283.8 290.9
Closing shareholders’ funds 339.1 283.8

H. RELATED PARTy TRANSACTIONS
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption 
under FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures not to disclose 
related party transactions with wholly owned 
subsidiary undertakings.

Related party transactions are the same for the Company 
as for the Group. For details refer to note 26 of the 
consolidated financial statements.
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31 March
2012

£m

31 March
2011
£m

31 March
2010

£m

31 March
2009

£m

31 March
2008

£m

Rents receivable 50.2 52.0 49.8 54.2 51.4
Service charges and other income 17.1 16.8 16.7 15.6 15.5
Revenue 67.3 68.8 66.5 69.8 66.9

Profit before interest including share of BWPT 35.1 36.3 35.3 38.4 37.0
Net interest payable^ (19.1) (22.1) (24.5) (28.4) (28.1)
Trading profit after interest (adjusted) 16.0 14.2 10.8 10.0 8.9

Profit/(loss) before taxation 48.5 52.8 26.0 (360.4) (37.0)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 49.0 53.5 24.2 (360.4) (34.7)
Basic earnings per share* 36.3p 45.4p 21.8p (1,304.5)p (147.4)p
Dividends per share* 8.79p 7.99p 7.27p 15.92p 33.21p
Dividends (total) 12.6 9.5 8.6 7.8 7.8
Investment properties 759.3 713.4 713.2 664.1 994.3
Less: net liabilities (11.1) (12.8) (39.5) (54.1) (16.1)
Less: net borrowings (312.8) (366.8) (386.4) (358.1) (441.4)
Net assets 435.4 333.8 287.3 251.9 536.8

Gearing 72% 110% 134% 142% 82%
Gearing on EPRA net assets 70% 106% 125% 129% 82%

Basic NAV per share* £3.05 £2.83 £2.43 £2.34 £22.71
EPRA NAV per share* £3.08 £2.86 £2.59 £2.58 £22.56

*   Earnings per share, dividends per share and net assets per share have been restated to reflect adjustment for the Rights Issue, in July 2011 and share 
consolidation in August 2011 and the Rights Issue in March 2009.

^  Excludes exceptional items.

KEy PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Workspace Group:

31 March
2012

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

31 March
2009

31 March
2008

Number of estates1 92 96 105 106 106
Lettable floorspace (m sq. ft.)n 1 5.0 5.1 5.5 5.0 5.2
Number of lettable units1 4,668 4,856 5,156 4,546 4,611
Average unit size (sq. ft.)1 1,070 1,049 1,067 1,099 1,118
Rent roll of occupied units1 £50.2m £48.9m £50.7m £50.8m £52.6m
Average rent per sq. ft.1 £11.79 £11.47 £11.22 £12.64 £11.88
Overall occupancy1 85.3% 83.6% 81.9% 80.3% 85.8%
Enquiries (number)* 12,103 11,535 12,109 10,515 9,414
Lettings (number)* 981 1,051 1,203 1,035 1,007

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust (BWPT):
31 March 

2012
31 March

2011

Number of estates 11 8
Lettable floorspace (m sq. ft.)n 0.4 0.3
Number of lettable units 313 281
Average unit size (sq. ft.) 1,407 1,147
Rent roll of occupied units £4.7m £3.1m
Average rent per sq. ft. £11.82 £10.57
Overall occupancy 89.8% 92.1%

n  Excludes storage space
1  Excluding BWPT which is shown separately
*  Including BWPT

FIvE-yEAR PERFORMANCE
2008 – 2012
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INvESTOR INFORMATION

The report and financial statements, share price 
information, Company presentations, Corporate 
Governance, contact details and other investor  
information on the Group are available at the  
investor website www.workspacegroupplc.co.uk.

Registrar
All general enquiries concerning ordinary shares  
in Workspace Group PLC, should be addressed to:

Computershare Services PLC
PO Box 82
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 7NH
Telephone: +44 (0) 870 707 1413

Alternatively, shareholders can contact Computershare 
online via their free Investor Centre facility. Shareholders 
have the ability to set up or amend bank details for direct 
credit of dividend payments, amend address details,  
view payment history and access information on the 
Company’s share price. For more information or to  
register please visit www-uk.computershare.com/investor

Registered office and headquarters
Chester House,
Kennington Park,
1-3 Brixton Road,
London, SW9 6DE. 

Registered number: 2041612

Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7138 3300
Facsimile: +44 (0) 20 7247 0157
Web: www.workspacegroupplc.co.uk
Email: info@workspace.co.uk

Company Secretary
Carmelina Carfora

The Company’s advisers include:

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
1 Embankment Place
London WC2N 6RH

joint Solicitors
Norton Rose
3 More London Riverside
London SE1 2AQ

Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London EC1Y 8YY

Bankers
The Royal Bank of Scotland
Corporate and Institutional Banking
280 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 4RB

Financial Advisers
N M Rothschild
1 King William Street
London EC4N 7AR

joint Stockbrokers
Espirito Santo Investment Bank
10 Paternoster Square
London EC4M 7AL

Investec
2 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7QP
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Workspace 
understands  
work space 

What we do 
Workspace provides business 
premises tailored to the needs 
of new and growing companies 
across London.
 
How we do it 
Workspace is dynamic, 
understands and adapts to  
the changing needs of these 
companies and aims to be  
the best in class. 

Where we do it 
Workspace owns over 100 
properties in London providing 
5.4 million square feet of space 
and is home to some 4,000 
businesses employing over 
30,000 people.

How we generate value 
Workspace, through its  
market knowledge, operational 
capability and customer 
relationships, can grow. 

Workspace can enhance both  
core operational income and 
capital values by repositioning 
specific property assets.

Workspace provides the  
right properties to attract  
its customers and the right 
services to retain them and  
help them grow.

Property list 
As at 31 March 2012

1 Acton Business Centre, NW10 6TD – West
2 Archer Street, W1D 7AZ – Central
3 Arches Business Centre, UB2 4AU – West
4 Artesian Close Industrial Estate,  

NW10 8RW – West
5 Artesian Land, NW10 8JP – West
6 Atlas Business Centre, NW2 7HJ – North
7 Avro & Hewlett House Havelock Terrace, 

SW8 4AS – South
8 Baldwins Gardens – Hatton Square,  

EC1N 7RJ – Central
9 Barratt Way Industrial Estate – Harrow, 

HA3 5TJ – West
10 Belgravia Workshops, N19 4NF – North
11 Bounds Green Industrial Estate,  

N11 2UL – North
12 Bow Enterprise Park, E3 3QY – East
13 Bow Exchange, E3 3QP – East
14 Buzzard Creek Industrial Estate,  

IG11 0EL – East
15 Canalot Studios, W10 5BN – West
16 Canterbury Industrial Park, SE15 1NP – South
17 Chandelier Building, NW10 6RB – 

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
18 Charles House, UB2 4BD –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
19 Chiswick Studios, W4 5PY – West
20 Clerkenwell Workshops, EC1R 0AT – Central
21 Creekside (Faircharm Trading Estate),  

SE8 3DX – South
22 Cremer Business Centre, E2 8HD – East
23 2 Cullen Way, NW10 6JZ – West
24 10 Cullen Way, NW10 7JF – West
25 E1 Business Centre, E1 6TD – Central
26 Enterprise Estate, Upper Ground &  

Hatfields, SE1 9PG – Central
27 Enterprise, Hayes, UB3 1DD – West
28 Europa Building, NW10 6ND –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
29 Exmouth House, EC1R 0JH – Central
30 Fairways, E10 7QT – East
31 Grand Union Centre, W10 5AS – West
32 Great Guildford Street, SE1 0HS – Central
33 Greenheath Business Centre, E2 6JL – East
34 Greville Street, EC1N 8SB – Central
35 Hamilton Road, SE27 9SF – South
36 Highbury Grove/Aberdeen Centre,  

N5 2EA – North
37 Highway Business Park, E1 9HR – East
38 Holywell Centre, EC2A 4PS – Central
39 Homesdale Business Centre,  

BR1 2QZ – South
40 Horton Road, UB7 8JD –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
41 Kennington Park, SW9 6DE – South  

– Like for like
42 Kennington Park, SW9 6DE – South  

– Refurbishment
43 Kingsmill Business Park, KT1 3AP – 

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
44 Ladbroke Hall, W10 6AZ – West
45 Leroy House, N1 3QP – North
46 Leyton Business Centre, E10 7QP – East
47 Leyton Studios, E10 7QE – East
48 Linton House, SE1 0LH – Central
49 Littleton House, TW15 1UU – West
50 Lloyds Avenue, EC3N 3AX –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
51 Lombard Business Centre, CR0 3JP – South
52 Long Island House, W3 0RG – West
53 Mahatma Ghandi, SE24 0JF – South

54 Mallard Place, N22 6TS – North
55 Maple Industrial Estate, TW13 7AW – West
56 Mare Street Studios, E8 3QE – East
57 Marshgate Centre, E15 2NH – East
58 Michael Manley, SW8 4TU – South
59 Morie Street, SW18 1SL – South
60 Pall Mall Deposit, W10 6BL – West
61 Park Royal Business Centre,  

NW10 7LQ – West
62 Park Royal House, NW10 7JH – West
63 28-30 Park Royal Road, NW10 7LF – West
64 Parkhall Business Centre, SE21 8EN – South
65 Parma House, N22 6XF – North
66 Pensbury Industrial Estate, SW8 4TL – South
67 Poplar Business Park, E14 9RL – East
68 Progress Park, CR0 4XD –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
69 Q West, TW8 0GP – West
70 Quality Court, WC2A 1HR – Central
71 Quicksilver Place, N22 6XH – North
72 Rainbow Industrial Estate,  

SW20 0JK – South
73 Redbridge Enterprise Centre, IG1 1TY – East
74 Riverside, SW18 4UQ – South
75 Rudolf Place, SW8 1RP –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
76 Southbank House, SE1 7SJ – Central
77 Spectrum House, NW5 1LP – North
78 Stratford Office Village, E15 4EA – East
79 Sundial Court, KT5 9RN – South
80 T Marchant, SE16 3DH – South
81 The Barley Mow Centre, W4 4PH – West
82 The Chocolate Factory, N22 6XJ – North
83 The Ivories, N1 2HY – North
84 The Leathermarket, SE1 3ER – Central
85 The Light Box, W4 5PY – West
86 The Shaftesbury Centre, W10 6BN – West
87 The Wenlock, N1 7EU – North
88 Thurston Road Industrial Estate,  

SE13 7SH – South
89 Toplin House, SW9 6BB –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
90 Tower Bridge Business Complex,  

SE16 4DG – South 
– Held for redevelopment/sale

91 Tower Bridge Business Complex,  
SE16 4DG – South 
– Like for like

92 Tower Bridge F Block, SE16 4DG – South
93 Union Court, SW4 6JP –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
94 Uplands, E17 5QN – East
95 Wandsworth Business Village,  

SW18 4JQ – South
96 Westbourne Studios, W10 5JJ – West
97 Westminster Business Square,  

SE11 5JH – Central
98 Westwood Business Centre,  

NW10 6NB – West
99 Whitechapel Technology Centre,  

E1 1DU – Central
100 Windmill Place, UB2 4NJ –  

BlackRock Workspace Property Trust
101 Zennor Road, SW12 0PS – South

Properties not shown on map
102 Clyde House, Maidenhead, SL6 8BR
103 Harlow Enterprise Centre, Harlow,  

CM20 2HS
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Why London:
London is the prime driver  
of uk economic growth and  
a global hub for business  
and culture.

It has the densest and most 
active population of new and 
growing businesses in the uk.

It has the highest rate of 
business start-ups anywhere  
in the uk.

Wholly owned  
portfolio: 

92
Total number of properties

5.0m
Total lettable floor area (sq. ft.)

BlackRock Workspace  
Property trust portfolio:

11
Total number of properties

0.4m
Total lettable floor area (sq. ft.)

our London network

 Workspace property
 River Thames
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      Net rent roll  
     Lettable  of occupied  
     floor area  units erV
property Name postcode category property uses sq. ft.† £000s £000s
south
Avro & Hewlett House Havelock Terrace SW8 4AS Like for like Business Space 58,281  530 624
Canterbury Industrial Park SE15 1NP Like for like Industrial 18,893  177 172
Creekside (Faircharm Trading Estate) SE8 3DX Like for like Industrial 105,614  442 627
Hamilton Road SE27 9SF Like for like Industrial 23,531  149 210
Homesdale Business Centre BR1 2QZ Like for like Business Space 13,768  103 177
Kennington Park – Like for like SW9 6DE Like for like Business Space 278,353  3,640 4,288
Kennington Park – Refurbishment SW9 6DE   Business Space 82,362  616 1,186
Lombard Business Centre CR0 3JP Like for like Business Space 67,243  487 623
Mahatma Ghandi SE24 0JF Like for like Industrial 16,750  152 180
Michael Manley SW8 4TU Like for like Industrial 5,800  73 76
Morie Street SW18 1SL Like for like Business Space 21,696  285 285
Parkhall Business Centre SE21 8EN Like for like Business Space 116,608  748 901
Pensbury Industrial Estate SW8 4TL Like for like Industrial 19,971  236 278
Rainbow Industrial Estate SW20 0JK Like for like Industrial 1,000  288 414
Riverside SW18 4UQ Like for like Business Space 99,501  950 961
Sundial Court KT5 9RN Like for like Business Space 26,107  250 274
T Marchant SE16 3DH Like for like Industrial 51,721  354 302
Thurston Road Industrial Estate SE13 7SH   Awaiting return  0  0 561 

   of commercial space
Tower Bridge Business Complex SE16 4DG  Industrial 134,277  581 617

– Held for redevelopment/sale
Tower Bridge Business Complex SE16 4DG Like for like Business Space 281,340  1,857 2,394

– Like for like
Tower Bridge F Block SE16 4DG  Industrial 141,881  176 652
Wandsworth Business Village SW18 4JQ   Awaiting return 0  0 1,210
    of commercial space
Zennor Road SW12 0PS Like for like Industrial 66,054  460 501
     1,630,751 12,555 17,514

West
Acton Business Centre NW10 6TD Like for like Industrial 50,361  542 620
Arches Business Centre UB2 4AU Like for like Business Space 40,725  285 311
Artesian Close Industrial Estate NW10 8RW Like for like Industrial 15,814  160 191
Artesian Land NW10 8JP Like for like Industrial 4,500  20 0
Barratt Way Industrial Estate – Harrow HA3 5TJ Like for like Industrial 48,507  264 397
Canalot Studios W10 5BN   Business Space 37,487  329 980
Chiswick Studios W4 5PY Like for like Business Space 14,253  182 167
2 Cullen Way NW10 6JZ Like for like Industrial 1,562  17 15
10 Cullen Way NW10 7JF Like for like Industrial 10,304  18 59
Enterprise, Hayes UB3 1DD   Business Space 89,433  172 352
Grand Union Centre W10 5AS   Business Space 52,700  485 612
Ladbroke Hall W10 6AZ Like for like Business Space 15,219  222 257
Littleton House TW15 1UU Like for like Business Space 41,716  270 308
Long Island House W3 0RG Like for like Business Space 29,983  240 247
Maple Industrial Estate TW13 7AW Like for like Industrial 18,210  249 241
Pall Mall Deposit W10 6BL Like for like Business Space 49,391  903 936
Park Royal Business Centre NW10 7LQ Like for like Business Space 30,347  281 349
Park Royal House NW10 7JH Like for like Business Space 0  0 89
28-30 Park Royal Road NW10 7LF Like for like Business Space 27,762  148 258
Q West* TW8 0GP Like for like Business Space 40,445  226 388
The Barley Mow Centre W4 4PH Like for like Business Space 75,567  1,386 1,475
The Light Box W4 5PY Like for like Business Space 71,161  889 1,079
The Shaftesbury Centre W10 6BN Like for like Business Space 12,604  182 229
Westbourne Studios* W10 5JJ Like for like Business Space 56,491  1,485 1,798
Westwood Business Centre NW10 6NB Like for like Industrial 47,416  351 396
     881,958 9,304 11,753
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Central  
London

Main image: Enterprise House, SE1 9PG
Inset: Quality Court, WC2A 1HR
Right: The Ivories, N1 2HY

      Net rent roll  
     Lettable  of occupied  
     floor area  units erV
property Name postcode category property uses sq. ft.† £000s £000s
central      
Archer Street W1D 7AZ Like for like Business Space 14,981  548 669
Baldwins Gardens – Hatton Square EC1N 7RJ Like for like Business Space 43,377  794 894
Clerkenwell Workshops EC1R 0AT Like for like Business Space 53,127  2,152 2,521
E1 Business Centre E1 6TD Like for like Business Space 40,343  587 702
Enterprise Estate, Upper Ground & Hatfields SE1 9PG Like for like Business Space 73,154  2,011 2,095
Exmouth House* EC1R 0JH Like for like Business Space 54,121  1,168 1,585
Great Guildford Street SE1 0HS   Business Space 92,972  1,026 1,595
Greville Street EC1N 8SB Like for like Business Space 10,961  333 497
Holywell Centre EC2A 4PS Like for like Business Space 21,794  378 397
Linton House SE1 0LH Like for like Business Space 34,173  649 740
Quality Court WC2A 1HR Like for like Business Space 16,984  669 1,020
Southbank House SE1 7SJ Like for like Business Space 62,327  1,274 1,581
The Leathermarket SE1 3ER Like for like Business Space 125,279  2,564 3,236
Westminster Business Square SE11 5JH   Business Space 62,891  799 909
Whitechapel Technology Centre E1 1DU   Business Space 34,467  421 856
     740,951 15,374 19,297
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north and  
east London

      Net rent roll  
     Lettable  of occupied  
     floor area  units erV
property Name postcode category property uses sq. ft.† £000s £000s
North
Atlas Business Centre NW2 7HJ Like for like Industrial 152,150  935 1,145
Belgravia Workshops N19 4NF Like for like Business space 32,324  289 331
Bounds Green Industrial Estate N11 2UL Like for like Industrial 123,417  624 830
Highbury Grove/Aberdeen Centre N5 2EA  Awaiting return 0  0 1,550
    of commercial space
Leroy House N1 3QP Like for like Business space 46,926  707 807
Mallard Place* N22 6TS Like for like Industrial 10,150  83 83
Parma House N22 6XF Like for like Business space 35,034  286 362
Quicksilver Place* N22 6XH Like for like Industrial 27,810  135 167
Spectrum House NW5 1LP Like for like Business space 46,488  561 564
The Chocolate Factory N22 6XJ Like for like Business space 119,027  822 1,115
The Ivories N1 2HY Like for like Business space 24,805  395 374
The Wenlock N1 7EU Like for like Business space 27,947  569 630
     646,078 5,406 7,958

east
Stratford Office Village E15 4EA Like for like Business space 52,055  786 877
Bow Enterprise Park E3 3QY  Industrial 77,417  556  604
Bow Exchange E3 3QP Like for like Business space 37,086  273 323
Buzzard Creek Industrial Estate* IG11 0EL Like for like Industrial 45,000  280 310
Cremer Business Centre E2 8HD Like for like Business space 41,364  474 540
Fairways E10 7QT Like for like Industrial 47,091  273 367
Greenheath Business Centre* E2 6JL  Business space 45,831  88 292
Highway Business Park E1 9HR Like for like Industrial 19,969  274 273
Leyton Business Centre E10 7QP  Industrial 119,476  406 585
Leyton Studios* E10 7QE Like for like Industrial 18,962  100 121
Mare Street Studios E8 3QE Like for like Business space 39,443  401 442
Marshgate Centre E15 2NH Like for like Industrial 92,674  433 488
Poplar Business Park* E14 9RL Like for like Industrial 74,777  1,178 1,273
Redbridge Enterprise Centre IG1 1TY Like for like Industrial 20,064  168 235
Uplands E17 5QN Like for like Industrial 280,497  1,348 1,604
     1,011,706 7,038 8,335



Outside London

BlackRock Workspace Joint Venture

Workspace Group pLc
Chester House, Kennington Park,  
1-3 Brixton Road, London SW9 6DE.

Registered number: 2041612
Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7138 3300 
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7247 0157 
Web: www.workspacegroupplc.co.uk 
Email: info@workspace.co.uk

If you require information  
regarding business space in London 
call +44 (0) 20 7138 3300 or  
visit www.workspace.co.uk. 

Workspace Group PLC  
Property Portfolio 2012

      Net rent roll  
     Lettable  of occupied  
     floor area  units erV
property Name postcode category property uses sq. ft.† £000s £000s
outside London
Clyde House, Maidenhead* SL6 8BR Like for like Business space 29,654  192 253
Harlow Enterprise Centre, Harlow CM20 2HS Like for like Industrial 51,851  328 315
     81,505  520  569 
Wholly owned portfolio as at 31 March 2012    4,992,949  50,197  65,426

      Net rent roll  
     Lettable of occupied  
     floor area units erV
property Name postcode  property uses sq. ft.† £000s £000s
Blackrock Workspace property Trust
Chandelier Building NW10 6RB  Business space 46,174  411 1,064
Charles House UB2 4BD  Industrial 72,097  999 498
Europa Building NW10 6ND  Business space 26,477  257 413
Horton Road UB7 8JD  Industrial 41,402  210 202
Kingsmill Business Park* KT1 3AP  Business space 40,151  345 374
Lloyds Avenue EC3N 3AX  Business space 34,764  680 894
Progress Park CR0 4XD  Industrial 31,002  213 282
Rudolf Place SW8 1RP  Business space 14,708  184 297
Toplin House SW9 6BB  Business space 40,485  485 486
Union Court SW4 6JP  Business space 67,344  625 738
Windmill Place UB2 4NJ  Business space 25,779  266 292
Blackrock Workspace property Trust joint venture totals as at 31 March 2012  440,383  4,676  5,540

* Denotes property held as long leasehold,  
all other properties held as freehold

† Excludes storage area
Property statistics as at 31 March 2012



 What we do     
 Workspace provides 
business premises tailored to 
the needs of new and growing 
companies across London.

 How we do it      
 Workspace is dynamic, 
understands and adapts to the 
changing needs of these companies 
and aims to be the best in class. 

 Where we do it
 Workspace owns over 
100 properties in London providing 
5.4 million square feet of space and 
is home to some 4,000 businesses 
employing over 30,000 people.

OUR BUSINESS 
MODEL

GLOSSARy OF TERMS

BWPT Black Rock Workspace Property Trust, a joint 
venture property fund with the BlackRock UK Property 
Fund in which the Group holds a 20.1% interest.

Cash rent roll is the current net rents receivable for 
occupied units.

Earnings per share (EPS) is the profi t after taxation divided 
by the weighted average number of shares in issue during 
the period.

Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) is the trust 
created by the Group to hold shares pending exercise of 
employee share options.

EPRA NAV is a defi nition of net asset value as set out by 
the European Public Real Estate Association. It represents 
net assets after excluding mark to market adjustments of 
eff ective cash fl ow hedges (fi nancial derivatives) and 
deferred tax relating to revaluation movements, capital 
allowances and derivatives.

Equivalent Yield is a weighted average of the initial yield 
and reversionary yield and represents the return a property 
will produce based upon the timing of the occupancy of 
the property and timing of the income receivable. This is 
approximated by the reversionary yield multiplied by the 
Group trend occupancy of 90%.

Estimated rental value (ERV) or market rental value is the 
Group’s external valuers’ opinion as to the open market 
rent, which on the date of valuation, could reasonably be 
expected to be obtained on a new letting or rent review.

Exceptional items are signifi cant items of income or 
expense that by virtue of their size, incidence or nature 
are shown separately on the Income Statement to enable 
a full understanding of the Group’s fi nancial performance.

Gearing is the Group’s net debt as a percentage of 
net assets.

Gearing on adjusted net assets is the Group’s net debt 
as a percentage of net assets excluding mark to market 
derivative adjustments.

Initial yield is the net rents generated by a property or 
by the portfolio as a whole expressed as a percentage 
of its valuation.

Interest cover is the number of times net interest payable 
is covered by operating profi t.

IPD is the Investment Property Databank Ltd, a company 
that produces an independent benchmark of 
property returns.

IPD Universe is the IPD quarterly universe property fund 
benchmark of approximately 250 (£50b) UK domestic 
property funds.

LIBOR is the British Bankers’ Association London Interbank 
Off er Rate.

Like-for-like are those properties that have been held 
throughout a 12 month period and have not been subject 
to a refurbishment or redevelopment programme in the 
last 24 months.

Loan to value is the current loan balance divided by the 
current value of properties secured on the loan.

Market rental values (see ERV).

Net assets per share (NAV) are net assets divided by the 
number of shares in issue at the period end (excluding 
shares held in the ESOT).

Net bank debt is the amount drawn on bank facilities, 
including overdrafts, less cash deposits.

Net rents are rents excluding any contracted increases 
and after deduction of inclusive service charge revenue.

Occupancy percentage is the area of space let divided 
by the total net lettable area (excluding land used for 
open storage).

Open market value is an opinion of the best price at which 
the sale of an interest in the property would complete 
unconditionally for cash consideration on the date of 
valuation (as determined by the Group’s external valuers).

Profi t/(loss) before tax (PBT) is income less all 
expenditure other than taxation.

Property Income Distribution (PID) a dividend generally 
subject to withholding tax that a UK REIT is required to 
pay from its tax-exempted property rental business and 
which is taxable for UK resident shareholders at their 
marginal tax rate.

REIT is a Real Estate Investment Trust as set out in the 
UK Finance Act 2006 Sections 106 and 107. REITs pay 
no corporation tax on profi ts derived from their property 
rental business.

Rent per sq. ft. is the net rent divided by the 
occupied area.

Rent roll (see cash rent roll).

Reversion/reversionary income is the increase in rent 
estimated by the Group’s external valuers, where the net 
rent is below the current estimated rental value. The 
increases to rent arise on rent reviews, letting of vacant 
space, expiry of rent free periods or rental increase steps.

Reversionary yield is the anticipated yield, which the initial 
yield will rise to once the rent reaches the estimated rental 
value. It is calculated by dividing the ERV by the valuation.

Small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) are those 
businesses with a turnover of less than £1m p.a. or staff  
of less than 50. Most Workspace customers are SME 
businesses with staffi  ng of up to 20.

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) is the return obtained 
by a shareholder calculated by combining both share price 
movements and dividend receipts.

Trading profi t after interest (adjusted) is net rental income, 
joint venture trading income and fi nance income, less 
administrative expenses, less fi nance costs.
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This Report is printed on materials which  
are FSC® certified from well-managed forests.

These materials contain ECF (Elemental  
Chlorine Free) pulp and are 100% Recyclable.

Designed by Carnegie Orr  
(a Workspace Group customer)
+44 (0)20 7610 6140.
www.carnegieorr.com

Workspace Group pLc
Chester House 
Kennington Park
1-3 Brixton Road
London
SW9 6DE

Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7138 3300 
Web: www.workspacegroupplc.co.uk 
Email: info@workspace.co.uk

If you require information regarding 
business space in London call  
+44 (0) 20 7138 3300 or visit 
www.workspace.co.uk.
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